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ITRODUCTION

The topic of the study is related to Russia’s foreign/security policy. As one of the major states Russia has always attracted a great deal of interest and attention especially because Russian policies sometimes looked irrational. Russian behaviour has been covered by works on European history and history of world wars. In these accounts Russia stands out as a special case that never became fully integrated into the Western system and therefore her behaviour differed from this of Western European states. Of course Russia’s unique character too is always stressed in the works dedicated to Russia. Russian policies sometimes look to be influenced by ideological concepts which may have made her behaviour rather unpredictable. 

The goal of this study is to follow Russian behaviour from early 19th century up to the end of the Cold War and see how much the Russian foreign/security policy was/is affected by ideologies and certain geopolitical concepts. Among these there are ideologies that were spread not only in Russia but also in the whole world (e.g. communism). Among these there are concepts that portray Russia as a unique phenomenon which can not become part of any system of values, especially the Western ones. According to these concepts the West poses a huge threat to Russia, to her identity, to the Russian ideas. The West can be divided into irreconcilable enemies and more moderate ones. The irreconcilable ones are the maritime powers (like Great Britain or the US) which are Russia’s natural foes because of their civilization roots and their character.  

These concepts are extremely popular in the modern Russia. They were fully formulated in the beginning of the 20th century and they did not exist before but their roots can be found at some extent in behaviour (or statements) of some Russian statesmen. Our study will try to track any possible influence of the above mentioned concepts or dispositions over the practical policies. Also our study will explore the Russian foreign policy in order to learn to what extent it was inclined to be influenced by ideologies in general. There were not a few ideologies that played important role in forming Russian vision – not only purely Russian (Panslavism, Eurasianism), anti-Western ones but also European concepts aimed to serve common ideas and goals (like those of the Holy Alliance). If the Russian policies are sometimes difficult to understand then maybe it is because they were influenced by some ideologies and concepts. They could be made irrational due to the influence of purely European-wide ideologies (Holly Alliance), purely anti-Western ones (Eurasianism), or one founded on social theories (communism). Ideology can conflict with the common sense and push the statesmen towards making illogical decisions not based on balance of power calculations and realism. Looking for such conflicts that resulted in irrational policy decisions will be the goal of our study. 

As we already have mentioned, we will track the Russian foreign policy beginning from the 19th century up to the end of the Cold War. Of course the study has its restrictions. There are lots of sources than disclose the motives of Russian decision-making from the beginning of 19th century up to the WW1. This is the period when Russia being more or less a part of European system and thus was much more open to the outside world than it was after the Bolshevik revolution. Since the victory of the Bolsheviks it is much more difficult to look deep into the Russian behaviour for finding its motives due to the lack of sources (the big part of archives in the Kremlin are still closed).
Since there is hardly available any comprehensive study dedicated to the influence of ideologies over the foreign policy making in Russia in our literature review we will look at the ideologies and concepts that developed in Russia from the early days of her statehood. We will not look intensely into the European-wide ideologies that may have influenced the Russian behaviour (Holy Alliance and communism) since they are well-known. We will rather focus on the anti-Western ideologies and the geopolitical concepts (developed by both Russian and non-Russian authors) that stress the inherent conflict between Russia and the Western Great Powers (especially ones believed to be maritime ones). These are the ideologies that highlighted Russia’s unique role and character thus alienating her from the Western community. We will look and works of both Russian and non-Russian geopoliticians. Also we will cover various works on Russian history, Russian character and Russian behaviour. 
The main part of the study will be dedicated to the analysis of Russian foreign policy from early 19th century up the end of the Cold War. We will go carefully to the history of this period and look into motivations of Russia in the most crucial and important points of the history – such as alliance-making and going to war. 

THE BACKGROUND, LITERATURE REVIEW AND HYPOTHESIS

As we already mentioned, Russia never became fully integrated into the Western system. She used to be a part of the Concert of Europe. There were times when she acted as “just another European Great Power.” But mostly Russia was a unique and unusual actor. Belonging partly to Europe she had to follow European sets of rules and coordinate her actions with other Great Powers. But in Asia (where Russia mostly belonged to) she was used to act in a unilateral way, simply following its interests – seizing and conquering what it could seize and conquer. Russia often was tempted to act in the same unilateral way in Europe too which made her rather difficult partner for the Western Great Powers. Europeans never gave up hope of turning Russia into a part of system of their values. Even during the Cold War De Gaulle talked about including Russia in the Wider Europe (from the Atlantics to Urals). Up to these days when Russia (after she has regained her confidence due to high oil prices and increased demand for natural gas) behaves much more aggressively when she did in 90-ies, the Old Continent still tries to find ways for engaging “the Bear.” It does not happen simply because of Europe’s dependence on Russian natural gas. It happens first of all because of genuine interest of making Russia more comfortable partner. Russia is too big, too rich and too strong to be ignored; therefore it has to be engaged. But the engagement clearly has its strict limitations – Russia is too big to become simply “just another European state.” 

Indeed the most prominent Russian thinkers never viewed their country as a European one. Being European meant being “like the others,” not being unique. The feeling of being unique fed ambitions of ordinary Russians too. George Kennan argues that Russian rulers were afraid of exposing their people to the better organized West (whereas common Russian people are very friendly and generous by nature) and that’s why the Kremlin viewed the West as an enemy. It may be true to some extent; At the same time we can see that even after being fully exposed to the West (after the collapse of the Soviet Union and heyday of information revolution when it’s hardy possible to keep millions of people in oblivion) Russians have not demonstrated enthusiasm of becoming “like the others.” They still view themselves as different and unique, still think of themselves as “spiritually superior” to the Westerners.

The feeling of exceptionality is complemented by the obvious dislike for Western states. Although the negative attitude varies – the US can be considered as the most disliked Western country, whereas Russians are quite well-disposed towards countries like France and Italy. Negative attitude towards the US can be explained by the sense of enmity stemming from the Cold War. Attitude towards Germany is also rather positive despite the experience of fighting this nation in two World Wars. Overall, the attitude towards continental Europe is not as negative as towards the US but Great Britain is disliked almost as much as the US. Such kind of attitude can not be explained easily. Russia has fought numerous wars with European continental states and it hardly ever clashed on battlefield with Great Britain (the Crimean War is the exclusion but once again during this war Russia fought not only Great Britain but a big European coalition including France). If the Cold War (and especially losing this war) accounts for the rather negative feeling about the US, the same hardly can be applied to Great Britain. Maybe the latter Britain traditionally checked Russian ambitions in Asia (because of fear for India) and tried to keep the Kremlin control out of the Straits. But once again Russia has much more disturbing memories about relations with some other European Great Powers – France and Germany even invaded the country (the former led by Napoleon seized Moscow). In late 1812 when Napoleon’s army was fleeing Russia, Kutuzov advised the Tsar not to follow the French because defeating Napoleon would only strengthen Great Britain. “It would be much better if this goddamn island disappeared altogether,” – he told 
Alexander I who nevertheless decided to finish with Napoleon. Despite the fact that Russia had just had fought with the French her commander-in-chief was still obsessed with a feeling of enmity with Great Britain and that was before the beginning of the Great Game in Asia (which increased the feeling of enmity between London and Saint Petersburg), as well as well before the Crimean war.
Back in 19th century Russia hardly viewed herself as some kind of anti-Western civilization. Russians dealt with the European states, members of Russian royal family married their counterparts from Great Britain or Prussia. Russian diplomats worked for strengthening their country’s position in accordance with European rules of game. They negotiated with their counterparts, participated in peace conferences and built European peace based on balance of power principles. It there were some anti-Western sentiments they were not translated into official policy. Did these anti-Western sentiments have any comprehensive, ideological basis? The answer could be yes. Already in the 30-ies of the 19th century the first Slavianophiles began to emerge. They asserted that Russia was a unique country with unique history and unique way of development and the Western influence could have only negative effects for such kind of country (or civilization). Slavianophiles’ views about the Western civilization were very simplified. Under the term “the West” they engrossed all European states despite their diversity. The notion of the West was simplified and reduced to a very convenient symbol for some phenomena hostile to Russian nature.

Slavianophiles were the first to create some ideological basis for viewing the Western civilization as something alien to Russia’s nature. But they had not translated their ideology into geopolitical terms that would justify Russia’s traditional expansionism. Such kind of ideology had to come later. In 60-ies a group of influential Russian intellectuals developed a new specific theory which was named Panslavism. Panslavism is now partly viewed as some kind of answer to the challenge that Russia faced after the Crimean War. Unifications of Germany and Italy (which followed the war that humiliated Russia) and other crucial political developments took place in Europe without Russia’s participation. To compensate the loss, Panslavism stated, Russia had to establish close ties with all Slavs and orthodox nations and even to engulf then into the Russian empire. Apart from messianic appeal and romantic justification for imperial expansion Panslavism bore some anti-Western sentiments as well. According to it Europe was close to collapse due to corruption, factionalism, pragmatism and materialism. The traditions of the Old Continent would be imminently replaced by Slavic-Orthodox culture. Roman-German rule was to be replaced by Russian rule. The latter presumptions were “borrowed” from prominent German philosopher Hegel. The latter asserted that each nation had to make some contribution to the process of development of mankind (or the way of mankind to self-realization in the Absolute) and thus each period of history was dominated by spiritual influence of some great nation. According to Hegel the era of Roman-French domination was ending and it was a turn of Germans. 

The Russian intellectuals simply replaced Germany by Russia in Hegel’s theory and thus created a theory of their own. They claimed that it was Russia that had to play a prominent role in the development and progress of mankind. This messianic theory bore a close resemblance to other infamous Russian concept about “the third Rome.”

It is no coincidence that it had to be Russia and Germany – the two big nations obsessed with messianic concept and geopolitical models – that brought horrible devastation both to themselves and other nations in 20th century. 

These theories ostensibly did not have any serious influence over Russia’s official policies towards the European states. From the beginning of 19th century up to the Bolshevik revolution Russia acted as a part of the Concert of Europe. After the revolution Russia became alienated and completely hostile to the West because of the communist ideology which replaced religion and (combined with Marxism) literally all social and philosophical concepts. How did communism affect the development of theory first manifested in Slavianophilism and Panslavism? Since the victory of Bolsheviks We have no more Slavianophiles as such, but we have names like Trubetskoy and Savitskyi that emerged in this very period. They were founders of the new concept called Eurasianism, one of the most influential Russian ideologies that flourished in the 20-ies of the 20th century that has been revived in the modern Russia.
Nikolay Trubetskoy is undoubtedly the most influential Eurasian, hailed as “Marx of Eurasianism” by the most prominent modern Eurasian Alexander Dugin. He contributed greatly to the development of concept that went further Slavianophilism in portraying Russia as a unique civilization that was endangered by the hostile West. Eurasians searched for “the true Russia,” her true mission and true place in the world. In their quest Eurasians harshly criticized Russian Tsars and statesmen that reformed the country and brought her closer to the Western standards. 
One of the main targets for the criticism of Eurasians is Peter the Great. He was the one who began to destroy the true Russian spirit by exposing the country to the West. Apart from this general concern, in the Eurasian critique of Peter the Great we can definitely perceive hostile attitude towards Russia as a sea power. Peter the Great was the one who began to build Russian navy, who expanded Russia’s territory towards the seas and who relocated the capital from Moscow to newly build Saint Petersburg. The new capital was closer to Europe and it resembled European capitals. Peter ordered Russian aristocrats to build their residences by the river, they were granted boats and each Sunday they had to demonstrate their navigation skills. 

In the case of Peter the Great Eurasians the sea and the West were in some ways the synonyms for the Eurasians. Since Peter drew Russia closer to sea and to Europe, the Eurasians considered his reforms and his legacy as some kind of tragic mistake despite the fact that Peter’s intention and motivation were to make Russia stronger and more advanced and sophisticated. 

Peter’s legacy was put under question not only by Eurasians. The most famous Slavianophile, Fyodor Dostoyevsky called Saint Petersburg “the invented city” which contrasted from the rest of the country. As for Eurasians, they viewed Saint Petersburg as some kind of artificial phenomena, alien to the Russian nature. They considered Moscow a natural capital of Russia. They admitted that Kiev was the origin of Russia but Kiev at the same time was some kind of a “misunderstanding.” It was located on Eastern periphery of the modern Russian empire and could not serve as a capital but still it existed by itself whereas Saint Petersburg was built by the Tsar who Westernized Russia and turned her into a secular state. Before Peter the Europeans living in Russia were usually inhabited away from Russians (in order to protect them from harmful Western influence) Peter opened doors for foreigners. He himself travelled a lot to Europe for studying secrets of the Western technology and craftsmanship. 

Eurasians went far beyond Peter. They condemned patriarch Nikon who undertook reforms in Russian church in the middle of 17th century and changed forms of Russian religious rituals and bring them closer to rituals of other orthodox churches. Nikon predicted Russia’s domination over orthodox peoples under the auspices of the Russian church. By reforming his church Nikon was simply trying to make Russian rituals more acceptable to other orthodox nations. Big part of Russians reacted fiercely to Nikon’s reforms – some of them committed suicide; some of them ran away and settled out of reach of the state control (they are called Starovers and they live up to these days in Russia). For Eurasians Nikon was the one who “corrupted” purely Russian Orthodox Church by introducing the Western rules. Priest Avakum – Nikon’s contemporary who opposed his plans – was declared a martyr and hero who protected the true Russian values. Avakum had followers. One of them, Semen Denisov wrote a treatise called Russian Vineyard where he pictures Russia as a country ruled by a divine will, the only true Christian nation in a whole world which is dominated by Satan having assumed a form of Catholicism, Protestantism and Western rationalism. But Russians too are being corrupted and depraved by Papal, Latin heresy and Nikon’s reforms. 

But once again it was Peter who initiated the political reforms and inflicted a severe damage on the true Russian interests. In his most famous work The Legacy of Genghis Khan (1926) Trubetskoy condemns two extreme views on Russia’s future. Since Peter the Great any educated Russian is obsessed with two ideas: making Russia a great European power even at the expense of enslavement people and society, or turning Russia into European civilization, engraining European values into Russian people even at the expense of weakening the state power. Trubetskoy brilliantly analyzes reasons of failure of both projects. The conservative one could not be implemented because in order to become a great European power Russia had somehow to resemble Western European states by its internal system and it excluded possibility of dictatorship conservatives could not do without. As for the liberal one, it could not be implemented because democratization of Russia meant unleashing destructive energy of common Russian people who had no culture of freedom and liberty. 

As we see, Trubeteskoy links both failed concepts to Europe. According to him this dilemma is also Peter’s legacy. Without exposing to the West, Russia could never have to face such kind of choice between two “unnatural” ways of development. So what is the natural way development for Russia? What is the natural Russia? For Eurasians the natural Russia was post-Kiev and pre-Saint Petersburg Russia. Once again, Kiev’s Russia was a failed state. The way she fell to the Mongols shows how weak and unstable Kiev’s Russia was. Trubetskoy in The Legacy of Genghis Khan gives the reason of this weakness. Because of its location, Kiev’s Russia’s natural function was the linking of the Black and Baltic Seas, facilitation of trade between them. But the function was not successfully realized since the country occupied a territory only in European part of the modern Russia and did not control neighbouring vast steppes. Due to her geography Kiev’s Russia was vulnerable and it could hardly resist the nomadic tribes. Collapse of Kiev’s Russia was imminent and natural but at the same time it was a blessing in disguise. Russia was overrun by Mongols and thanks to the invasion (and long-lasting Mongol rule) Russia was able to find her true self and her place. Mongolian rule engulfed not only Kiev’s Russia but also the Eastern steppes and eventually (after the end of the Mongolian rule) Russians inherited from Mongols this huge territory they never controlled before. Thanks to Mongols, the true Russia emerged; this Russia was the legacy of Genghis Khan. It reunified the great steppes and although it did not engulf China, Iran and Afghanistan (which also belonged to the Genghis Khan empire), she occupied the nucleus of the empire. 

Are Eurasians in favour of post-Mongol Russia only because it allowed Russians to expand its territories? Ostensibly, it was not only about expansion. By taking control over huge territory Russia found its natural frontiers and could feel more secure. Trubetskoy views Russia’s territory as a sequence of steppes that can be connected only from the East to the West. Usually it is water that serves as a transportation mean. But on territory of the Modern Russia rivers usually flow from the North to South (or vice-versa). So the rivers could connect only a part, some North-South stripe of the Eurasian territory which stretches on a vast land from Eastern coast of Siberia to the stripe connecting the Black Sea and the Baltic Sea. Unlimited transportation through the territory of the modern Russia is possible not by water but by the land. Any country on these vast steppes had to control whole East-West route. By the way, the Mongol Empire was one of the few exclusions – usually all great empires were built in an area where water transportation was available (Roman Empire, Egypt). Mongols had no access to water transportation means but thanks to fast horses they could easily move on Eurasian steppes without topographic barriers. The Mongol empire was an empire built on the land. Russia as Genghis-Khan’s Legacy was also an empire built on the land. For Eurasians it was a land power whereas Peter the Great attempted to turn it into a sea power. Trubetskoy laments that since Peter Russia got obsessed with the plans to get access to the seas. For example, Tsarist Russia’s traditional ambition to seize the Straits seems to Trubetskoy as rather unnatural and alien to true Russia’s interests. Russia is a Eurasian phenomenon, self-sufficient land civilization. The European nations hardly ever were self-sufficient and in order to feed themselves Europeans had to travel by seas and conquer new lands. Russia itself had no such needs. Since Peter up to the Bolshevik revolution Russia played the European games which were incompatible with her nature and the Bolshevik revolution in some way was a logical outcome because the Russian people could not stand anymore the Westernization. . 

So the ideal Russia was the Post-Mongol Russia before the reign of Peter the Great. Of course Eurasians realized that Peter’s reforms made Russia much stronger. Before Peter, Moscow found it very hard to fight Poles and Lithuanians and it did not feel secure on its Southern borders either. Russia was not able to capitalize on its vast natural resources (unsurpassed by any other country in the world), nor to build commercial ties because of lack of access to sea ports. According to Toynbee Peter was the answer to severe challenges that Russia faced
. Peter emerged when Russia suffered from unprecedented pressure exerted by Poland and Sweden. The shock that underwent in 16th century should have produced an adequate reaction and so Peter’s reforms and Westernization were natural outcome. It goes without saying that Post-Peter Russia was much more sophisticated and advanced than its predecessor. In 1830 Russia was number one European power in terms of GNP
. In 1914 she lagged behind only Great Britain and Germany. From 1890 to 1900 Russia’s industrial output more than doubled. So was a weaker Russia more acceptable to Eurasians? What could not they abide strong, rapidly growing Russia? 

We could explain hostile attitude towards the Westernization by a simple attempt to get rid of the dilemma that Russia had faced since getting exposed to the West – the dilemma of Westernizing at the expense of greatness or getting stronger at the expense of alienating from theWest. By denouncing Peter’s legacy Eurasians simply were trying to simplify Russia’s nature. It is true that they did not call Russia simply an Asian power; they called it Eurasian power which at least sounds much more sophisticated than Asian or European. But we its is obvious that the Eurasian Russia is in the first place anti-European, rather than anti-Asian Russia, “not corrupted” by the Western influence, Russia of Starovers. 

In his first landmark work Europe and Mankind (1920) Trubetskoy criticizes the Old Continent for allegedly trying to impose its models and concepts on the rest of the world. Trubetskoy argues that there can not be a single way of development for whole mankind. It is impossible to prove that any civilization is superior to any other one. If Europe calls its culture the culture of mankind it is nothing else but the attempt to reform whole world in accordance with its notions. Europeans try to westernize every nation by what in our days we call “soft power.” If “soft power” does not work than Europeans use sheer force in order to enslave disobedient nation. Romano-German civilization aspires to universality and hegemony. It has an ambition to be the supreme one and considers other races and cultures barbarian and backward. In order to resist these aggressive aspirations and protect their identity other races and cultures have to unify. They had to forge some kind of an anti-Western alliance. But how to fight the West if it possesses more advanced weapons and technology. In order to acquire weapons and technology the other races have to westernize too. The only way to resist the West and not get westernized is to adopt from the West what you find useful but at the same time you should stay very careful in order not to get engulfed by the aggressive Romano-German culture which aspires the world domination. Of course it is very difficult to be in touch with the West and not to get westernized (Trubetskoy the gives “unlucky” example of Japanese). So far nobody could pass this hard test but it happened because every other nation viewed the Romano-German civilization as a superior one. This attitude has to be changed; other races should realize that they are in no way inferior to the Romano-Germans. This is a hard task and all other races have to unify. Panslavism only is not an answer to the Romano-German challenge. 

Trubetskoy’s arguments seem easily understandable. Once again, Russia is too big to become just another European state; Russia aspires to maintain her unique features, and finds unacceptable Western ambitions for universality. Later, in The Legacy of Genghis Khan Trubetskoy fully discloses his fears about the West. According to him if Russia stays in touch with Europe she will always be oppressed. Europe will make her best to exploit Russia’s vast resources but at the same time will always view Russians as barbarians. No matter what kind of political system is there in Russia – Tsarist or communist – if Russia communicates with Europe then she is lost. That’s why she has to find her “true identity” and become a Eurasian civilization.

Russia was the first country where the Marxist utopianism won. Eurasianism also can be viewed as another form of utopian dream. If Marxism was about economic development, Eurasianism is about civilization and cultural identity, although it extended to social development issues too. Another prominent Eurasian Nikolay Alekseev highlighted the concept of “rule of justice” (versus the western rule of law)
. Like Marxism rejected everything that the human kind had achieved through its direct experience (Hayek) and put forward its untested theories as the only true ones, Eurasians created ideology and even social system alternative to Western model. But these “soul-searching” attempts hardly had any impact on Russia’s foreign policy. Concepts of “rule of justice” have never been translated into concrete policies (unless we consider communism one of variations of “rule of justice”) whereas the influence of Eurasian geopolitical concepts easily can be tracked throughout the new history.

Eurasians wrote their works in 20-ies and 30-ies. They were not favoured by the Soviet authorities. But at the same time they openly hailed Bolsheviks because of their deeds – because of reuniting the empire of Genghis Khan under auspices of the Soviet Union. The Eurasians tried to see in Bolshevik policy a realization of their ideology. Bolsheviks relocated the capital back to Moscow. Of course it was done for security reasons (by the end of World War One there was possibility that Germans would invade Saint Petersburg and so the Bolshevik leaders felt much safer in Moscow) but for Eurasians it was something symbolic – a great sign of reviving the post-Mongol empire not corrupted by the Western influence. In 1925 Eurasians began to publish in Paris a newspaper called Eurasia which was openly pro-Bolshevik. Eventually this tendency ended up in a conflict within the Eurasians. Some prominent members left the group and those who stayed became instruments of Moscow’s policy. 

Eurasianism was already a mature geopolitical concept which in fact signalled the emergence of the Russian geopoliticians. They watched closely the development of the Western geopolitical concepts thus trying to identify the way “the enemy was going to crush Russia.” This trend lives up to these days in Russia – the books of Zbigniew Brzezinski who is believed to be the principal author of “anti-Russian geopolitical projects” are instantly translated and published in Russia so that the interested Russian audience gets exposed to the “anti-Russian conspiracies.” Beginning from the end of the 19th century the Russians were getting familiar with works of Freiderich Ratzel, Rudolf Kjellen and other founders of geopolitical concepts. Alfred Thayer Mahan’s famous work The Influence of Sea Power upon History greatly impressed the Russian thinkers since it stressed the importance of controlling the seas and in fact show the future way of development of the American power. But no foreign author influenced Russian geopoliticians like Sir Helford Mackinder. His famous article The Geographical Pivot of History (1904) gave answers to the main questions that obsessed Russian authors since the emergence of Slavianophiles: 1. Why Russia is unique? 2. Why the West is dangerous to Russia? The answer to the question 1 is that Russia controls the main part of the Heartland and so it holds the key position on the world map. The answer to the question 2 is related to the Heartland once again – every foreign Great Power will attempt to seize the Heartland and thus all of foreign Great Powers are potential enemies to Russia. Besides, Mackinder views Heartland as an example of land civilization and in fact he draws difference between land and sea civilizations which are hostile to each other. If the sea powers usually had an advantage thanks to more mobility (since water transportation was traditionally more convenient), now land powers are gaining strength due to development of railway. Russia, which “replaces the Mongol Empire” (one more evidence of Mackinder’s great influence upon the Russian authors) is definitely a land power and it has potential to challenge the sea powers. Russia enjoys the central, pivotal position in Asia and she exerts pressure in different directions. The same strategic position in Europe is enjoyed by Germany. The possible alliance of Germany and Russia can form a world empire (which will no doubt seriously endanger the sea powers).

It can be considered the first case when geopolitical concepts were translated into strategic terms. The two powers enjoying strategic positions should join their forces simply because they are land powers. Mackinder goes further contemplating about possible ways of neutralizing this formidable alliance: France, Italy, Egypt, India and Korea together must check the German-Russian expansion. They can make the axis powers concentrate on land thus securing the seas from German-Russian pressure.

Russia’s possession of the largest part of the Heartland allowed the Russian authors to make far-reaching conclusions. Thanks to her location Russia could play a key role in the world politics. Besides, the Russians regarded Mackinder’s article as some sort of acknowledgement of the decline and fall of the British Empire. The traditional trump-card of the British – the control over seas – was losing its importance and strength. The trend was turning unto Russia’s favour thus making her capable of the greatest designs. 

Mackinder’s article influenced not only Russian authors. Karl Haushofer, a German general, further developed the strategic concepts stemming from the Heartland theory. The Anglo-Saxon (British –American) primacy and the possible means of overcoming this primacy – these topics dominate most of his works. In his landmark work The Continental Bloc Haushofer highlights Russia as a country of unique potential for challenging the Anglo-Saxon primacy. He quotes Lord Palmerston who in 1851 advocated Prime Minister John Russel to maintain close ties with France (however unpleasant it might be) because Russia was the biggest threat to Great Britain. It was said, continues Haushofer, when the Victorian Great Britain flourished and the US having already overcome internal crisis developed “the Anaconda policy.” This is the policy of isolation and blockade traditionally pursued by the sea powers, successfully practiced by Venice and adopted by the British and the Americans. Withstanding the Anaconda policy is extremely hard task. Only strong and big continental alliance can defy the Anglo-Sax primacy. Lord Palmerston was not alone in his warnings – Homer Lea, another British, wrote that the Anglo-Saxon hegemony would be finished the very day when Germany, Russia and Japan joined forces. And of course, there was Mackinder who openly feared the German-Russian alliance and in 1919 (during the Paris Conference) advocated resettlement of Germans from the East Prussia so that Russia and Germany would not have a common border. Mackinder was very suspicious about the Rapallo Treaty too when in 1922 two pariahs of post WW1 world – Soviet Russia and Weimar Republic – agreed to resume diplomatic relations and mutually cancel all debts and claims.

Haushofer lamented that a German-Russian alliance had to remain only a dream. He was looking for signs of German-Russian rapprochement during the WW1 and mentioned the example of prominent Russian statesman Witte who advocated a peace with Germany (to be discussed later). He also wrote what a great danger would Russo-German cooperation in the Far East pose to Great Britain and about the mission of Ito who wanted to forge the Russo-Japanese alliance (the events that took place in late 1890-ies and early 1990-es; we will discuss them bellow). It is obvious that Haushofer overestimated the geopolitics at the expense of balance of power realities as well as Lebensraum concerns (another geopolitical concept) of the Third Reich. Germany had been was afraid of Russia since Frederick the Great (who nearly committed a suicide due to Russian invasion in Prussia) and in some way was viewed as its natural enemy. Besides, Germany believed (especially under Hitler) that the Lebensraum she desperately needed was nowhere else but in Russia. The appeals of the Continental Bloc could not prevent the beginning of German-Russian war in 1941. As for Haushofer’s quoting of Homer Lea, it is worth mentioning that Homer Lea was literally obsessed with the three mentioned states – Russia, Germany and Japan. However, these obsessions hardly stemmed from any geopolitical considerations. Russia, Germany and Japan were simply accelerating their strength when Homer Lea wrote his works (early 1900-ies). Had Homer Lea lived a century earlier no doubt he would write about the French threat (or Franco-Russian threat after the peace of Tilsit) to the British power.

Haushofer is considered a “German Eurasian,” a pro-Russian German author. Russians also have an example of rather pro-German author. This is another general, Aleksey Edrikhin known as A.E. Vandam. It is still unclear why this author chose such a non-Russian pseudonym. The most plausible explanation (which has not been considered so far) could be the following. Being a military and an admirer of Napoleon, Edrikhin could take such pseudonym in honour of this idol who was nicknamed General Vendémiaire in his earlier career. Admiration of Napoleon and of Germany exposes Vandam’s obsession with enmity with Great Britain (and consequently with another sea power – the US). 

Vandam’s major work Our Position (1912) pictures Russia as a country suffering from disadvantageous location despite a huge size. The extremely cold and severe climate Russia puts severe restraints on activities of Russian people. Besides, because of lack of access to warm waters that would serve as a continuation of inner roads, Russians are having problems with the transportation of their products abroad. It creates great obstacles for development of industry and trade. Due to the geographic location the Russian people is doomed for poor, dissatisfactory and secluded existence. The dissatisfaction made Russians strive for “the sun and warm water.” But how can the Russians get to the warm water? From the Western side there is the Baltic Sea, half locked and half owned by Germans. From the Eastern side Russia is bordered by the pieces of the Pacific that are unsuited for sailing. The great northern power in fact has not three but only one outlet to the warm water. This is the Southern route via Caucasus and Central Asia to the Black Sea and to the Gulf. But this aspiration went against the interest of the British – the masters of the seas. That’s why despite brilliant victories on the southern front, Russia’s advance have been halted at the Straits. 

This is some kind of executive summary of this work, given in the first chapter. Vandam in his other works considers absolutely natural territorial expansion of state. “As any normal household can not exist forever on one lot, so no normally growing nation can be content with the territory once occupied by its ancestors and with its growth it will aspire beyond its initial boundaries,” – writes Vandam in his another major work The Greatest of the Arts (1913). Russia’s expansion at the expense of other nations seems absolutely natural to the author (though he is extremely resentful about British colonial expansion). Russia’s wars with Turks or Turkmen for getting access to the Southern seas are legitimate.  

Our Position pictures Russia’s struggles for getting to the warm seas. In the beginning of the 19th century thanks to efforts to outstanding explorers like Shelekhov and Baranov Russia succeeds to gain huge privileges in the Northern part of the Pacific and founded settlements in the Northern part of Americas. But this success scared the Anglo-Saxons who decided to finish with Russia’s favourable position. Russia hardly could resist the Anglo-Saxons since it had no military vessels in the Pacific. Americans soon declared the Monroe Doctrine and Russians were kicked out from the Northern part of Americas. According to the Convention of 1825 they were able to keep only Alaska (later also sold to the US) – only one third of the Russian settlements. The Russians in fact had to withdraw back to Siberia. But even here they were oppressed by the Anglo-Saxons who begin to sail and hunt in the seas neighbouring Russians lands. In 1840 Great Britain seized Hong Kong, in 1842 it made China to open her ports for trade with Europe but Russia deliberately was not included in the list of the European states having free access to Chinese ports. In 1848 Russians were granted a new opportunity for getting to the warm seas. Thanks to discovery that Sakhalin was an island and not a peninsula (as it was believed before) the Amur River made possible to access both the Okhotsk and the Japanese Seas. But before the Russians realized this advantage, Anglo-Saxons reacted and neutralized the Russian threat. Having learned that the Japanese islands could serve as a natural barrier against Russian expansion, Americans in 1852 sent a fleet under command of Matthew Perry and turned Japan into their satellite.

Of course, Vandam’s analysis is flawed. The main target of the Monroe Doctrine definitely was not Russia. The announcement of the Doctrine was preceded by a threat of intervention of the Holly Alliance in the Buenos-Aires Republic (modern Argentina, at that time being Spain’s colony). The British being already suspicious of the Holly Alliance offered the US to join forces for keeping the Continental Europe out of the Western Hemisphere. The Americans not only welcomed the idea but also decided to make it on their own. Of course, the Monroe Doctrine affected Russia’s interests too but much more effect it had on other countries, among them on Spain that eventually lost all of its colonies in the Western Hemisphere. As for the argument that Mathew Perry’s expedition was masterminded in order to block Russia’s new access to the warm seas, it should be mentioned that it was not the American attempt to open Japan to the outside world. Vandam’s works abound with similar examples “proving” that Russia has been locked and blockaded by the Sea Powers (he views Crimean war as a response to discovery of access through the Amur River too). Like most of the Russian geopoliticians he also praises the Mongols who created fundament that served for building of the Russian state. Russians constructed a powerful land state but it was not able to break through the sea blockade. 

Vandam views Napoleon as a statesman simply trying to break the British blockade imposed against France. Wilhelmine Germany’s Weltpolitik was also an attempt to break through the British blockade in order to obtain access to resources necessary for growing German nation. But the most dangerous obstacle to the global hegemony of Anglo-Saxons is the Russian nation. There are 160 millions of Anglo-Saxons and there are 160 millions of Russians. Who else can challenge the supremacy of British and American sea powers? The Anglo-Saxons cover their predatory policies by nice phrases like Monroe Doctrine (which means nothing but Americas for Americans) and balance of powers (which means British supremacy over Europe). Fooled by balance of power considerations Wilhelmine Germany France and Russia were to clash whereas their true rival was Great Britain. In 1812 France and Russia were stupid enough to make the same mistake. After defeating Napoleon on Russia’s soil Alexander did not heed to Kutuzov’s warnings because of his foreign advisers (among them one Englishman) who pushed Russian army towards France. 

If we discard Vandam’s rather biased account of the European history, he can be considered as a rational author. He did not view Russia as a land power. He viewed it as a county located on the land which suffered from disadvantages of lacking access to the warm seas. Vandam thinks in strategic rather than in ideological terms. Great Britain and the US are viewed as enemies because they compete with Russia on the seas. Russia does not necessarily have to protect her positions on the land – it can gain influence on the seas too.

But that does not mean that Vandam defied the concept of ‘Russia - the land power’ altogether. If someone really defied this concept it was Sergei Gorshkov who can be called “a Russian Mahan.” It should be no coincidence that unlike highly ideologised Eurasians and like less ideologized Vandam Gorshkov was a military man – a navy officer who attained a rank of rear admiral at age of 31 and at later became a commander of the Soviet navy. Under his leadership the Soviet navy expanded in numbers and became a formidable force. Never since Peter Russia dedicated that big attention and vast resources to its fleet. But Gorshkov was not only a practitioner. He created a sea power doctrine for Russia. Gorshkov published his pieces in the Soviet naval Digest and finally developed his vision in The Sea Power of the State – a book comparable to The Influence of the Sea Power upon History. Admiral Gorshkov like his American colleague refers to examples from history to prove his point. His favourite Russian Tsar is Peter – the founder of the Russian fleet. All other Tsars did not succeed in building sea power and using the advantages that the control of the seas can offer. They lost their wars on the seas because they did not use understand the importance of the sea power and failed to develop strong navy. 

Of course, the sea power concept needed some ideological support that would make it legitimate (or legal) for the communist rulers. Admiral Gorshkov adroitly used some examples from the history of Bolshevik revolution to prove that the sea power concepts somehow complied with the communist spirit. He stressed that Russian sailors and Russian navy played a great role in the revolution, namely cruiser Aurora bombarded the Winter Palace on November 7, 1917 (date of the Bolshevik revolution) and not only became a symbol of the communist victory but also made the navy the first military service to join the revolution. In his attempts to prove the importance of fleets Gorshkov also refers to Marx. “The geographic environment is one of the many factors that according to Marxism have an influence over development of human society. The world ocean accounts for a bigger part of the geographic environment,” – this is how Gorshkov begins The Sea Power of the State.  The admiral strives to prove that the navy is not just a necessity for a Great Power like the Soviet Union, but that sea power was a part of Russian mentality and that the Russian land power doctrine was nothing else but the concept imposed by "the imperialists" who simply feared of the Russian rivalry on the seas. "The imperialist states" use the sea power themselves: they succeed in protecting themselves and they succeed in enslaving nations that aspire “freedom and communism.” Apart from that the world ocean abounds with immense mineral resources and control of the seas can greatly contribute not only to national security but also to economic interests of any country. Building a sea power was some kind of a manifest destiny for the Soviet Union, argued Gorshkov. 

Gorshkov’s efforts to develop a strong navy for the Soviet Union were reinforced by the events of the Cuban Missile Crisis. The successful blockade of Cuba accomplished by the US convinced the Kremlin that the Soviet Union had to have a stronger fleet. Much more resources were allocated for the development of navy which allowed Gorshkov to fulfil his ideas. He dreamed of turning Russia into a sea power and he somehow succeeded. But we still have to ask one question: did Gorshkov’s concepts help with reconciliation of Russia with the West? Can the rethinking of Russia as a sea power help bring to the end the eternal conflict between the Kremlin and Europe? Or such theories simply serve the goal of making Russia a stronger state that will more effectively withstand “the Western aggression and attempts of encroachment.” 

Gorshkov had to pay a tribute to the communist ideology and naturally his works are of an anti-Western character. They are anti-Western not because the major Western players are the sea powers but because they are capitalist states. Russia should develop a sea power in order to compete with the imperialist world. 

Unlike Vandam Gorshkov had to work under a totalitarian regime. Therefore his works had to be ideologically biased. Without the ideological cover he is a strategic thinker who wants to improve his country’s positions. However since he had to sound as “anti-imperialist” as possible we only have to guess how did he view the West – as a competitor or as an enemy. Did he want a fleet to make Russia more advanced and thus bring it closer to the West (like Peter) or he wanted the fleet to crush the Western enemies and promote Russia’s imperialist ambitions. It not clear either did he make difference between the Western states in terms of sea vs. land dichotomy – did he consider maritime states more hostile than the land ones. Most probably, like Mahan, he wanted to bring home to the political elite of his country the opportunities that the control of the seas could offer. Did Gorshkov fail unlike Mahan? Despite the brilliant job he did Russia is still concentrated on land forces rather on fleet. But at the same time Russia always had and still has to dedicate huge resources to the land forces due to its location. Unlike the US, where Mahan’s ideas flourished, Russia has to care about the protection of her immense boundaries. Maybe it is no coincidence that the fleet under Gorshkov was rebuilt and expanded when Russia was on the peak of its strength and enjoyed access to vast resources not only in Russia but also on territories of its numerous satellites. 

Gorshkov made an impact for the Soviet armed forces but he hardly made any impact on the way Russian statesmen view the outside world. He was not able to do it either since he had to conform the existing communist ideology. The author that we are going to discuss bellow has worked in the post-Soviet Russia, in much more liberated country. This country in 90-ies not only was free of any ideological constraints but also somehow lacked an ideology. After the collapse of the Soviet Union and communist paradigms, Russia had to rethink its place and its mission. The rapid changes and upheaval caused by the attempts to introduce rules and procedures of free market economy and democracy resulted in disappointment with the Western values among many Russians. Having parted with the communist ideology and having failed to adopt democratic procedures during a short period, Russia found itself in ideological vacuum. As a former Great Power with great ambitions this country was always in a need of some concepts that would promote its unique mission and values. There is no wonder that under these circumstances Eurasianism once again found its way to the minds and hearts of not a few Russians. The revived Eurasianism is connected to the name of Alexander Dugin, a Starover who worked as an advisor for chairman of the Duma back in 1998. 
Eurasianism under Dugin became even more anti-Western by its nature than it was under Trubetskoy. In his landmark work The Principles of Geopolitics (1996) Dugin has compiled all anti-Western concepts that have been ever written in Russia and all concepts that highlight a conflict between sea and land civilizations. “Thanks” to Genghis Khan Russia was able to protect itself from the Western influence and Russia has to follow its unique path of development. Russia differs from the West by the characteristics of its civilization, it is “sacred,” deeply spiritual, non-commercialized. Russia is a land civilization which never can live peacefully along maritime civilizations. Interestingly, Dugin began to work on The Principles of Geopolitics already in early 90-ies – when the Cold War had just ended and the majority of Russians cherished hopes in the perspectives of Russia’s democratic development. Dugin summarized in his way the legacy of Russian and non-Western geopoliticians and interpreted their works in not only civilization but also in strategic terms. He wrote not only about the modern Russia, he expresses the perceptions and feelings about Russia-West relations that have accumulated for centuries. Thus, Dugin’s work can be somehow applied to the analysis of Russian behaviour in the past too.
Dugin views all major wars in the world history as conflicts between these two hostile forces. Maritime Athens against Sparta (land civilization); maritime Carthage against the Roman Empire (land civilization); maritime Great Britain and the US against Germany (land civilization) in the two world wars; maritime America against the USSR (land civilization). In the first cases the land civilizations won but in the 20th century the sea powers were victorious. Their greatest success was the victory in the Cold War (which was won by the US through implementing the Anaconda policy in accordance with the recommendations outlined by Mahan). Of course, there are obvious flaws in these arguments and examples. The Roman Empire was not a simple case that can be ascribed strictly to the land civilization category. Romans attained a turning point in the war when they won the battles in the seas. They fought mainly on the land but at the same time they expanded their influence by the seas too (Egypt, Britain). Dugin himself views democracy as a special trait of maritime civilizations and the Roman Empire at least for some period was not ruled by senate. Sparta is more relevant for the land civilization – an oligarchy, famous for military traditions, non-commercial, not inclined to navigation and concentrated on the land. However the Spartan victory in the Peloponnesian war can be questioned since after the end of the war it was immensely weakened and the Pyrrhic victory took the interference of Persia. Dugin admits himself that the examples of the world wars are flawed because the sea powers fought alongside the land civilization (USSR) but these wars were mistakes on both Russian and German behalves. In a Haushoferian spirit he sees no reason of a conflict between these two states among which one is definitely a land civilization and the other is one to a certain extent. So the world wars were disastrous for the land civilizations.
The recent wars between the land and the sea were won by the latter but it should be only a temporary success. For Dugin the West means decline (a concept reinforced by Spengler), the end of everything. Therefore the West will lose eventually. In his another famous work The Philosophy of Politics Dugin’s arguments are becoming mystical – the East is the beginning, the light, the birth while the West is associated with the darkness, the finishing, the exile, etc. The West is about the predominance of machinery over human spirituality. Shortly speaking, the West represents the worst and the most evil among North, South, West, East.
Dugin’s works are not limited to theoretical concepts. He develops applicable projects for Russia. In order to defeat the West and maritime powers Russia has to align with the states that are less oriented on the seas. Dugin offers three projects: Russo-German, Russo-Iranian, Russo-Japanese. As we already mentioned, he views Germany as a rather friendly country (for Russia) by its nature; Germany is land oriented, Great Britain is a pure sea civilization and France is something in between; the latter can act both as a close ally of Great Britain and the US and also as a part of “land-oriented projects” (like de Gaulle’s rapprochement with Germany and Russia). So Dugin offers to realize the dream of Haushofer and the nightmare of Mackinder. Russia can contribute to the Heartland alliance immense natural and human resources and Germany can contribute high tech. Russia is a political giant but a economic dwarf whereas Germany is a political dwarf but an economic giant, so the Russo-German synergy can be very effective. Dugin regards Berlin as a natural capital of Middle Europe. Germany was the country that always fought with Great Britain and it is a natural foe of maritime powers. Nowadays Europe is dominated by the maritime mentality and culture and only Russo-German alliance can bring the Old Continent to its "land roots." The relations with countries located between Russia and Germany should not be bilateral like Russian-Ukrainian or German-Ukrainian, it should be kind of trilateral like Russo-German-Ukrainian. Dugin views rather aggressively the smaller countries located between two "natural allies." According to him these countries emerged only thanks to plans of maritime powers who wanted to create a sanitarian cordon between Russia and Germany. The cordon was supposed to seed conflicts between these two states and that’s why they were not able to become allies (of course Dugin dos not mention the possibility of serving as buffer between two aggressive states, not to say anything about the political will and aspirations of those small nations). Time has come to finish the tragic misunderstandings between the natural partners and form a formidable power that will take control over the Heartland thus ending with maritime predominance and making a step towards the global leadership. 
As for other projects, it is really striking that Dugin chooses Japan for a strategic partner. He tries to prove that despite being an island and despite its obvious orientation on the West (not to mention military cooperation with the US) Japan is a land civilization. Dugin remembers Hiroshima - something which "Japanese will never forget." He also talks about the American-Japanese economic rivalry that may lead to a conflict (he mentions George Friedman’s book Coming War with Japan written in 1992 when anti-Japanese feelings reached a peak in the US). Shortly speaking, Japan is “land oriented” because it is “America’s foe.” The alliance with Japan has the same advantages as the alliance with Germany since Japan can contribute high tech and economic innovations. 
Dugin does not offer a Sino-Russian alliance which looks to be the best possible choice because of various reasons. China hardly can be considered a maritime civilization, besides she can offer Russia much more than Germany, Iran or Japan. He also dismisses the choice of India (that despite the declared policy of non-alignment used too cooperate closely with the USSR) because Indians lack "universal ambitions and aspirations"). This paradox can be explained simply: Dugin wants Russia to be a leading player in any alliance. In case of Sino-Russian or Indian-Russian projects Russia is definitely a weaker one (in a medium term pesrpetive). It will be much more comfortable with smaller partners. Besides, Dugin’s pro-Japanese stance can be explained by the influence of Haushofer. 
Iran is also a smaller partner selected because of the anti-American stance that really distinguishes this country in the region. So there are three partners in three directions – West, East, South. If Russia fulfils all of the three projects then it will reach the world dominance. 
Dugin views the rule of President Putin as a victory of Eurasian ideas. He has also claimed that Putin “could be influenced” by his ideas. Dugin also sees his influence (and it might be true) in the Russian attitude towards the major foreign countries –the according to the most recent polls the attitude towards China, Germany and France is quite positive (as we already mentioned above) whereas the attitude towards the US and Great Britain is negative
. 

Dugin is one of the brightest examples of the rise of geopolitics, and namely Eurasianism, in the modern Russia – a trend which has been observed by foreign authors too. This is the extreme form of the concepts that existed Russia from the 19th century, which definitely affected the way of thinking and may also have affected the official Russian policies, first of all Russian foreign/security policy. 
Our literature review does not go over communism – the official ideology of Russia for some 70 years. But the principles of communism are to well known to need any reassessment. However it is worth mentioning that communism, or rather its Russian version had something common with other Russian concepts – it preached the establishment of a system different from this of the West, some kind of a special system which promised everyone happiness, some kind of unique Russian Vineyard.
As we have mentioned, exploring the possible influence of the ideology over Russian foreign policy is the topic of this paper. As we have seen the anti-Western sentiments were always present in Russia, at least at the grassroots level. In the first half of the 19th century there was no comprehensive ideology that would stress the differences between Russia and Western Europe and portray Russia as a unique culture endangered by the West (on the contrary – the ideas of the Holy Alliance linked Russia stronger to the West). There was no ideology that ranked Russia’s enemies by more hostile sea powers and more friendly land powers. Only from the mid of the 19th century Slavianophilism and Panslavism emerged that stressed the unique character of Russia. As for identifying sea powers as Russia’s main enemies and asserting Russia as a land civilization, it began from the beginning of 20th century by Vandam and the Eurasians and has resumed recently. And of course, there was communism.  We can make an assumption that under Tsardom Russian foreign policy was not affected by ideology as much, or at least Russia did not make any irrational steps despite being influenced by Panslavism (which might exert pressure on the Russian policymakers by the end of the 19th century) because up to the Bolshevik revolution Russia remained a part of the Concert of Europe. From the victory of communism in Russia it might be different – being isolated from the Western democracies Russia played her own game and her behaviour could be irrational because of the influence of communism. The modern Russia, whose policies are hailed as a victory of Eurasian ideas also could be questionable, also can be irrational. By being irrational we will mean an aberration from the policy which is based on balance of power calculations and realism – possibly a policy of bandwagoning, or taking risk for ideological purposes rather than for pragmatic national interests. 
Also, since from the beginning from late 10-ies of 19th century Russia actively promoted the principles of the Holy Alliance we will look into the Russian behaviour to see whether the Holy Alliance influenced balance of power calculations. Of course, the Holy Alliance was no anti-Western phenomena, but still could restrict Russia’s ability for rational calculations, especially that Holy Alliance was buttressed by more conservative states (like Russia, Austria and Prussia), not states like Great Britain (a maritime one). Our study will take it starting point from the period when the Holy Alliance emerged. That was the period when the Concert of Europe emerged too with Russia as one of its active member. 
So we are going to test the influence of any ideology – Holy Alliance, Pan-Slavism, communism, Eurasianism (with its accent on hostility between maritime and land powers) – on Russian foreign policy. We are studying not only cases of possible influence of anti-Western ideologies over foreign policy but of any ideology. We are studying how rational has been the Russian foreign policy since early 1800-ies when Russia has become one of the most prominent actors of world politics.

Our hypothesis is that under Tsardom, being a part of the Concert of Europe (from early 19th century up the Bolshevik revolution) Russian foreign policy was not seriously affected by ideologies and was mainly based on balance of power calculations, but after the Bolshevik revolution the situation changed – the Russian foreign policy was seriously affected by ideologies. 
We will look into this issue by tracking Russian foreign policy from the beginning of the 19th century (that’s when Russia truly became a part of the European system of balance of powers and when the Concert of Europe emerged), especially by exploring the Russian alliances and motives that drew the alliance-makings. The first half of the null hypothesis is that under Tsardom Russia made irrational decisions, so we will have to look for one from early 19th century up to the Bolshevik revolution. If we don not find any, the first half of the null hypothesis will be rejected. The second half of our null hypothesis is that after the Bolshevik revolution Russia did not make any irrational choice driven by some ideology and once again we will try to find one. Shortly speaking, we will try to find traces of ideological influence over foreign policy for the both periods. 
The analysis dedicated to the Russian foreign policy under tsardom will concentrate on possible bandwagoning with land powers against maritime states, also the possible irrational policies stemming out of Panslavism and because of the commitment to the principles and values of the Holly Alliance. The analysis dedicated to the Soviet foreign policy will concentrate on possible bandwagoning with communist states against capitalist ones, also bandwagoning with land powers against maritime states. We will try to find out whether ideologies created some kind of a kinship with specific states that made Russian behaviour irrational and we will look for possible cases of taking a risk for ideological purposes rather than for pragmatic national interests. 
Our analysis will intensify while covering the period from the Crimean war up to the Bolshevik revolution. It was the period when Europe diplomacy entered the peak of complexity and intricacy and Russian foreign policy calculations had to be especially careful and astute. The analysis dedicated to Cold War period will be the least comprehensive since there was the only state capable of challenging Moscow in the bi-polar world and consequently foreign policy calculations of that time were of different nature.

THE HISTORICAL REVIEW OF RUSSIAN FOREIGN POLICY

Part1. Russia under the Tsardom
Peace with Napoleon
We already mentioned that there were times when Russia acted like “just another European state.” The 19th century was definitely such period of time. The Napoleonic wars highlighted Russia’s importance for the Western European Great Powers. Russia fought alongside Austria, Prussia and Great Britain within anti-French coalitions and finally it contributed hugely to the final defeat of Napoleon. During the congress of Vienna Russia already was one of the leading actors and since than up to the Crimean war it could be considered the strongest Great Power on the continent (excluding Great Britain).

Before we look at post-Napoleonic Europe and Russia’s place in the Concert (which came into existence after the congress of Vienna), we have to analyze Russia’s behaviour during Napoleonic wars. We have the example of making peace with the Napoleonic France. In June 1807 after losing a battle at Friedland Tsar Alexander decided to reconcile with Napoleon and thus the peace of Tilsit was struck. We could view this step as bandwagoning, the rapprochement with a predominant and aggressive force. This rapprochement was directed against Great Britain – the sea power – since Russia joined the Continental Blockade. Tsar Alexander was widely condemned for this step. The great Russian poet Alexander Pushkin openly called Tilsit “a shame.” The Russian noblemen hardly could conceal their resentment about making peace with Bonaparte. Alexander received letters hinting on the destiny of his father (Tsar Paul was murdered because of his attempts to ally with Napoleonic France against Great Britain). Russian public opinion definitely was not in favour of rapprochement with France and very soon Russia began to breach the Continental Blockade and to trade with Great Britain. There are not a few evidences that Alexander was not very happy about the Peace of Tilsit too. But according to this peace Russia and France should have divided Europe between themselves, so it could be considered as nothing else but bandwagoning. Russia was getting a free had in the East and France in the West. Prussia was deprived huge territory; encouraged by Napoleon Russia launched a war against Sweden which sided with Great Britain. Sweden lost and had to concede almost all territory of Finland to Russia. Russia definitely gained something from the peace of Tilsit whereas others (Prussia and Sweden) lost.

But following events clearly demonstrate that Russia was not going to benefit further from the peace with Napoleonic France. In September 1808 Napoleon arranged another summit with Tsar Alexander in order to gain his support against the rearming Austria. Bogged in the Spanish guerrilla warfare France would have to fight on two fronts in case Austria declared war. Napoleon wanted Alexander to keep Austrians quiet and he was ready to grant Russia whole Galicia and a part of Carpathia. This offer was tempting and few Russian rulers would resist it. Some 40 years later Russian Ambassador to Austria Meyendorf would tell Stratford Canning, a prominent British diplomat: “Poland as Poles understand it extends to the mouths of Vistula and the Danube and to the Dneper at Smolensk as at Kiev. This Poland forms a bastion into Russia, destroys her political and geographical unity, pushes her back to Asia, sets her back 200 years.”
 (Taylor) This emotional statement once again demonstrates how important it was for Russians to take full control over Poland which would become much easier task had Alexander accepted the French proposal. Later Alexander was harshly criticized by Slavianophiles for losing this opportunity.

Despite such temptations, Alexander decided not to benefit one more time at the expense of his former ally. Napoleon did not get anything that he wanted. Even in return for the mentioned territories he did not receive reliable guarantees that Russia would take serious actions against Austria. It is questionable whether Alexander would be that obstinate had not he received during the summit an unexpected help from Napoleon’s former Foreign Minister Talleyrand (he disclosed to Alexander all the problems Napoleon was experiencing thus allowing the Russian Tsar to strengthen his positions during the talks with the formidable interlocutor). But the very fact that Tsar Alexander jumped to the first opportunity (that was offered to him by Talleyrand) to balance Napoleonic France shows that he did not favour the Tilsit peace and alliance with France in general. Maybe it is true that neither Kutuzov nor Alexander did not like Great Britain (“I hate the English as much as you do,” – told Alexander Napoleon in Tilsit
) but the anti-English feelings did not make Russian foreign policy in any way irrational. Peace with France turned out to be only a temporary measure – soon Russia began to breach Continental Blockade which was followed by the French invasion. The Peace of Tilsit itself was struck only after devastating wars with Napoleon which Russia had to fight alone – Prussian Army was completely destroyed and Austrians had not recovered after disasters of Ulm and Austerlitz. 

Even during Napoleon’s military campaign in Russia (1812) Alexander definitely had an opportunity to make peace with Napoleon when the French army entered Moscow (after Pyrrhic victory at Borodino, being well-aware of further difficulties Napoleon was ready and willing to strike a deal and withdraw from Russia). Through different channels Napoleon approached Alexander and made him understand that he was ready to make a peace at the mildest conditions that a victorious side could offer. But Alexander did not jump up to these offers. In fact he never replied. Obviously he had decided to finish with Napoleon for good despite warnings of Kutuzov that destroying France would significantly strengthen Great Britain. Kutuzov made his best to “keep Napoleon for the English.” He deliberately lingered when Napoleon’s remaining troops were crossing the Berezina River. Had Kutuzov came to the river earlier Napoleon’s Army would suffer much bigger damages than it did. As for Vandam’s arguments that Alexander’s decision to pursue Napoleon was influenced by his Western European aides (with Englishman among them), it has to be admitted that Alexander’s closest circle of advisors was really dominated by the Westerners but if we judge by results, finishing with Napoleon was a great step forward for Russia which soon after the congress of Vienna became one of the leading states on continental Europe. Every country reaches a Great Power status after winning a major war. Russia had a unique opportunity to win war against Napoleon himself. Until the Crimean war Russia was considered the strongest continental power and it took Russia not very long to recover after the Crimean debacle and become one of the major players of the European politics once again. 

Once again, it is impossible to overestimate the importance that Russian rulers attached to Poland and Alexander was in no way exclusion. During the congress of Vienna Poland was his number one priority which who would not give up for anything. He did not give up despite Talleyrand’s appealing to the “principles of legitimacy” – the principles that Talleyrand did not really care about (he promoted these principles during the congress of Vienna simply because it was the best way to protect territorial integrity of pre-Napoleonic France) but which were very close to Alexander’s heart. It was the Russian Tsar who soon proposed to replace existing rules of international relations by principles of “eternal religion of our Saviour” – the proposal that thanks to Metternich was translated into practice through the establishment of the Holy Alliance, a protector of legitimate monarchs that represented the Saviour on the earth.
The Holy Alliance
The Holy Alliance definitely influenced Russian foreign policy for many decades. Until the death of Alexander in 1825 Russia backed the Alliance but not without certain reservations. From the beginning, Alexander demonstrated a great enthusiasm despite the fact that he did not trust the principal architect of the Alliance, Metternich, because of the covert anti-Russian alliance forged by Metternich
, Talleyrand and Castlereagh during the congress of Vienna. In 1818 during the first congress of the alliance Alexander even proposed to upgrade the Alliance to some kind of a high monarchical authority that would gather periodically for discussing ongoing issues. The idea was not supported by the British and Alexander became rather disappointed about the Alliance and also suspicious about its goals. Alexander’s suspicions were strengthened by the Greek insurgence against Turkey – the fight of the Orthodox Christians against Muslims could serve as a legitimate pretext for intervening in the domestic affairs of the Ottoman empire, strengthen its positions on the Balkans populated by other Orthodox Christians and trigger the further dismemberment of the Ottoman empire which eventually would grant Russia the control over the Straits. Who could stop Russians if they chose to assist the Greeks? France was rather isolated after the Congress of Vienna and her active involvement in the continental affairs would no doubt raise the memories about Napoleonic wars and alarm Europeans. Austria was afraid of her domestic separatist trends and she desperately needed Russia as a Holy Ally against revolutions. Prussia was the weakest of the Great Powers. As for Great Britain, it traditionally could act on the land (especially against a formidable state like Russia) only in an alliance with some continental power. As the Crimean war demonstrated later, such power could be only France. Most of the European intellectuals (George Byron among them) supported the Greek insurgents and openly condemned the “beastly Turks,” so the intervention in the Greek affairs would look as a step aimed at protection of the best interests of humanity. 

Alexander’s hesitancy was manifested by paradoxical situation in the Russian foreign ministry which was headed by two individuals – Nesselrode backing the Holy Alliance and Count Capodistria, who being a Greek urged Alexander to assist his compatriots. But finally Alexander decided to stay loyal to the Holy Alliance’s principles. In October 1820 he arrived in Troppau for attending the next congress of the Alliance that discussed the question of the revolution in Naples. Metternich desperately needed a support for intervening in Naples and since both Great Britain and France boycotted the congress it was Russia that had to come to Vienna’s assistance. Metternich was lucky because when Alexander was on his way to Troppau a minor unrest took place in a regiment based in Saint Petersburg. The news reached Metternich earlier than Alexander and the Austrian Chancellor made his best to portray the Saint Petersburg events as the beginning of revolution in Russia and made Alexander to reaffirm his adherence to the Holy Alliance principles and drop plans for assisting Greece (thanks to Metternich’s efforts the British also notified Alexander that they opposed any intervention in the Greek affairs). His decision also finished with diarchy on the Russian government – only Nesselrode was left in charge of foreign policy.

We have three reasons that made Alexander decide not to intervene in Greek affairs: his own fears of revolution in Russia exaggerated by Metternich; the British pressure; the third reason could be the simple fact that the Holy Alliance would not have been established without Alexander and the Tsar did not dare to go so openly against his own principles. However, it later turned out that Alexander could easily snub the third reason and go against the Holy Alliance if it could make serve Russia’s interests. In 1822 the successor of Castlereagh George Canning decided to change drastically the European policy of Great Britain - in the first place to limit the scope of action of the Holy Alliance as much as possible. Apart from blocking the effort of intervention in the South America for suppressing the revolution in the Buenos-Aires Republic Canning recognized the Greek insurgents as one of the combatant sides thus announcing the Greek riot legitimate. This move no doubt alarmed Metternich but as for Alexander he drew his attention back to Greece. Alexander and Nesselrode drafted a plan giving the Greek provinces autonomy under control of European Great Powers with the Turkish Sultan remaining the formal highest authority of Greeks. No matter how complicated and obscure the plan was, it openly demonstrated the Tsar’s intention to ignore all ideological considerations in favour of political gains. Much more importantly, Alexander’s hesitancy ended when Great Britain changed their attitude towards the Greek affairs. So the fear of the Russian revolution was not the main reason for non-interference in the Greek affairs. It was Great Britain’s negative attitude or rather it was Alexander’s fear of isolation. Maybe Russia could afford intervention in the Greek affairs but in this case it would not be supported by any other Great Power. Russia would have to act alone and nobody knows how it could have ended. Alexander adhered not to the principles of Holy Alliance but to the principles of the Concert of Europe. As soon as the Tsar found an ally in the form of Great Britain, he changed the attitude towards the Green uprising since he would not have to act alone anymore. Canning and Alexander established close ties and both sides appeared to be ready for acting together for solving the Turkish affairs but Alexander soon died under mysterious circumstances.

The Russian foreign policy under Alexander can be considered balanced and rational, not influenced seriously by any ideological constraints despite the famous “eternal religion of our Saviour” proposal. It is obvious that Alexander never chose to oppose Great Britain through an alliance with some continental ally and he played the rules of the Concert of Europe. The famous religious statements could be explained by Alexander’s strange and rather erratic character. But this character never had a decisive influence over Russia’s foreign policy which remained extremely reasonable and served Russia’s national interests as these interests could be defined by the 19th century realities. 

Alexander’s successor Nicholas I was the staunchest opponent of the Revolutions. This was the man who in 1830 played with the idea of intervention in France and even dispatched two of his aides to Vienna and Berlin in order to enact the Holy Alliance against the revolutionary Paris. In 1848 informed about the new revolution in France Nicholas shouted at his Guard officers: “Saddle your horses, gentlemen! We have a republic in France.”
 Like his brother (Alexander) Nicholas possessed some peculiarities (though maybe on greater scale) but once again these peculiarities did not have decisive influence over Russian foreign policy. As we will see bellow even the utmost obsession with the threat of revolutions and liberalism hardly ever made Nicholas forget about Russia’s national interests.

These interests were keeping a control over Poland and obtaining a control over the Straits. Nicholas had a reason to believe that he had a unique opportunity for solving the top issue of Russia’s national security agenda: closing the Straits for hostile fleets and thus protecting Russia’s most vulnerable flank – Southern Ukraine. 

Getting through to the Straits meant fighting against the Ottoman empire, fighting the legitimate Turkish Sultan and thus violating the principles of the Holy Alliance. Despite the death of Canning in 1827 Great Britain was not going to protect the Turks and much to Metternich’s resentment Nicholas in fact was given a free hand against the Ottoman empire. Great Britain had certain interests in pushing Russia in war against the Ottoman empire – Russia would give freedom to Greece. Russia herself was fighting for territorial rewards which it did receive according to the treaty of Adrianople (1829). The two of Great Powers acted in coordination and there was absolutely no sign of any irrational behaviour on behalf of Russian side. 

From here we must head into one of the landmark points of Russian history – the Crimean war. From the Congress of Vienna up to the First World War this is the only case when one of the European Great Powers fought other counterparts. This fact once again highlights Russia’s unique position and place in the European history consequently confirming that Russia never was just another European state. 

The Crimean War. The Reasons and Aftermath
We can track the sources of Crimean war back from the Unkiar Skelessi treaty of 1833. The treaty gave Russia exclusive rights in the Straits – Turks were obliged in case of war between Russia and other state not to allow any vessels hostile to Russia pass the Straits whereas Russia was admitted to the Bosporus in any case. Besides, the sides would help each other in case of internal disorder (in simpler words Russia would invade the Ottoman empire if the latter came under any tangible threat). The treaty definitely alarmed Great Britain or at least it alarmed English Foreign Secretary Palmerston (portrayed by Vandam as Russia’s major foe). Russia was definitely stronger than the Ottoman empire and without interference it would easily overrun Turks. The Russians were already encroaching on Iran too and so at some point their next target could be India herself. Actually from the beginning Palmerston hardly could be considered anti-Russian. It was Russia’s games in the Near East and the Central Asia (the Great Game was already beginning) that made him jealous about Saint Petersburg.
 
But despite the Unkiar Skelessi treaty Russia still remained a part of the Concert of Europe.  Nicholas realized that Russia had no chances of seizing Constantinople and the Straits if it did not act in coordination with some other European Great Power. There were a few major players in Europe whose support was necessary for seizing the Straits. Nicholas decided that these players were Austria and Great Britain, in the first place Great Britain. The first probe was made in 1833 during the meeting of Russian, Prussian and Austrian monarchs that took place in Munchengratz. The goal of the meeting was demonstration of the tense ties among Saint Petersburg, Vienna and Berlin (frequently referred to as the three Northern Courts) which traditionally served as pillars of the Holy Alliance. Thus this meeting served the interests of Austria in the first place because it was the multi-ethnic Austrian empire that was most seriously endangered by possible nationalistic revolutions. Nicholas believed that since the Austrians needed Russia they would not oppose his expansionist policies in the Near East. According to Metternich, during a lunch the Tsar asked him what he (Metternich) thought about the Turks. Metternich pretended to be deaf and when Nicholas repeated his question, the Austrian gave an evasive answer making the Tsar understand that he was not inclined to discuss this subject, especially as Nicholas used to put it (the Tsar called Turkey “the sick man of Europe”). The Tsar had to understand that Austria would oppose any Russian plans for encroachment of the Ottoman empire (actually in Munchengratz Russia and Austria agreed to maintain status quo in Turkey). The Crimean war later made clear that Austria viewed such encroachment as a serious threat to her security because of concerns about navigation on Danube. But Nicholas was tended to dismiss the Austrian factor because this country was dwarfed by Russian power. In 1846 Nicholas mentioned to some Danish diplomat that there used to be three of (the pillars of the Holy Alliance) but only one and half were left since for him Prussia did not count at all and Austria counted only by half. In 1849 Russia suppressed the Hungarian uprising thus saving the Austrian empire. It further hardened Nicholas’ belief that Austria was too dependent on Russia to oppose any of his plans. At the same time one might question how reasonable it was for the Russian to save the Austrian empire by crushing the Hungarian revolution. It was Austria that could serve as a bulwark against Russian expansion. But Nicholas hoped for some reciprocity (which did not follow eventually) which is a common blunder for the statesmen. Shortly speaking, crushing the Hungarian revolution can be considered a deviation from rational policy but at the same time we should not forget that the Tsar was afraid of revolutions in his country too. 
As we already mentioned, Prussia really could not count for Nicholas, especially after 1850 when the Tsar openly intervened in the German affairs and made Berlin to sign the agreement of Olomouc, one of the most disastrous losses that Prussia ever had suffered. Nicholas was not alone in downgrading Prussian abilities; since the military defeat of Jena (in 1806) and diplomatic loss at the Congress of Vienna Prussia was considered to be some kind of a minor Great Power of Europe. It took Bismarck’s wars to prove the sceptics wrong. 

But of course there was a “major Great Power” in the form of France. Did Nicholas underestimate her abilities or he simply was trying to find another partner in the form of Great Britain? The truth is somewhere in between. The relations between Paris and Saint Petersburg were deteriorated first due to Nicholas’ attempts to enact the Holy Alliance against France in 1830, then shortly in 1831 due to the Polish insurgence against Russian rule (Paris traditionally raised its voice for protecting Poland) and also the Belgian question. The Belgian revolution (1830-31) irritated Nicholas but he could not find allies for launching a military operation against the insurgents. As for Paris she would not mind to see Belgium a part of France but such perspective would not be tolerated by Great Britain. Talleyrand who served now as French Ambassador to London understood that any attempts of seizing Belgium would be fruitless and dangerous and that supporting Belgium’s independence was the best policy France could undertake. Louis Philippe, the king of France, proposed his son for the new Belgian throne but Palmerston made the king believe that Nicholas would oppose harshly the French candidate for the Belgian throne. Talleyrand pretended to believe this version (which could turn out to be true if tested) thus dismissing all French pretensions for Belgium. In 1832 Nicholas urged the King of Holland not to cede Antwerp (still being under the Dutch authority) but Talleyrand quickly struck a deal with Palmerston and the French army took under siege Antwerp while the English fleet blockaded it from the sea. The Holy Alliance was defeated and humiliated. Nicholas could be unhappy both about France and Great Britain – the liberal states not participating in Holy Alliance’s crusades – but it was the revolutionary France that angered him most. 

There were other reasons that made Nicholas chose Great Britain as partner for his Turkish policy. The turbulence in the Ottoman empire, and especially the insurgence of Egyptian pasha against the Sultan’s rule (1832) let Russia strengthen her positions in the Near East – the Unkiar Skelessi treaty was struck due to Russian military assistance to the Sultan against the Egyptians. As we already mentioned the treaty alarmed Great Britain and Palmerston proposed to gather a special conference on London which would discuss the Near East question. The conference was no doubt supposed to finish with the bilateral character of Russo-Turkish relations and engage all European Great Powers in protection of the Ottoman empire (thus expand the Unkiar Skelessi treaty by including there other major players). But at that point it was becoming clear that France was eyeing Syria and Egypt. The French aggrandizement in the Near East definitely was not neither in Russia's interests nor in Great Britain's interests. For Russia it meant the emergence of another Great Power in the neighbourhood of the Straits. For Great Britain it meant a serious competitor in the Mediterranean. Palmerston, being the author of the famous dictum about Great Britain’s permanent interests, decided to side with Saint Petersburg, Vienna and Berlin. In 1840 the four states gathered in London but instead of expanding the Unkiar Skelessi treaty, they signed the agreement directed against the Egyptian pasha. The agreement was struck behind the back of France which was supporting Egypt against the Sultan. Nicholas had several reasons to be happy about the agreement – it not only drove the English attention from the straits but also finished with the Anglo-French rapprochement masterminded by Talleyrand in 30-ies. However, Nicholas was not able to maintain the status-quo in the Straits for long. In 1841 the Unkiar Skelessi treaty expired. Palmerston already having isolated France could afford now to concentrate on the Straits. The new treaty regulating the movement in the Straits involved all European Great Powers including France which by that time had decided to drop its support for the Egyptian pasha. According to the new Straits convention the Straits were closed for all warships despite their belonging and in case of war Turkey would decide whose warships would be allowed into the Straits.
Palmerston’s adroit diplomacy served as an additional proof of the British supremacy. By that time Russia was considered the strongest continental power and some European diplomats even compared Nicholas to Napoleon but even Napoleon could not deal with Great Britain and Nicholas never would make the same mistake – opposing the strongest of the Great Powers. It took Great Britain’s blessing to seize the Straits. Austria and Prussia did not count anymore. France could be neglected – Nicholas hardly could hide his distaste for the revolutionary Louis Philippe and was glad to any small sign of Anglo-French rift. Due to his antipathy finally be became to overestimate the Anglo-French disagreement and made himself to believe that the Near East could be divided between the strongest continental power (Russia) and the strongest maritime power (Great Britain). London would be glad to strike such deal since it would further isolate and weaken France – Great Britain’s major foe.  

In 1844 Nicholas made Great Britain an offer that in fact implied a plan for partition of Turkey. The Tsar anticipated “the death of the sick man of Europe.” The sick man could not be cured and so preparations had to be made in order to avoid grave repercussions that the demise of a great empire could cause in the whole region. “I am afraid only of France,”
 – Nicholas once again underlined the “French threat” before the British statesmen who listened carefully to the strongest ruler of the continent. These statesmen were Foreign Secretary Aberdeen and Prime Minister Peel who could be considered less anti-Russian then Palmerston. Peel hinted that in case of the death of Turkey Great Britain would be interested in Egypt. Nicholas could not be happier because the French also had strong interests in Egypt which meant that London and Paris would be at odds. But Nicholas never could get written agreement from Aberdeen and Peel over future partition of Turkey. The Tsar sometimes demonstrated terrible ignorance in international affairs; for instance, once he frankly offered the Turkish Sultan to convert to Christianity. But this escapade of the Tsar did not harm Russia as his illusions about the British were to harm her. Chancellor Nesselrode understood well that “it was in principle of British policy never to take engagements for more or less uncertain future”
 but Nicholas hardly could accept it. His attempts to divide Turkey between only two of Great Powers meant that the Tsar also wrongly interpreted the principles of the Concert of Europe – a typically Russian blunder. In 1846 Palmerston was back in power and there could be no more talks about partition of Turkey with British. However Nicholas decided to talk on this matter to Metternich and told him that Russia would not cede Constantinople in case of collapse of Turkey. Of course it was a threat rather than offer of partition – as we know, Austria hardy counted for Nicholas anymore.

In 1849 Nicholas ordered Nesselrode to demand (in extremely harsh and imperative forms) from the Turkish government the extradition of four Poles that participated in the uprising of 1830-31 and then served in revolutionary Hungarian army. Stratford Canning, a British envoy serving in Constantinople, advised the Sultan to reject Russian ultimatum. In parallel the British squadron moved closer to the Straits and through diplomatic channels it was brought home to Russians that pressure on Turkey had to be ceased. Once again Great Britain proved to be the power that “counted.” If Nicholas wanted to seize the Straits he had to have permission from the British. In 1853 the Tsar finally decided to solve issue and talked to Hamilton Seymour, the British Ambassador. Now Nicholas was being much more assertive than in 1844. He told the Ambassador he would not allow Great Britain capture Constantinople. At the same time he did not exclude that Russia would have to capture Constantinople “temporarily.” What Russia wanted for good was Bessarabia, Walachia and Bulgaria. As for Great Britain, it could take not only Egypt but also Crete. Nicholas asked Seymour to urge his government to react quickly and decisively to this offer. As it turned out, Nicholas considered another plan too in which he proposed Crete to France. But no matter what kind of plans he had, Great Britain rejected his proposals. 

However it was not Great Britain but France that provoked Russia to disastrous war. But before we get to the outbreak of the Crimean War, Russian attitude towards the revolutionary France has to be explored. Nicholas head reasons to be suspicious of Luis Napoleon and had reasons to be content with him too. The Tsar triumphed when in December 1851 Luis Napoleon destroyed the republican constitution but when a Bonaparte decided to crown himself as an emperor, suspicions and grievances prevailed. At the same time Nicholas still was devoted to strategy of solidarity against France. In 1852, only in three years after the coup d’etat the independence of Belgium seemed to be threatened; the French press played with the idea of customs union (or maybe even political union) with Belgium. Nicholas decided to grab an opportunity and offered Great Britain a military help for protection of Belgium’s independence. But Great Britain was not driven into anti-French projects even when a little later the three Northern Courts proposed to demand from Luis Napoleon guarantees of his peaceful intentions. Russo-French relations came under serious danger when the Russian Ambassador on behalf of the Tsar greeted newly crowned emperor Napoleon III as “friend” (instead of greeting him as “brother” as other monarchs did). However, Luis Napoleon was too intelligent to quarrel with Russia for personal reasons (“God gives us our brothers, we choose our friends,” – he got off lightly with this remark
). Giving greetings to the new emperor of France was a serious test of solidarity for the three Northern Courts and the test was failed. Nicholas had reasons to feel betrayed by Vienna and Berlin (they assured Nicholas they would greet Louis Napoleon as “friend” too). Now another, much more test was in sight, provoked once again by France. Louis Napoleon had decided to end with status quo of 1815 and restore France’s supremacy on the continent. 

One only have to guess what could happen if France did not evoke the dispute over the Holy Places – an issue that was forgotten due to cagey policy of Turks (they assured both Catholic and Orthodox churches that they were protectors of the Holy Places). When France demanded to make things clear Turkey gave away. Of course Russia would react violently to the emergence of any Great Power in Turkey and the emergence of France in the first place since the protectorate over the Holy Places could serve as a good pretext for intervening in domestic affairs of Turkey (and Russia wanted this privilege for herself). Nicholas could never get rid of the suspicions about the revolutionary country. He tended to view his struggle with France as a struggle between conservatism and revolution. France not only evoked the dispute over the Holy Places but also sent her battleship (actually it was the battleship that made Turks recognize the Catholic protectorate over the Holy Places) to the Straits thus really challenging Russian influence in Constantinople. Something had to be done to bring home to the Turks that Russia counted more than France. This was one of the primary tasks of Prince Menshikov’s mission to Constantinople. But he only had to undo the French victory over the Holy Places; he also had to make Russia a protector of the Orthodox people of Turkey. Great Britain watched these developments from the beginning rather calmly and did not made any “anti-Russian” moves whereas France considered them. Initially Paris was cautious being afraid of stirring up   European suspicions about France. Indeed, when Louis Napoleon at some point lost his patience and moved his fleet to Salamis, the British immediately made Paris know they were not happy with such developments. But soon the British disposition was changed too. Clarendon, became the Foreign Secretary and Stratford-Canning (already having become Lord Stratford de Redcliffe) re-emerged in Constantinople with a new mission. Here begins the controversial story about an anti-Russian conspiracy masterminded by Stratford de Redcliffe. There not a few pros as well as cons for this legend. According to Tarle Stratford de Redcliffe deliberately changed the text of the Russo-Turkish agreement proposed by Menshikov
. The changes made the text much more assertive than it really was. Of course this altered text did not trigger the war but the Soviet historians quite rightfully claim that Stratford de Redcliffe played a an important role in provoking Great Britain to war by making the Sultan reject the Vienna note of August 1853 that was supposed to reconcile Russia and Turkey and also exaggerating Turkish resentment over Nesselrode’s interpretation of Vienna note as a Russian victory.

It is hard to prove Stratford de Redcliffe’s “innocence”. He may have somehow distorted the text of the draft agreement. But at the time we know that Stratford de Redcliffe made his best to delay the moving of British fleet to the Straits when both Paris and London became irritated with Nesselrode’s violent interpretation of the note. Stratford de Redcliffe did not have to exaggerate the Turkish resentment since Nesselrode’s remarks annoyed everyone.

But no matter what were Stratford de Redcliffe’s intentions, even the Soviet historians agree that the British cabinet headed by Aberdeen did not desire to go to war. That’s why, they claim, Stratford de Redcliffe had to fabricate documents and exaggerate the Turkish reaction. Clarendon is also accused for the anti-Russian conspiracy – he is supposed to be strongly influenced by openly anti-Russian Palmerston. Shortly speaking, the Soviet historians may accuse Stratford de Redcliffe for plotting an anti-Russian conspiracy but they don’t accuse Great Britain as such. 

Finally it was France that made a decisive move. At some point things seemed to calm down. Thanks to the Turkish impatience Russians were able to regain sympathy among Europeans. It happened in early October 1853 when Turkey declared war on Russia. Stratford de Redcliffe once again tried to persuade the Sultan not to open hostilities, but encouraged by appearance of the allied (Anglo-French) fleet in the Straits the Turks crossed Danube and killed some Russians that had already occupied Bessarabia and Walachia. Despite Menshikov’s assertive demands, Nesselrode’s short-sighted remarks and Nicholas’ failed attempts to use Vienna and Berlin for peace-making, Turks began to look as aggressors. But Russia was impatient too – on November 30 she destroyed a squadron of the Turkish fleet at Sinope. Russians momentarily squandered the sympathies they enjoyed in Great Britain but despite that the British cabinet still hesitated. Great Britain decided to act only when Louis Napoleon made cleat that he was going to act (alone if necessary). 

Russians could not blame Great Britain for the outbreak of the Crimean war. If they could blame any other country except themselves, it was Louis Napoleon’s France. The possible Stratford conspiracy clearly is not enough to accuse Great Britain. 
So it was the revolutionary France, potentially the major foe of the Holy Alliance, which caused the Crimean debacle. France was estranged by the Tsar’s contemptuous attitude towards her. One can assume that had not Nicholas been that selective towards his partners the Crimean war could not take place at all. So to some extent it was an irrational behaviour on behalf of the Tsar – because of the ideological constraints he made a mistake in his calculations. But the mistake was made simply because Nicholas underestimated France – he believed that the country that underwent so many revolutions and upheavals could not be strong enough to play a serious role in European politics and Louis-Napoleon’s regime was rather fragile (Nicholas turned out to be right in the long-run). When it became clear that France “counted”, the Tsar made his best to reconcile with her. From the beginning of 1854 we can trace Russian attempts to negotiate with Paris and avoid the disastrous war. When the British and French Ambassadors were leaving Russia it was the French one whom Nicholas honoured with the Star of Alexander Nevsky – one of the most honourable medals. Russian Ambassadors to Great Britain and France on their behalf were leaving London and Paris respectively. It was the Ambassador to France Kiselev who asked for the audience with Louis Napoleon and talked to him about the fatal mistake France was making a big mistake by going to war against Russia. Kiselev hinted that France could easily get involved in war with Great Britain in that case France would have to rely on the Russian fleet that was to be destroyed now by the Anglo-French one. 
Kiselev’s talk with Louis Napoleon (February, 1854) was concurred by the letter written by Count Orlov, the principal architect of the Unkiar Skelessi treaty. Orlov was sent to Vienna in another attempt to use the Austrians for mediation with London and Paris. The mission failed first of all because of the Tsar’s unwillingness to make serious concessions (like not crossing Danube). Orlov, a talented diplomat, was unable to make any breakthrough with Vienna who was afraid of Russia’s presence on Danube and wanted to make the best of the existing circumstances for getting rid of the dangerous neighbourhood. At the same time Vienna was afraid of provoking the French action in Italy (and Louis Napoleon did nothing to dismiss these fears). Before leaving Vienna Orlov wrote to Saint Petersburg a letter by which he recommended Nicholas to try to seek the French friendship and give up the hopes about the Holy Alliance partners who were too afraid to do anything for Russia. 
Russia hardly made any serious attempt to make peace with Great Britain whereas the above given examples tell us something about the Russo-French affiliation that was coming to the light. The Tsar, Ambassador to France and a an envoy sent for a special mission to Vienna – all of them made pro-French moves despite the ideological antagonism that existed between Saint Petersburg and Paris. What reasons could the Russians have to seek the French friendship when the war broke out? It was no one else but the French emperor who provoked Russia into the Crimean debacle. The Russians could have been impressed by the Louis Napoleon’s famous letter that appeared in the French press on 29 January 29, 1854. The emperor appealed to Nicholas’ common sense and urged him to withdraw from Bessarabia and Walachia (that would be followed by the withdrawal of the allied fleet from the Black Sea). The three above mentioned pro-French moves took place after the letter. However, on February 9 the Tsar rejected the terms outlined in the Louis Napoleon letter by answering that “Russia would be in 1854 what she had been in 1812”
 (hinting on Napoleon’s failed invasion). Nicholas presumably could not tolerate public lecturing (the letter) from the French parvenu and replied almost in humiliating terms.  Maybe the French letter could serve as an opportunity for forging friendship with French but eventually it made Tsar abandon peacemaking attempts and show Russia’s enemies “who was in charge.” Nicholas was definitely losing a touch with the reality. The Russian statesmen who bowed before the monarch practiced wishful thinking and the Tsar hardly could be aware of Russia’s true capabilities. Most of the Ambassadors (including Kiselev) being afraid of telling the truth to Nicholas portrayed all European Great Powers as friendly towards (or even afraid of) Russia. So did military commanders who pictured Russia capable of overwhelming any foe.  After defeating Napoleon Russia truly had turned into a formidable continental player and the European states really could be afraid of her. The beginning of the Crimean war shattered the myth of Russia’s might but before of its outbreak hardly anyone could expect that “the Gendarme of Europe” would suffer such a bitter defeat. It was the biggest surprise to Nicholas himself.
So the Russians could have appreciated an opportunity of making peace with France and they made some delicate conciliatory steps. But Nicholas cherishing hopes in Russia’s might did not want give up in public war for prestige that was triggered in the press by Louis Napoleon. The pro-French moves were made simply reciprocal moves. Paris had to know that Russia was ready for negotiations but at the same time Paris had to know that Russia could not be scared easily (especially publicly). Nicholas apparently hoped that faced by Russian fierce resistance the Crimean coalition would break up soon and at that precise moment Paris and Saint Petersburg would make a peace. So the Tsar publicly rejected the French proposal but he should have been ready to negotiate with France at any convenient moment. Russia wanted to split up the Crimean coalition. In this regard she relied on Austria and Prussia in the first place not just because that those two were the Holly Alliance partners or because Russia had saved the Austrian empire from the Hungarian insurgency – those two Great Powers were located closer to Russia than France (not to mention Great Britain) and for them war of Russia with the Western states was much more dangerous than for France. Austria and Prussia were the first ones in the list of Great Powers that Saint Petersburg tried to involve in the peace-making. But these Great Powers simply were too weak to negotiate a peace between Russia and Anglo-French coalition. Orlov understood it and he proposed his Tsar to grab the French opportunity. Why did not the Russians try to make a peace with Great Britain? After all, since having planned to seize the Straits Nicholas sought British consent, not French. But first of all the British did not propose any peace initiative and besides Russians were aware that if unlike with Austria and Prussia the French national security was not as much threatened by the upcoming war, then the British national security was not threatened at all. Great Britain was the last on the list of the Great Powers interested in peace because of fears for their security.

The account of the Crimean war is haunted by the shadow of Palmerston. When the war broke out he served as Home Secretary but some historians claim that he still influenced the British foreign policy. Palmerston played with the idea of making Russia surrender not only Bessarabia and Walachia but also Finland, Crimean peninsula, Caucasus, Baltic lands. In early 1855 the popular outcry that followed the British military setbacks in the war (like the famous story of Charge of the Light Brigade) made Aberdeen’s government resign and Palmerston formed the cabinet. Even before Palmerston’s return to the office Great Britain became extremely strict and demanded restriction of Russia’s Black Sea fleet to four ships and demolition of all fortresses on the sea coast. This was the British interpretation of the point 3 – one of the peace terms (there were four points: 1. Russian protectorate over Bessarabia and Walachia would be replaced by a European guarantee; 2. the navigation on Danube was to be freed; 3. the Straits convention of 1841 was to be revised in the interests of balance of powers in Europe; 4. Russians would abandon their claim of protectorate over the Christian subjects of Turkey). If the French greatly contributed to the outbreak of the war, the British seemed to be ones who wanted to grab the opportunity and weaken Russia as much as possible. This demand was made under Aberdeen whom Soviet historians consider more pro-Russian than Palmerston. The latter himself, no doubt, made everything possible to interpret the point 3 in anti-Russian terms. In November 1855 France and Austria redefined the peace terms. Drouyn, the French Foreign Minister turned the point 3 into the neutralization of the Black Sea but Palmerston rejected this interpretation altogether – since the Russian Black Sea fleet was already destroyed (and it did was not rebuilt for decades) it seemed to be a concession to Russia. Finally the Western Great Powers formulated 5 points that realized the British interpretation of point 3 three and deprived Russia a part of Bessarabia. In January 1856 these 5 points were presented by Vienna which made the Russians extremely resentful about “the ungrateful Austrians.” The Russian Ambassador in Vienna Gorchakov advised Saint Petersburg to reject these terms and suggested to make peace directly with France over the British and Austrian heads. But Nesselrode suppressed Gorchakov’s telegram and made Saint Petersburg accept the Austrian terms. 
Gorchakov’s daring telegram eventually made him a new Russian Chancellor and once again it brings to our minds Russia’s possible policy of entente with France. Such policy was quite logical since the British interpretation of point 3 was unacceptable for Russians. Besides, mercurial Louis Napoleon was getting suspicious and tired of the war and he made some covert attempts to negotiate with Russians (one of these attempts failed because of Nesselrode). The British could not fail to notice the risk of the separate peace and made their best to engage Louis Napoleon. The latter finally decided that peace with Russia should have not made at the expense of the friendship with Great Britain and stuck to his principle for long. During the Congress of Paris Russians once again tried to explore the “French connection” and not without some success. Charming and intelligent Orlov built up friendly ties with the French emperor which allowed him to understand what kind of support Russia could expect from France during the congress. Napoleon himself should not be interested in weakening of Russia. He had achieved his goals – the French troops overcame the Russian resistance in Sebastopol and so France having successfully fought war on the soil of another Great Power had regained the prestige it lost in 1815. Thanks to Louis Napoleon’s eagerness to conciliate with Russia the latter avoided the full fiasco – Russian fortresses on the Black Sea coast were kept. Russia had to cede significant part of Bessarabia but Austrians had to withdraw from Bessarabia and Walachia too.
The era of Nicholas was over. He died in February 1855 not surviving Russia’s Crimean humiliation. The formidable Tsar is a rather controversial figure. He successfully used Russian power for achieving his goals and followed balance of power games. At the same time he was obsessed by the Holy Alliance principles. But these constraints hardly overrode common sense and balance of powers calculations – the crushing of the Hungarian revolution with the only example. When Nicholas saw some opportunity of making peace with the “revolutionary France” he made some steps towards Paris. He honoured the French Ambassador and did not disgrace Kiselev when the latter paid a visit to Louis Napoleon not having on this behalf any instructions (or permission) from the Tsar. It was Nicholas’ autocratic manner of ruling (as we already mentioned due to his bad temper the leading Russian diplomats used to practice wishful thinking and conceal the truth from the Tsar) rather than his obsession with the Holy Alliance that drew Russia towards the disastrous Crimean war.
Alexander II, the new Tsar, and his Chancellor Gorchakov aspired for closer Franco-Russian relations. The policy of entente with France hardly can be considered as something stemming from ideological concepts. The revision of terms of the treaty of Paris (first of all, of the clause forbidding Russia to have a fleet in the Black Sea) became Russia’s obsession. Having found some reciprocity in Louis Napoleon’s policy they tried now to split up the Crimean coalition through the rapprochement with France. It seems to be a balance of power game first of all. But still we will look carefully at the post-Crimean period to see possible deviations from rational balance of power calculations. As we already mentioned it was after the Crimean war when Panslavism emerged. Ideological concepts were gaining momentum, so they may had had some influence over policies too. 
Gorchakov called Russia and France “natural allies.” Louis Napoleon also seemed to capitalize on close relations with Russia. Morny, one of the fiercest advocates of Russo-French rapprochement during the Crimean war was sent to Saint Petersburg as a new Ambassador. Like Gorchakov Morny also hoped that France could be separated from Great Britain. His enthusiasm misled the Russians. They granted France some important economic concessions and were waiting for reciprocal steps. Morny also pushed the Russians towards cheating on the implementation of the treaty of Paris but Great Britain reacted immediately by sending her fleet back to the Black Sea. With Austrian troops still standing in Bessarabia and Walachia Russians looked to be frightened. Gorchakov asked Louis Napoleon to protect Russia (first of all by keeping the Straits closed for Great Britain) by signing a secret agreement on the implementation of the treaty of Paris. No matter why it was done – out of genuine fear or only for splitting up the Crimean coalition – the French emperor was not going to oppose Great Britain for the sake of the Russians. A congress was called to solve the controversy over the clauses of the treaty of Paris and Louis Napoleon did his best to make sure that Russians would lose. Morny made last desperate attempts for forging the Franco-Russian entente but failed. All Russians got was quite harmless assurances of French loyalty to the treaty of Paris. 
Despite bitterness over the treaty issues Russians would not give up that easily their hopes of entente with France. In 1857 they supported the unification of Bessarabia and Walachia into a single state thus seconding Louis Napoleon who strongly backed nationalistic aspirations in general and the idea of the independent Rumanian state in particular. In fact Russia was the only Great Power apart from France that would protect Rumanian idea. Great Britain opposed it from the beginning but the insurgency in India eventually made the British more cooperative and a compromise was achieved during the meeting of Louis Napoleon and Prince consort Albert (Queen Victoria’s husband).

Were the Russians being anti-British? If there was any state in the post-Crimean Europe that aroused Russian resentment, it was Austria. Once saved by Russians arms the Austrians presented the final, humiliating peace terms to Saint Petersburg in 1856. Gorchakov’s policy was directed at forging an alliance against Austria and separating Great Britain and France from each other. The first task was doable. Louis Napoleon despised the Austrian court and he aspired to realize nationalist projects in Italy (and the Habsburgs still controlled a significant part of territories there). Russians supported the Rumanian nationalist idea in order to isolate Austrians who, having Rumanians on their territory, feared the creation of the Rumanian state. By supporting this project Russians themselves gave up hopes about seizing Bessarabia and Walachia. The support for the Rumanian state was motivated by anti-Austrian rather than anti-British sentiments. Unlike Austria Great Britain was not endangered by the Rumanian state, the reason they opposed this idea was the fear of the dismemberment of Turkey. So Russians found it rather easy to isolate Austria but splitting up the Anglo-French alliance was too difficult task and it would take them much bigger efforts. 
The Soviet authors stress the anti-Russian policy that Great Britain undertook under Palmerston’s leadership during this particular period. Vandam regretfully wrote that Louis Napoleon was a Mason whereas Palmerston was the Grand Master of Masons implying that the French emperor being under the influence of his “boss” served the British interests.
 Louis Napoleon was too complex character to be judged that simply. It is worth remembering that during his meeting with Prince consort Albert Louis Napoleon told the former that he was not reading diplomatic notes and memorandums from Palmerston anymore for the simple reason – the British Prime Minister did not know how to write them. Louis Napoleon was too ambitious to serve someone’s interests and he proved it during the peace negotiations after the Crimean war – were he influenced by Great Britain Russia would suffer much bigger losses but Russians were allowed to get off rather lightly.
Louis Napoleon was under influence of certain ideas (like nationalism) rather than personalities. There was another prominent statesman in Europe who hardly cared about any ideological concepts and all he strived for was the improvement of the position of his country. This was Gorchakov. Following his instructions Russia dropped all Holy Alliance sentiments and gave herself a freedom for selecting allies. In 1857 Gorchakov proposed the French the guarantee of non-renewal of the Holy Alliance. Louis Napoleon raised the Italian issue and Alexander II reacted rather cautiously by stating that Russia would not repeat the mistake of 1849 (the suppression of the Hungarian rebel – T.Sh.). However Louis Napoleon was obsessed with the Italian question and the Russians were obsessed with the humiliating terms of the Treaty of Paris. So if they wanted to abolish the treaty they had to cooperate with the French emperor. Louis Napoleon wanted Russia’s benevolent attitude towards the unification of Italy. Russia from the beginning was asking for some tangible support on Bessarabia and Black Sea clauses of the treaty of Paris. Louis Napoleon was not going to make any such promises and Gorchakov wanted to abandon the talks but finally Alexander II decided to give in. The Tsar counted on the good will of his French counterpart and thus he was making the same mistake that Louis Napoleon himself was to make vis-à-vis Bismarck in a few years (when remained neutral in Prussian-Austrian war and did not ask for remuneration from the beginning). Alexander II should have understood that the vague promise of the treaty revision on French behalf would not result in any gain for Saint Petersburg but he decided to make the first step. Italy could not work for Russians but it could trigger further Franco-Russian rapprochement. In March 1859 France and Russia finally signed a secret treaty that gave Louis Napoleon a free hand in Italy but did not promise any breakthrough in the Near East. 
Were the Russians being irrational? Were they making a sacrifice for nothing? Definitely not.  They might not get anything from the unification of Italy but they were not losing anything either. Gorchakov and Alexander II did not care any more about the principles of the Holy Alliance which in this case were to be translated into the protection of the Austrian sovereignty over Lombardy and Venetia. On the contrary, Austria was not favoured at all in the Russian court and so an upheaval in Italy in some sense was in Russia’s interests. Austria was the only loser of the upcoming war in Italy. Louis Napoleon was not granted the luxury of being protected from Prussia during the war in Italy. If the French were ready to forge an anti-Austrian alliance with Russia but not an anti-British one, the Russians similarly were not going to forge an anti-Prussian alliance. They were making sure that Austria would lose but they were not going to make things too easy for Louis Napoleon. Just in a few weeks after signing the secret treaty with Paris the Russians proposed a congress for solving the Italian controversy. By making this step they were taking initiative away from Louis Napoleon – if Italy was to be united it would be done through the concert of Europe, not through Paris only. Besides, they could raise the Near East questions during the congress. As we know the congress did not take place because the Austrians became too aggressive and finally provoked themselves into a war against Sardinia and France but it was the problem of Vienna, not one of Saint Petersburg. Besides, not having received Russian guarantees against Prussia’s possible intervention Louis Napoleon decided to stop fighting on the half-way and make peace with Vienna over Sardinians’ heads. He was not able to accomplish fully his Italian project and had to wait for another war (the Prussian-Austrian one). 
The Russians made their best to engage France as much as possible but at minimum costs. In the fall of 1859 Alexander II met his Prussian counterpart. The Tsar dismissed the talks about the renewal of the Holy Alliance and proposed King Wilhelm a guarantee against French attack. The Prussians accepted it and in return promised neutrality in Italy. Russians could claim a big victory for the sake of French. But what benefits could France receive from the Prussian neutrality when the war in Italy was already over. Louis Napoleon had made a peace with Vienna and was not going to go to war once again for Sardinia. So he hardly needed Prussian neutrality anymore. 
So Saint Petersburg played her own games and played them very skilfully. Gorchakov, arguably the best Russian diplomat of all times, continued to build the Franco-Russian entente and at the same time managed to protect his country’s interests. The Polish rebellion of 1863 once again demonstrated the shrewdness of the Russian Chancellor. In April Gorchakov received three notes – from London, Paris and Vienna. The British note was the harshest. Foreign Secretary Russel hinted that by suppressing Polish national aspirations Russia was alienating herself from the civilized world. The Austrian note was the mildest one – the Austrians themselves controlled a part of the Polish soil (Galicia) and condemning Russia for fighting against Polish insurgents was rather comical. The other European Great Power controlling the Polish soil – Prussia – did not condemn Saint Petersburg at all and even agreed a military cooperation against the Polish insurgents. The French note proposed the European congress for solving the Polish question. Gorchakov once again made the best to protect Russia’s interests and continue engaging France. He treated the French in much more favourable way than London and Vienna. He agreed to the idea of congress but on one condition – other European questions would be discussed too during the meeting (implying the questions related to the treaty of Paris). Having suffering the loss in the Crimean war Russia hardly could oppose another Western coalition but Saint Petersburg gambled to the end. Both Great Britain and France were at that time involved in the North American affairs (Mexican war and the civil war in America). At the same time British did not trust Louis Napoleon after the latter annexed Savoy and Nice in return for military assistance against Austria. When Great Britain and France in addition to the congress proposed terms that meant nearly the recognition of Polish independence. Gorchakov rejected their offer and declared the Polish question an internal affair of Russia. Russel and Louis Napoleon had to give up, the Russian Chancellor was triumphant. 

In a few months Gorchakov made another smart move that served the goal of driving a wedge into the Crimean coalition. Having failed to protect Poland – traditional sphere of the French interests – Louis Napoleon proposed a grandiose European congress that would discuss every controversial issue. The French emperor hoped that the congress would finally finish with the order of 1815. Russians should have been tempted by the prospects of discussing the Near East questions and overthrowing the humiliating conditions of 1856 but Gorchakov realized that the congress would raise the Polish question too. Despite this the Russian Chancellor procrastinated and allowed Russel to be the first to reject the French offer. The British had even more reasons to avoid the congress because it could end up wit emergence of new Russian fleet in the Black Sea and Russel reacted impatiently to Louis Napoleon’s new initiative thus making the French emperor rather resentful about Great Britain. 
The Unification of Germany
Thus the Russians had won a great diplomatic battle since losing the Crimean war. Their foreign policy was extremely balanced and rational despite the fact that Great Britain remained the main opponent of the revision of 1856 terms. No matter how hostile London was the Russians followed the balance of power principles not being blinded by any sentiments. 

But the Polish crisis drained Russia’s resources and she had to be cautious in the following years. Saint Petersburg managed to get away with Poland but she could fail another serious test and face a new Crimean war. This cautious stance explains Russian behaviour during the war over Sleswick and Holstein and the Prussian-Austrian war. Wars in Europe are special importance to our study since wars make every state reveal their attitudes and true nature, so we will look carefully at the following period that abounded with conflicts and serious changes.
The upcoming war with Denmark became a serious challenge for the proponents of balance of powers in Europe. A small state was to be overrun by a coalition of Great Powers. It was tacitly understood that the small state needed protection. Great Britain did not attach to Denmark as big importance as it attached to Belgium, but still, the unwritten laws of balance of power principles prescribed the protection of the weaker side, especially that this side was in possession of important sea ports. 

Had Russia followed the balance of power rules she also would come to Denmark’s assistance. However, as we know Russia used every pretext to avoid involvement in the upcoming conflict. Two of continental Great Powers were against Denmark and when Great Britain traditionally began to look for continental allies there were only France and Russia left. The former did not act for various reasons (including Louis Napoleon’s anger over the British rejection of the congress of his dreams). As for the Russians they were still concentrated on Poland. It topped their agenda and it predetermined their calculations. Prussia was the only Great Power that supported Russia over Poland. That meant Saint Petersburg had to make sure Prussia remained strong enough. It had to be strong enough to balance the potential pro-Polish coalition and first of all to serve as a solid barrier between Poland and France. 
But Russia was obsessed with the idea of revision of 1856 treaty too. So why not Saint Petersburg would enter in trade with Great Britain and ask the abolishment of some of treaty clauses in return for military protection of Denmark. But such kind of trade-off probably would not be acceptable for London and the Russians were well-aware of this fact. Despite that some efforts were still made to involve London is some negotiations. When Great Britain asked for naval support (for the protection of Denmark) it would get only Gorchakov’s brilliant apology – the “Baltic sea was frozen” and so the Russian fleet was not able to help.
 Gorchakov was avoiding the British invitation but at the same he was hinting at the absence of Russian fleet in the Black Sea. The British could not fail to grasp the hint and they did not make any further proposals that could give the Russians hope of entering into a trade over the clauses affecting their position in the Near East. London decided that adventurous Louis Napoleon would be much more appropriate candidate for the protection of Denmark. The French emperor in fact had some moments of hesitations (in favour of London) but finally he decided not to intervene. 
In parallel Gorchakov made his best to avoid an upheaval in the North Germany that could make Prussia too strong. Unlike his Tsar who liked Bismarck and even offered him a job in Russian diplomatic service (when Bismarck was finishing his term as the Prussian Ambassador to Russia), the Russian Chancellor was already being very suspicious of his Prussian counterpart. He proposed the Danes to give in over Sleswick and Holstein. The Danes would not heed Gorchakov’s warnings. They were the ones who behaved the least properly; Bismarck was the one who behaved the most properly. The Russian Chancellor also recommended Vienna and Berlin to find some compromise with Denmark in order to avoid the Anglo-French coalition – Gorchakov understood that such coalition would eventually endanger Russia too and tried to prevent it by all means. 
Also, the Russian Chancellor did not favour very much the Prussian-Austrian war. Actually, like the majority of European diplomats he had reasons to suspect that Austria would win the conflict. So the concern was possible Austrian, not Prussian aggrandizement. But as soon as Prussia won the war Gorchakov began to explore options for neutralizing the Prussian success in Germany. Bismarck moaned that despite Tsar’s sympathetic attitude towards him (Bismarck) Gorchakov was trying to undermine Prussia’s positions gained after the victory over Austria. Namely, Gorchakov offered Louis Napoleon to protest against the abolition of German Union. Besides, Gorchakov explored with the British the possibility of arranging a European conference for solving the German question. However it was not the British reluctance that buried the idea of conference – Bismarck reminded Saint Petersburg of family ties between the Tsar and the Prussian king, of Poland (where Russia and Prussia had common interests) and of the Black Sea (where Prussia had no reason to oppose a change of the status quo established after 1856). 
Prussian-Austrian war was to be followed by Prussian-French war. Now Saint Petersburg had a chance to stop the process of German unification around Prussia. Why did Russians tolerate the aggrandizement of a Great Power in their immediate neighbourhood? Russia not only stayed neutral in 1870 but also exerted a certain pressure on Austria-Hungary in order to keep her neutral too. This was exactly what Bismarck was seeking. Shortly after finishing the talks about a congress on German issues the Prussian Chancellor asked Saint Petersburg (August, 1866) if the latter would keep Vienna neutral and the reply was almost positive. The following years would not change the Russian stance. In 1866 they were ready to condone the Prussian-French war because they were hoping for Prussian neutrality in Russian-Austria war. Later it turned out that Bismarck would not give them such guarantee but still it did not change the Russian stance in favour of France. What kind of rationale was behind the Russian foreign policy of late 1860-ies?
The Russians talked intensively to Paris. In fact Gorchakov never fully abandoned his attempts for the Franco-Russian rapprochement but Paris and Saint Petersburg had different plans and visions. The former was looking for compensation in the form of Luxemburg and Belgium for her neutrality in Prussian-Austrian war. Russians did not favour very much the change of boundaries in Europe but they could tolerate it in return for change of status quo in the Near East. The insurgence on Crete gave Saint Petersburg a hope of undermining Turkey’s positions. But France having wide economic interests in Turkey opposed any serious instability in the Near East. Paris was seeking for changing the boundaries in the West whereas it stood firmly against change of boundaries in the East. The French approach could not make Saint Petersburg happy in any way. 

What is even more important for our study, Paris also began to ask for the Russian support against Prussia. But Saint Petersburg would not follow for certain reasons. Still being obsessed with the idea of overthrowing the status quo of 1856 in the Near East, the Russians could not make an alliance against the only Great Power that firmly supported Saint Petersburg on this issue. Gorchakov sought entente with France because he wanted to break up the Anglo-French alliance. But the Russian already enough time to learn that Louis Napoleon would not abandon the British friendship for sake of the Russian friendship. How could Louis Napoleon count on anti-Prussian alliance under those circumstances? Ideally Gorchakov would like to see Russian-Prussian-French friendship and Prussian-French support on the Near East issues. The visit of the Tsar and Gorchakov to Paris (June, 1867) aimed to forge this alliance but of course it did not work. Let alone the project of Russian-Prussian-French friendship, Russo-French friendship itself came under certain threats. The French crowd exclaimed “long live Poland.” What was more important, the French police received notification about an assassination plot against the Tsar. The police was informed by legendary Stieber, Bismarck’s spy
. After consulting Bismarck he deliberately notified the French just before the beginning of the parade with the participation of two monarchs and frightened French police made a terrible mess infuriating the Tsar (especially that assassination did not take place and for this reason according to the French legislation the Polish conspirators could not be executed). Alexander II would talk of Louis Napoleon as “a Bonaparte parvenu who did not care about a life of a genuine emperor and did not even bother himself to punish the assassins properly.”
 
But the Tsar’s resentment could not obscure balance of power calculations. Gorchakov tried to use Paris for pushing the Crete issue. Indeed he succeeded in enlisting the French support for advocating European inquiry into the Cretan affairs but later the French made it clear that they had completely different vision over the future of Crete – Russians hoped that Crete would eventually go to Greece and trigger the disintegration of Turkey whereas the French wanted Turkey to suppress the Cretan insurgency. 
In 1868 Saint Petersburg seemed to be dropping hopes of engaging Paris. Alexander II declared to the Prussians that in case of the French attack on Prussia he would keep Austria-Hungary neutral. The Tsar expressed hope that he could count on similar service on behalf of Berlin in case of war in the Near East. Moreover, the Russians began to ask for an alliance against Austria-Hungary but Bismarck firmly refused thus revealing one of the principles of his policy to which he would adhere until the end of his reign. Prussia only would keep France neutral in the case of war in the Near East but at the same time Bismarck did not guarantee that he would allow the destruction of Austria-Hungary. The Prussian Chancellor did not need to go get deeply entangled in the Russian friendship. He preferred to fight France alone without anybody’s help  and was not going to ask Saint Petersburg for any assistance in that regard (and Russians anyway were not going to enter any anti-French coalition). All he needed was Austria-Hungary’s neutrality and this seemed to be granted – the Russians dropped these talks but they never could hide their distaste for Vienna which made almost obvious that they were going to keep Austria-Hungary neutral despite anything. 
In fall of 1869 Louis Napoleon made the last attempt to lure the Russians. A new Ambassador, Fleury, was sent to Saint Petersburg. But the diplomat was wrongly instructed – instead of trying to break the deadlock by promises in the Near East he talked about the danger coming from the greater Prussia. Gorchakov still made his best to capitalize on the French attempts of rapprochement but soon another change took place in Louis Napoleon’s unstable revolutionary cabinet – Daru was appointed a Foreign Minister (it is hard t count how many Foreign Ministers Louis Napoleon replaced during his reign) who disliked the policy of engaging Russia.
So despite not receiving guarantees from Berlin against Austria-Hungary the Russians did not enter a coalition against Prussia. Saint Petersburg and Paris could not agree on the Near East issues. But why did not Russians take alarm on the prospect of Prussia’s further aggrandizement? First of all they expected that France would win in the upcoming war; they considered Prussia the weaker side and so according to balance of power principles they had to back the weaker one. What they really feared was the aggrandizement of Austria-Hungary and they did not want to be seen Prussia defeated by French-Austrian alliance. That’s why Saint Petersburg had decided to keep Austria-Hungary neutral. The Russians would do for their own interests not for the Prussian ones. In July 1870 Bismarck had an opportunity to ask Gorchakov directly if Russia was going to keep Austria-Hungary neutral. Gorchakov, always happy to the possibility of reminding his interlocutor (especially if Bismarck was the one) that the latter depended on Russia’s good will, did not make any firm promise but he expressed hope that Vienna would not throw herself into such adventure. Thus the Russian Chancellor was hinting that Austria-Hungary would stay neutral because Saint Petersburg wanted so not because Berlin asked for it. Russia indeed made her best to keep Austria-Hungary neutral if the latter really had any plans to intervene in the conflict. Back in September 1869 Gorchakov and his Austro-Hungarian counterpart Beust agreed to let Prussia and France fight. So the Russians had no serious reason to expect the Austria-Hungarian intervention. Saint Petersburg was still obsessed with Poland and the Near East. Their position in Poland looked secure enough and as for the Near East, they were now looking for the earliest opportunity to repudiate the treaty of Paris. Such opportunity would be granted by a new conflict in Europe no matter how it would end. 
Russians are not to be blamed as a Great Power missing the great momentum of Prussian aggrandizement that destroyed the balance in Europe. Great Britain – the traditional watchdog of balance of powers – was to be blamed in the first place. Saint Petersburg was struggling to overthrow the humiliating status quo of 1856 and it limited her scope of action whereas British hardly were limited in any way. But here one should not forget about Bismarck’s brilliant diplomacy too that provoked France into the conflict. Louis Napoleon looked as an aggressor and made the European courts (including the Russian one) turn their backs on him. “You think only you have pride?”
 – asked irritated Alexander II Fleury. 
The Russians would advocate victorious Prussia moderateness and pushed the French towards peace. Paris desperately looked for some outside support and Thiers started his famous tour to European courts but he hardly found any understanding. Only Gorchakov and Alexander II would tell him that some day Russia and France would build an alliance. Despite talking of great plans for the future Saint Petersburg would not make anything for saving France from the losses it suffered after the disastrous war. The Russians were going to repudiate the neutralization of the Black Sea and they needed support from Berlin – the winning side – much more than the support from Paris – the losing side (especially that Paris was always too careful regarding the Near East issues). The humiliating clauses of 1856 were finally overthrown during the conference of London that took place in early 1871. The Russians made it clear for everyone that they would renounce the neutralization of the Black Sea well before the conference and it was more than obvious that nobody was in position to oppose Russia. France was defeated, Austria-Hungary hardly would dare to engage in another Crimean war – especially when Berlin would firmly oppose it (and Vienna took into consideration Berlin’s views even back in 1854 when Berlin was a capital of Prussia only, not Germany). So Great Britain could not forge a new Crimean coalition even it had any intention of doing this. 
For Russia the era of regaining strength after losing war was over. Other wars in Europe allowed them to get rid of status quo of 1856. For their non-intervention in the Western affairs the Russians finally gained what they aspired in the Near East. Poland was subjugated too – Russia had dealt with the pressing problems in her backyard and now could get back to the Western affairs as a full-fledged member and player of the Concert of Europe. The conference of London can be considered as a milestone in history of Russia and history of Europe too; during the conference Russia agreed to the principle that treaties could be changed by international, multilateral accords only. This was exactly what Europeans wanted to elicit from Russia. The temptation to act unilaterally in Europe was one of the properties that distinguished Russia from the Western powers and now it seemed that she was turning into a truly European state. By repudiating the neutralization of the Black Sea Russia highlighted her ambition of developing into a mighty sea power. Russia began to build the Black Sea fleet when a long time had passed since the conference of London and under tsardom the Black Sea fleet could considered a formidable force only with certain reservations. But the reality did not matter as much as the recognition – Russia wanted to be treated as a truly European state; that was the most important. Fleet could be built later. Bismarck advised Saint Petersburg to start building the Black Sea and wait for the protests instead of repudiating the treaty of Paris. But the Russians went the other way.  
Russia in the League of the Three Emperors. The Emergence of Panslavism
Did Russia follow the balance of power games after the unification of Germany? In September 1872 Alexander II got involved in the League of the Three Emperors – purely Bismarckian project that aimed to keep France diplomatically isolated and secure Germany on eastern boundaries. At the same time Bismarck would avoid any firm commitments that would bind Germany to Russia (for instance he did not endorse the military pact agreed between German and Russian chiefs of general staffs). What motivated the Russians? What did they seek in the League of Three Emperors? From the very beginning Alexander II decided that if he did not visit Berlin where German and Austrian monarchs were to meet Russia could become isolated and the meeting of his counterparts could end in some anti-Russian agreement. France was defeated and weakened and thus was hardly able to balance the possible Berlin-Vienna axis. Russia simply had to get involved there and afterwards she had to try to split up the German-Austrian friendship that was gaining momentum after the unification of Germany. It somehow resembled the tactics that Russians used for splitting up the Anglo-French friendship – entente with one of the parties that had common interests the Russians. The French unlike the British had no direct interest in the Black Sea and the Germans unlike the Austro-Hungarians had no interest at the Balkans – the region that Russia eyed now. However from the beginning Saint Petersburg acted rather carefully and made the best not to stir up any conflict in the region that eventually triggered the WW1. Actually the Russians might have predicted that the Balkans could explode any time without their help and in that case they would be in much better position. 
Of course the Russians could not split up German-Austrian coalition but at the same time they did not allow the isolation of France. Gorchakov would always confirm that Russia “needed a strong France.” It was proved by 1875 when Bismarck truly alarmed by the speed of French recovery decided (or at least gave such impression) to launch a new war against the Western neighbour. Bismarck’s previous attempt (1874) was thwarted by opposition that he had to face not only from Saint Petersburg but also form London and even from Vienna. The Iron Chancellor drew lessons from this failure and began his new attempts with diplomatic probes in Saint Petersburg. Radowitz, one of his confidential agents, was sent with a special mission to the Russian capital. During his first meetings with the Tsar and Gorchakov Radowitz talked rather vaguely about the Near East issues in connection with German-Russian friendship. When he mentioned that Germany was backing status quo in the Near East Alexander II in traditional style of his predecessors assured the guest that Russia was not going to seize Constantinople but hinted that Russia would not allow any other Great Power to seize it. Radowitz’s humbug was to raise hopes in the Tsar that Germany might support Russia outside Europe. Russia had “only” to tolerate the French isolation. But it did not work. When the German diplomat finally got down to business with Gorchakov and started to talk about France, the Chancellor suddenly became too absent-minded and seemed hardly to listen to his interlocutor. All Radowitz was to hear from Gorchakov regarding France was his remark that the Russians did not believe there were any anti-German movements or feelings in France. 
Radowitz apparently did not realize how seriously Russia regarded the French question and neither did Bismarck. He went on with his plans by publishing the famous newspaper article “Is War in Sight?” The Russians stayed alert and assured France that they would react immediately to any tangible threat from Berlin. Finally Radowitz ruined everything for Bismarck by talking to the French Ambassador in Berlin about the preventive war – the French published Radowitz’s remarks in The Times thus not only killing another anti-French press-campaign launched by Bismarck but arousing anti-German resentment all around Europe. The article alarmed Saint Petersburg so much that the Russians decided that they had to stop Germany by all means. These means did not necessarily include military actions as long as diplomacy could work. To make sure it would work the Russians made their best to engage the rather isolative British. London was assured that Russia would stop the expansion in the Central Asia (that aroused among the British fears about security of India). This could be superfluous since Disraeli, the new British Prime Minister, was anyway suspicious of Germany especially that he received rumours about possible German encroachment on Belgium. The Tsar and Gorchakov enjoyed a strong support from Great Britain and during their visit to Berlin Bismarck had to vow that he did not plan to attack France. Before leaving Berlin Gorchakov sent telegrams to all Russian embassies and missions stating “the emperor is leaving Berlin being fully confident in peaceful intentions dominating here. The peace is guaranteed.”
 The telegram somehow became public and it infuriated Bismarck since it made impression that it was the Russians who guaranteed the peace. The Chancellor offered his Russian counterpart a medal with inscription “Gorchakov saves France.” Actually Russia did not play decisive role in saving France but without her help Great Britain would find it very hard to contain Germany. Austro-Hungarian attitude was already becoming rather dubious and Vienna hardly could serve as a continental ally of Great Britain against Germany. So Russia played at least very important role in saving France and thus saving balance of power in Europe too. Bismarck was infuriated because he understood that Russia would never allow the destruction of France. The exposed telegram about the guaranteed peace publicly pledged Saint Petersburg to the protection of France making the Iron Chancellor even more resentful. 
Russian foreign policy was always shaped by Tsars (and after the Bolshevik revolution by heads of communist party) rather than Chancellors and Foreign Ministers. Gorchakov can be viewed as some exclusion and under his leadership Russian foreign policy was driven by shrewd balance of power calculations. Gorchakov had to finish his brilliant career in the late 70-ies and by that time he had to face a severe challenge from Panslavism – the ideology that began to flourish after the Crimean war. It was the case when ideological concept began to influence Russian foreign policy.
Panslavism could not affect Russian foreign policy until there was no reason to protect Slav nations. In 1875 the Balkan Slavs rebelled against the Turkish rule and the Panslavism emotions were unleashed. Gorchakov cared of Russian national interests in the first place and he could not fail to see the danger that the Balkans posed to Europe including Russia. As he said, the Eastern issues could be dealt either through “complete reconstruction” (which was dangerous) or through “mere replastering.” The latter option was much safer and simpler too but it was only a temporary measure. The more the Eastern crisis deepened the harder Gorchakov found to replaster it. Alexander II hardly was in a position to oppose the popular sentiment and there were influential Russian diplomats, such as Ignatiev (the Ambassador to Turkey) inclined to Panslavism and encouraging the southern Slav movement. No matter how deeply Panslavism had penetrated into the minds of Russian policymakers Gorchakov made his best to isolate the “Crimean isolation” and talked to Vienna for finding a solution. Andrassy, Foreign Minister of Austria-Hungary seemed to find one – Germany, Russia and Austria-Hungary were to assign their consuls to settle the rebellion on the spot. It was a test on durability for the League of the Three Emperors too and it failed. The French protested against the scheme in Saint Petersburg and the Russians agreed to invite them to the consular mission (August, 1875). Great Britain and Italy (eager to assert herself as a Great Power too) were also invited and the mission did not work. It is hard assert that it could be successful without the interference of the three remaining Great Powers. However, it is obvious that the more Great Powers were involved the more complicated the mission became since all of the consuls sought different goals (for example, the British one tried to protect Turkey in the first place). So why would reasonable Gorchakov wreck the scheme from the beginning by inviting a state outside of the League of the Three Emperors? The answer is that he wanted to keep France abreast – French resentment could throw the latter into the British arms. Besides, France had to balance Germany (however this argument is less valid since it was France first of all that needed Germany to balanced). The balance of power calculations triumphed over the solidarity within the Three Northern Courts and it once again alarmed Bismarck. Since Saint Petersburg was trying to engage France he tried to engage Great Britain further and proposed the idea of partition. According to his scheme Great Britain was to get Egypt. But the Russians rejected this project altogether. It did not mean that Saint Petersburg did not try to resolve the Eastern crisis at all; Gorchakov, always suspicious of Bismarck hardly could be taken into schemes like this. Besides, Saint Petersburg could not favour the engagement of Great Britain through projects proposed by Berlin (no matter would Great Britain follow or not) since it meant Anglo-German rapprochement and Saint Petersburg wanted to prevent any anti-Russian rapprochement.
The covert (and sometimes overt) supports for the Slav movement definitely arouse suspicions in Europe but the Russian official policies were careful enough to avoid isolation. Ignatiev’s proposals on extracting autonomy for the revolting Balkan provinces and for dealing with Turkey bilaterally were rejected. No bilateral formats. But at the same time no formats restricted to the League of the Three Emperors. The Russians valued the League as long as they could use it for splitting up the German-Austrian friendship. If it did not work, then they would not let the League undertake any significant step by her own and would always invite other Great Powers. It happened to the consular mission and it happened to the Andrassy note too that recommended reforms to Turkey (December, 1875). France and Great Britain joined and the note did not work – Turkey encouraged by London would not carry out the recommendations and rebels ignored the note too. The meeting of Bismarck, Gorchakov and Andrassy in Berlin (May, 1876) followed the same pattern. Gorchakov proposed the involvement of all European Great Powers that would result in tangible reforms (maybe even in extracting autonomies for the rebels). The Russian proposal was not accepted and it was decided to adhere to recommending reforms with stipulating that in case of failure of the reforms effective measures were to be undertaken. No matter what Gorchakov had on his mind, the Berlin memorandum did not work because it raised suspicions in London. Disraeli already alarmed with Russian encroachment on Afghanistan decided that Saint Petersburg was pledged to the disintegration of Turkey through the League of Three Emperors and sent the British fleet to Besika Bay. A little later he proposed the Russians cooperation in the Near East but it did not work since Saint Petersburg was asked to abandon the Balkan Slavs. By that time Gorchakov was trying to balance Great Britain by France – in June he asked Paris to send the fleet to Turkish waters but of course the French rejected the offer, they were not going to oppose London for the Near Eastern issues, especially that they were not interested in disintegration of Turkey.
On July 8 Gorchakov met Andrassy in Reichstadt. Both statesmen understood that they had to agree their policies in order to avoid a clash over the Eastern issues. Meanwhile Turkey was fighting nearly all Balkan peoples. It was agreed that in case Turkey lost the war Russia would recover the part of Bessarabia she had to cede after losing the Crimean war and annex Batumi, as for Austria-Hungary it would acquire Bosnia-Herzegovina. Now everything was translated into practical terms. But Turkey scored some decisive battles and it pushed Saint Petersburg towards finding new solutions. Gorchakov proposed a peace conference but it was rejected by Bismarck who did not want Saint Petersburg to become too much popular among the Balkan Slavs. Understanding that his refusal offended the Russians Bismarck sent Manteuffel to Saint Petersburg with a special mission – to reassure the Tsar in the German-Russian friendship. The Russians grabbed the chance and asked Berlin if the latter would keep Austria-Hungary neutral in case of such necessity. Saint Petersburg believed that Germany still owed Russia for the neutrality in the Prussian-French war. No matter this service was repaid or not (Bismarck could claim it was by his support for Saint Petersburg in repudiating the neutralization of the Black Sea) Bismarck refused to give Saint Petersburg such guarantees. He hinted he could do it in case Russia would guarantee them Alsace and Lorraine (which meant allowing Germany to crush France once again) but of course no matter how openly the German diplomats pushed this proposal with Saint Petersburg the latter would not be taken into such bargain. But the Russians could not be stopped. Strongly influenced by Panslavs Alexander publicly declared (November, 1876) that he would come to assistance of the Balkan Slavs. Despite this emotional statement Russia would not rush to the Turkish front. She could do it only by keeping Austria-Hungary neutral and since Berlin would not guarantee it, the Russians had to speak directly to Vienna. But before going to war the Concert of Europe had to expire all of its potential – Europe had to fail in joint efforts of bringing peace to Balkans. It happened in December, 1876 when a European conference gathered in Constantinople offered reforms to Turkey. But the latter skilfully rejected the proposed program (which led to independence of the Balkan Slavs) by proclaiming an imperial constitution. 

Now Russia could go to war. In January 1877 a secret agreement was struck in Budapest that finalized the talks begun at Reichstadt by guaranteeing Austro-Hungarian neutrality (for acquiring Bosnia-Herzegovina). Disraeli could not oppose Saint Petersburg; his hands were tied by the anti-Turkish campaign stirred up by his eternal rival, Gladstone. The reports on Turks’ brutal behaviour against Bulgarians cleared a way for the Russian intervention. Saint Petersburg took one more step for ensuring the European support – Ignatiev masterminded another Europe-wide protocol recommending a program of reforms to Turkey. The latter rejected the protocol thus finally isolating herself. 
Russia went to war. Gorchakov realized from the beginning that Saint Petersburg had to be as moderate as possible but he was not in a full control of Russian foreign policy that was carried away by military victories scored by no one else but Grand Duke Nicholas, commander-in-chief. The Grand Duke became extremely angry at Gorchakov when the latter in cooperation with Peter Shuvalov (Russian Ambassador at London, more contemptuous of Panslavism than Gorchakov) extracted from the Tsar proposal for “a little peace.” But the proposal did not include Russian obligation not to occupy Constantinople even on temporary basis which alarmed London. But this was not the end – Panslavism triumphed with the triumph of the Russian arms and Saint Petersburg soon decided to free herself from obligation regarding Bulgaria too (according to agreements with Vienna and also protocols of the Constantinople conference the boundaries of Bulgaria had to be strictly limited). Now London decided to send the fleet to Besika Bay once again. 
The Russo-Turkish war demonstrated that Saint Petersburg was still tempted to act unilaterally, disregarding her obligations before Europe. No doubt she would do so if allowed. The British fleet in the Straits, the threats from Vienna and Pyrrhic victory at Plevna – all of these combined together finally stopped Russia. Their expansion could be stopped by sheer force only. Gorchakov and some top-rank diplomats (Shuvalov, Giers) understood the danger of the voluntary behaviour but the Tsar was too much agitated by Panslav sentiments and a chance to fulfil the everlasting dream of capturing Constantinople. Finally he ended in sending two contradictory orders to the commander-in-chief – one of them instructed to capture Constantinople, the other one instructed not to do it unless the British forces landed in the Straits. Finally the Russian troops occupied San Stefano where triumphant Ignatiev would dictate terms of peace to Turkey (March, 1878). It was him the Tsar nominated for this mission. 
Despite all of the above mentioned sentiments Russian policy could be considered as cool-headed and rational. Panslavism definitely affected the decision-making but Gorchakov made his best to find a practical use for the sentiments. The war was won and Russia would annex new territories. Of course, Ignatiev somehow spoiled the victory by imposing a peace that neglected the Russian obligation of not creating too big Bulgaria. His over-diligence irritated Gorchakov. The Chancellor understood that Europe would not tolerate the terms of the peace of San Stefano and he sent Ignatiev himself to Vienna for defending the treaty he made. Of course, Andrassy would not give in but nobody in Saint Petersburg expected it to happen. Now when the most influential Panslav diplomat had failed, things could be ironed out and Shuvalov, a non-Panslav diplomat, got his way in London. Always sceptical of the Turkish adventure and willing to assure the British that the war did not threatened their interests, Shuvalov was happy now to repudiate the treaty of San Stefano and to give up the idea of the Big Bulgaria. The concession was necessary since the Russian army was exhausted and Saint Petersburg was risking with the diplomatic isolation. The last attempt to avoid some of the concessions made in London was made during the conference of Berlin (June, 1878) but it did not work. The Concert of Europe had to curb the Russian ambitions and it succeeded. As a member of the concert which had vowed seven years ago (the conference of London) not to alter international treaties unilaterally Russia had to follow. The war with Turkey made her victorious but the conference of Berlin exposed her to the danger from the British fleet. Having contained Russia on the land thanks to the Turkish resistance at Plevna and still having overwhelming advantage on the seas the British actually allowed themselves in London to repudiate the treaty of 1841 that kept the Straits closed for warships unless Turkey, in case of war, invited someone. Great Britain could pass through the Straits whenever they considered it necessary, it was announced. This was much more severe blow to the Russians than the limited Bulgaria. The Russians still benefited from the war by the annexation of some territories (including Bessarabia) but now they were endangered. Gorchakov was definitely disappointed and even depressed with the results of the congress and after its end he gradually abandoned the public service. Actually, according to Bismarck even before the congress Shuvalov claimed that Gorchakov did not enjoy decisive influence in Saint Petersburg and he stayed in the office only thanks to his age and the Tsar’s warm attitude towards the honourable Chancellor.
 Bismarck remembers that it was Shuvalov not Gorchakov that actually represented Russia at the congress of Berlin – one more proof that Saint Petersburg was returning to European model of behaviour, free of any sentiments. 
The Panslavs blamed Bismarck for the failures at the conference of Berlin. But both the Tsar and Gorchakov tried to remain in good relations with the Iron Chancellor. However the latter was already haunted by cauchemar des coalitions (as Shuvalov characterized his obsessions) and was into one of his complicated games that was to assure peace on Germany’s eastern borders by avoiding a conflict between Russia and Austria-Hungary. It could be done, as Bismarck calculated, if Berlin was able to check Vienna’s ambitions and this could be done by forging a German-Austrian coalition. But for doing this Bismarck had to create the illusion of “the Russian threat” for his emperor who was warmly disposed towards his close relative in Saint Petersburg and would not be driven in any coalitions explicitly or implicitly directed against Russia. Finally Bismarck’s provocations worked – Russia reacted in an aggressive way to tariff wars and Bismarcks’ cynical remarks – and the old monarch had to give in. In October 1879 a defensive alliance against Russia was forged between Vienna and Berlin. Of course it was a secret agreement and Bismarck wrote a vague letter to Saint Petersburg giving an account of his visit to Vienna. There was a treaty signed between the two states, wrote the German Chancellor, touching the solidarity issues. Russia was even invited to join the mystical German-Austrian treaty. 
No matter how plausible were Bismarck’s explanations, Saint Petersburg did not express any resentment. The Russians being preoccupied with the Straits were afraid of Anglo-Austrian rapprochement rather than mysterious German-Austrian one. Having no fleet in the Black Sea they desperately needed some maritime power as an ally. But who could be the one? France excluded herself in June 1876. Even after the Crimean war when France became to be viewed as a strongest continental power, Paris would not dare to clash with Great Britain. How could the French dare it after the 1870 disaster when they needed protection from Germany? Despite Gorchakov’s alertness Russia was still entangled in the League of the Three Emperors and it was Great Britain that Paris relied on in the first place. Saint Petersburg tried to allure Italy but of course it did not work at all. So the Russians could make the Straits secure only through diplomatic pressure from Berlin and Vienna. There hardly was any other way. 
The Bulgarian Case 

From 1879 Gorchakov actually quit the office and the foreign ministry was led by Giers (officially he took over the ministry in 1882). Being a German by origin he was inclined to advocate in the first place a pro-German policy . Russian Ambassador in Berlin was replaced soon. Instead of Oubril, whom Bismarck hated, Saburov was appointed. He offered “a special package” to the Iron Chancellor: Russia asked for Germany’s neutrality in case of Anglo-Russian conflict, in return Russia promised neutrality in case of Franco-German war. Bismarck, who would probably rush to such proposal a few years ago, reacted now rather grudgingly and hinted and there was already some kind of agreement between Berlin and Vienna and Russia had to deal not only with Germany but with Austria-Hungary too. So he offered the renewal of the League of the Three Emperors. 
No sooner Gorchakov quit the office then the Russians abandoned France and were ready to tolerate Franco-German war. Giers’ pro-German stance definitely had to do something with it. But it was not only about Giers and his German roots. We should not forget that Russo-French rapprochement was Gorchakov’s project. Before that Saint Petersburg viewed rather suspiciously the revolutionary France. So there was nothing special in not guaranteeing the French security. Saburov himself was Shuvalov’s follower and the latter got easily along with Bismarck and did not favour Gorchakov very much (in fact he disliked the old Chancellor). 

The other thing was that unlike in the pre-Gorchakovian era France now, when Germany was united, needed the Russian protection. The Russian decision can be explained by two reasonable motives: first of all, it was their preoccupation with the Straits which made them care about their own security in the first place; secondly, Bismarck did not look as bellicose as he did a few years ago. In fact if at the conference of Berlin he had to assume a role of “the honest broker,” after the conference he realized that the conference was only the beginning: henceforward he had to act not only an adroit diplomat and Prussian adventurer who was unifying Germany but as a mature European statesman who had to bear the responsibility of preserving peace in the Old Continent because the peace and the status quo were in interests of Germany, the strongest continental power. The threat to peace was coming from the East where Russia and Austria-Hungary could clash and so Bismarck had to concentrate on them, not on attempts of crushing France, especially when the latter were not giving any pretext. At the conference of Berlin Bismarck made it clear that he had no anti-French intentions anymore. He accepted Paris’ conditions for attending the conference and backed the French acquisition of Tunis. In 1880 he would tell the French that he would “help them find satisfaction anywhere” to make them forget about Alsace and Lorraine. 
The renewal of the League of the Three Emperors was delayed because of the Austro-Hungarian obstinacy. The statesmen in Vienna still cherished hopes of obtaining the British support at the Balkans against Russia. But by that time (April, 1880) Disraeli’s cabinet fell and Gladstone came to the office. He totally opposed Disraeli’s foreign policy and now had to change the stance towards Turkey. The latter significantly lost the British support and had to implement some decisions made at the conference of Berlin. It was becoming obvious that London did not intend to oppose Russia in the Near East. Vienna had to give in and the League of the Three Emperors was revived in June, 1881. On the Russian part it was signed by Alexander III, the son of Alexander II assassinated in March. Unlike the league of 1873 which was of a consultative character, the new one served as an agreement on benevolent neutrality. Once again, Russia would tolerate a Franco-German conflict but at the same time Berlin and Vienna would use diplomatic leverages to make Turkey keep the Straits closed in case the latter decided to open them for some other party. The other party could be nobody else but Great Britain. In case of Russia’s war with Great Britain Berlin and Vienna would stay neutral too. 
The Panslavs still being furious at Bismarck for his brokerage of 1878 did not welcome the League. Desperate with the results of the recent Russo-Turkish war they were seeking the French friendship that would balance the Berlin-Vienna axis. But Paris kept low profile and did not give the Panslavs any chance to push their agenda. The Panslavs became desperate as Giers led the activities of the foreign ministry. Ignatiev cherished hopes of becoming a new Foreign Minister and he had to act before Gorchakov would die. The chance was provided in November, 1881 when Gambetta became Prime Minister of France. He tried to forge an alliance with Great Britain and Russia and thus diplomatically isolate Germany. The Panslavs reacted almost immediately: General Skobelev, a hero of the Russo-Turkish war paid a visit to Paris in January 1882. But this step (combined with Skobelev’s visit to Poland and the fact that Gambetta had to leave the office before Skobelev’s arrival) infuriated Alexander III and Panslavs fell out of the Tsar’s favour. Giers, officially confirmed in April, was to serve as Foreign Minister till 1895. 
Russia was to benefit from the League that was renewed in 1884 without any change. In 1885 the Russian troops advanced beyond the Central Asia, defeated Afghan army, menaced the strategically important city of Herat and thus put India's security under a serious doubt. This adventure highlighted one of the basic assumptions of Russian foreign policy of those days – by threatening India and thus demonstrating they could harm the British interests they would make Great Britain more peaceful and eventually would secure the Straits. Apart from that, it was simply a continuation of the Russian expansion in Asia – a process begun long before the Afghan crisis of 1885. But it was not Russian victorious army that made the Straits secure for Russians – it was the League or rather Bismarck. The Iron Chancellor having already masterminded continental alliances summoned The French, Italian and Austrian (despite the fact that the latter was not enthusiastic to protect Russia from the British fleet) and jointly all of them warned Turkey against opening the Straits. The Turks being disappointed with the British occupation of Egypt (1882) were glad to have the European support in avoiding the British request. As soon as it became clear that the Straits were secure Russian encroachment in Afghanistan stopped and in September London and Saint Petersburg solved all disputes over the region. The Russians definitely understood that Bismarck would be happy to have them entangled in a conflict away from Europe – it would distract their attention from the Balkans and further kill the French hopes of having Russia as an ally. We know at least that Bismarck wrote to his emperor that Berlin had to encourage Anglo-Russian enmity or otherwise they could make an alliance which eventually could involve France too (as it really happened in some 30 years). He really dreaded of Russian attack against Austria-Hungary and therefore agreed to see the Russians in Constantinople since once again it would put at odds Saint Petersburg and London, not Saint Petersburg and Vienna.
 In 1877 Bismarck helped Russia raise necessary funds for the upcoming war with Turkey and since 1885 he encouraged Saint Petersburg to capture Constantinople. 
1885 triggered another crisis. In September the dream of the Big Bulgaria came true, not thanks to Russian troops but thanks to Bulgarian nationalism itself. It was a huge affront to Saint Petersburg – the Bulgarians were “ungrateful” because instead of agreeing to the construction of the railway that would connect Danube with the Balkan Mountains (that would serve as transportation means for Russian troops) they got involved in the Vienna-lobbied economic project (Constantinople-Sophia-Belgrade-Vienna railway) and opened their market to the Austro-Hungarian capital. The Prince of the united Bulgaria, Alexander of Battenberg, did not care about the Russian interests; especially that Saint Petersburg could not offer anything that would overweigh Austro-Hungarian economic “carrots.” As Bulgaria and Eastern Rumelia announced their union, the Russians protested and reminded everyone of the clauses of the conference of Berlin (which they themselves opposed at the conference). As long as the liberated Bulgarians did not serve Russia’s interests, the Panslav sentiments did not matter anymore. As the war of Bulgaria with Serbia was looming the Tsar recalled the Russian officers serving in the Bulgarian army. Despite this loss Bulgarians scored an easy victory and only Vienna’s diplomatic intervention stopped their triumphant advance. Saint Petersburg decided to appeal to the League of the Three Emperors: through the diplomatic pressure Bulgaria was to cede Eastern Rumelia where Turkey would restore an order. The project was devoid of any sentiments, it was, revengeful, cynical and rather paradoxical too: Russia was ready to tolerate the Turkish presence in the lands liberated by the Russians themselves. The ungrateful Slavs were to be punished, by the Turks if needed. Actually we can view this decision as one based on emotions, stemming from nothing else but Panslav sentiments – “good” Slavs were to be protected but the “bad” ones had to be punished by any costs. However, the project was masterminded by Giers who was definitely free of any such emotions. Bulgaria at that moment looked to strong whereas Turkey was in further decline. Saint Petersburg did not take any serious risk by encouraging the Turkish intervention – the Russians would rather have weakening Turkey on their way to the Straits rather than ascendant and disobedient Bulgaria. Besides, by engaging Turkey Saint Petersburg was pleasing the British who under Salisbury were returning to the Disraelian policies of checking Russian ambitions in the Near East. 

But no matter what was on Giers’ mind, his project did not work. The controversies within the League were too deep; the Turks were afraid of sending their troops to Eastern Rumelia; finally London intervened and destroyed the Russian plans altogether. If there had to be a solid barrier on the Russian way to the Straits, it had to be ascending and disobedient Bulgaria and not declining Turkey. The British made the Sultan make a deal with Bulgaria which de-facto meant the recognition of Eastern Rumelia within the Big Bulgaria. Vienna supported the solution and Saint Petersburg had to follow (April, 1886) but the Russians were not going to tolerate the disobedient Bulgaria that easily. In August 1886 Alexander of Battenberg was abducted and eventually he had to abdicate. A Russian general was sent to Bulgaria to take over the command but soon it turned out that the Bulgarian-Russian political enmity was much deeper than the Russians could imagine. The diplomatic relations between the two countries were broken off and the possibility of Russian invasion became almost inevitable. 
Shuvalovs’ Sensational Project 

By that time Bismarck made it clear to the Russians that he viewed Bulgaria as a sphere of Saint Petersburg’s interests. The Iron Chancellor also hinted that in case of necessity he would keep Austria-Hungary quiet. In return Bismarck was asking for some tariff concessions which he eventually got. Later Bismarck would also talk about the Straits and openly stated that he did not have anything against seeing the Russians in Constantinople. The Iron Chancellor kept his word over Bulgaria and extracted from Vienna a promise for non-intervention in the Bulgarian affairs. But as long as Bulgarians themselves would not tolerate the Russian protectorate, the German-Austrian non-intervention hardly could change anything in Russia’s favour. The non-intervention in case of Russian invasion in Bulgaria was a different matter. For Vienna it would be hard to swallow the Russian military presence in Bulgaria but Bismarck advocated abstention unless there was a guarantee that Austria-Hungary would have the British military support. The British abstained too, first of all because Bismarck refused to give up the support for the closure of the Straits. However the invasion did not take place. The Russians did not risk war despite having backing of stronger Germany (instead of neutrality of weaker Prussia as during the Crimean war). All they wanted now was the non-return of Alexander of Battenberg to Bulgarian throne. By the end of 1886 Peter Shuvalov, always enjoying close relations with Bismarck, was sent with a special mission to Berlin (where his brother Paul served as Ambassador since 1885) - to obtain German support in this question (Battenberg, formally an officer of German army, had to heed Berlin’s instructions). 
The mission went beyond its primary goals. Shuvalovs were given a promise to prevent Battenberg’s return to the Bulgarian throne. But the brothers began to discuss the future of the League of the Three Emperors which was to expire in the next year. Always advocating Russo-German friendship Shuvalovs offered Germany a carte blanche against France (including “appointing the German general a governor of Paris
”). Germany would have to tolerate the Russian presence in Constantinople and their influence in Bulgaria. Bismarck could not be happier. By that time he was annoyed by the patriotic agitation in France initiated by General Boulanger. Alexander III was always quite suspicious of Bismarck and did not care about family ties with the German court as much as his father but to Bismarck’s joy he found Boulangism demagogic and hollow. Shuvalov’s proposal gave Bismarck a free hand against the revengeful France and Bismarck initiated another anti-French public campaign. But Alexander III did not favour Shuvalovs’ project which would make Russia lose a huge leverage over Berlin. Even Giers found Shuvalovs’ ideas non-adequate and finally Paul Shuvalov was instructed not to raise the issue of Russo-German treaty before Bismarck. The French, alarmed with Bismarck’s fierce reaction, cautiously inquired (January, 1887) about Russian intentions in case of aggressive moves on the German part (specifically they asked if they could count on Russia’s “moral support”). The Russians was faced by another serious test which they passed successfully. The way Saint Petersburg reacted to Shuvalovs’ initiative made clear that the Russians were reconsidering their attitude towards possible German-French conflict. Since a compromise with London was found (1885) and the Russians felt more secure for the Straits, relations with the League and with Berlin in particular could be reviewed (however, it was Bismarck who finally gave Saint Petersburg a pretext to review the relations). At the same time Boulangism could not be encouraged under any circumstances – if it provoked the war Russia hardly would be able to come to aid of France. Therefore it had to be brought home to Germany that Russia cared about France and France had to realize that it had to abandon populist anti-German rhetoric. Giers did well under these circumstances. When France asked if she could count on Russia’s moral support, Alexander III was going to reply positively (solid yes), but Giers first instructed Paul Shuvalov to find out in Berlin whether the French fears were justified thus bringing home to Bismarck that Russia would not favour the aggression against France. At the same time Shuvalov was once again told not to mention anything about his own project (the Russo-German treaty) and thus making clear that the idea of abandoning France did not get support in Saint Petersburg. At the same time not having received any assurances from Saint Petersburg, the French began to realize that keeping low profile was the best way to avoid another disastrous war with Germany. Great Britain was seeking for support against Paris over Egyptian question (the French understandably did not abide the British occupation) and were even ready to allow the Germans move their troops through Belgium (if they found it necessary) for attacking France. Paris had to be as quiet as possible. In January 1887 the French Ambassador Laboulaye by his own initiative asked Giers whether Russia would assist France against Germany. Once again, Giers did not give any guarantees and once again it worked – the French understood that since Russia was abstaining, they had to make their best not to provoke Bismarck. In a few months Boulange found himself outside the French government and his era ended. Everybody (including the Russians) could feel more relaxed now.
Understanding that Saint Petersburg “forgot” about the Shuvalovs’ project Bismarck still made his best to receive Russian guarantees of neutrality in case of war with France. Radowitz, now serving as Ambassador in Constantinople raised this issue before Nelidov (his counterpart in Constantinople); once again Russia was offered a free hand in the East but she had to give up France. But it was not a fair bargain – after Plevna and the conference of Berlin Russia definitely was not in a position to attack Turkey. In May Paul Shuvalov began negotiations with Bismarck over renewal of the League of the Three Emperors or its replacement by Russo-German treaty. Now the Russians tried to overwhelm Bismarck – if he wanted Saint Petersburg to give up France then he himself had to give up Austria-Hungary (that was implied in the article on benevolent neutrality offered by Russians). Hardly the Russians expected Bismarck to accept this proposal. They did not know but they were suspecting that Berlin and Vienna were tied by some agreement. Bismarck had no other way but to disclose the secret defensive treaty of 1879. Before doing it he once again offered the Russians the Straits (which he could not guarantee without the British approval) and expressed willingness to confirm his offer in a secret clause. Apparently Bismarck believed that such secret clause was a good bargain that could overweigh France. So at this very precise moment he stopped making promises and began to read to Shuvalov the text of German-Austrian secret agreement. Germany could not abandon Austria-Hungary but asked Russia to abandon France for the Straits. Paul Shuvalov, being a brother of Bismarck’s persona grata, was not taken in. Russia refused to guarantee the neutrality in case of German-French war. Save for this condition the Reinsurance Treaty was finally signed in June 1887 between Bismarck and Shuvalov. Berlin recognized Bulgaria and Eastern Rumelia as sphere of Russia’s influence and gave Saint Petersburg freedom of action in the Black Sea. Actually even before starting talks on Russo-German treaty Bismarck was realizing that he could hardly get Russian neutrality in case of war with France and he had begun working on forging the second Mediterranean agreement that was directed against Russia nullifying the recognition of her rights in the Straits and in Bulgaria. The agreement was signed in December 1887. By that time Bulgarians had elected pro-Austrian Ferdinand of Coburg and the Russian resentment (followed by the movements of their troops near the Russo-Austrian border) facilitated the agreement. Bismarck covertly supported Ferdinand but denied it before Alexander III. He also encouraged the Tsar for a purely face-keeping measure – requesting the Turkish Sultan announce Ferdinand illegal. The Sultan yielded but it hardly could save Russo-German friendship especially that by Bismarck had already blocked Russian treasury bills in Germany. Saint Petersburg could not get money in Berlin but eventually the Russian loan was floated in Paris (October 1888). 
The need for money significantly influenced Russian foreign policy in that period. The French realized that they were gaining leverage over Saint Petersburg. Bismarck’s alliances (the Triple Alliance and Mediterranean agreements) and enmity with London over Egypt had led France to isolation. Under these circumstances rapprochement with Russia seemed to be the most doable option. The French definitely realized that Giers was no Gorchakov and they would have to fight for the Russian friendship. The French calculations explain their decision to float the Russian loan. Apart from that Paris could rely on Alexander III traditionally warm attitude towards France. This attitude was once again demonstrated in October 1889 when the Tsar came to Berlin and told the French Ambassador (actually the only person in Berlin he talked warmly to) that France had to have a stronger army. 
Making an Alliance with France

But of course hardly anything facilitated the Franco-Russian entente as German foreign policy after resignation of Bismarck (March, 1890). His successor Caprivi refused to renew the Reinsurance treaty despite the fact that Giers (anxious to save the Russo-German friendship) proposed to remove the clause on Berlin’s diplomatic support in the Near East (actually it was no big concession since Russians had no aggressive plans in this region for the near future). In parallel the French still continued making kind gestures in address of Saint Petersburg: they arrested group of Russian nihilist (May, 1890) and in August Boisderffe, deputy chief of the French general staff was on his way to Saint Petersburg. Apparently the French believed that they already done enough to win some tangible agreement with Russia. But it was too early – Alexander III unlike Giers did not worry much about the Reinsurance treaty and in fact he admitted that he was “happy that it was Germans that did not renew the treaty”
  because now his hands were untied. But still the Russians did not view war with Germany as something inevitable (they did not know that the new cabinet in Berlin thought the other way). They were thinking about war against Austria-Hungary and in that case they wanted the French army as a deterrent for Germany. In case of a German attack on France Saint Petersburg was promising only mobilization. The Russians still led by Giers ostensibly were hoping for renewal of the Reinsurance treaty with Germany and did not want to tie themselves with any agreement with France (especially with a defence treaty against Germany). Here the French replaced their carrots by sticks – the Paris house of Rothschild refused to float a new Russian loan. The Russian general staff made some important concessions (simultaneous mobilization in case of an attack from any member of the Triple Alliance) and the French squadron visited Kronstadt (July, 1891) were Alexander III, the Russian despot, listened graciously to revolutionary Marseillaise. The French proposed a military convention but Giers still avoided it – he did wanted some general agreement not any concrete obligation. He was ready to agree only to a consultation pact (which excluded simultaneous mobilization). Alexander III decided to introduce Mohrenheim (the Russian Ambassador in Paris) to the game. The latter strongly backed the Russo-French rapprochement and finally Giers had to make some concessions – now Russia and France would agree on measures in case any one of them was under threat of attack. There was one more reason that made Russians more cooperative – the French squadron on the way back was invited by the British to Portsmouth. For Saint Petersburg it was a signal that Russia was not the last resort for France. Actually the Russo-French agreement of August 1891 was no loss on behalf of the Russians (actually they could ask for French support in case of the conflict in the Near East). They still fed themselves with illusions that Russo-German friendship could be renewed and the Russo-French rapprochement could make Berlin more submissive. Alexander III, always suspicious of the Germans, did not share these hopes but still did not push Giers very hard towards making a military agreement which was signed in August 1892 by the general staffs but still had to be approved by the Russian foreign ministry. Soon the Panama scandal broke out that gave Giers a legitimate pretext to delay the approbation. 
The imminent threat of a conflict with Germany was the factor that finally pushed Russia towards the military agreement with Paris. In 1893 Germany launched another tariff war and rejected Russians proposals for a new commercial treaty. Saint Petersburg was already used to the German economic tricks but this time it did not finish there. In November 1892 Schlieffen became a new chief of the German general staff. His vision of war on two fronts resulted in a new military law that was to strengthen further German army. By that time the Russians were realizing that their entente with France did not drive Germany into their arms (in fact, Berlin supposed that this entente would force Great Britain into the Triple Alliance and so did nothing to prevent the Russo-French rapprochement that was evident to anyone aware of the Kronstadt visit). In October 1893 a Russian squadron paid a visit to Toulon. From the beginning the Russians talked about Russo-French naval cooperation in the Mediterranean (cooperation against Great Britain) but the French got their way and finally (January, 1894) the Franco-Russian alliance was made. Now Germany had a two front war. Only in a few months Berlin approved a new commercial treaty with Russia, later that year Caprivi resigned too and Hohenlohe came in who was not inclined to bully Saint Petersburg. But no matter what changes took place within Germany; in respect of relations with Russia it was too late. The French isolation that began with the League of the Three Emperors was ended, the alliances forged by Bismarck still existed but they were to render useless with time. It was a time when the German foreign policy was masterminded by Holstein, the man behind the scenes who later, after WW1 had to be held guilty for isolating Germany in the long run and eventually dragging the country into a disastrous war. 
Power Games in the Near East and in the Far East
As we mentioned, even before making an alliance with France Russia enjoyed an inflow of the French money which allowed to begin (1891) the construction of the Trans-Siberian railway. Constantinople was forgotten (at least temporarily), Russia was to benefit immensely from exploring China and Constantinople mattered only if Great Britain irritated by the Russian encroachment on China (thanks to the railway) would launch an attack through the Straits. But at the same time, thanks to the alliance with France (and also to the Black Sea fleet which began to be rebuilt) Saint Petersburg felt much safer for the Straits and the campaign in the Far East could be continued. The only obstacle on this way was Japan, a newly emerged Great Power in Asia. It was a challenge for the Russians whose policies now were strongly influenced by Witte (appointed Minister of finance in 1892). Witte, one of the shrewdest Russian statesmen eyed domination of China. He believed that Russian cargos should concentrate on the Trans-Siberian railway thus lessening the dependence on the Suez canal. The Russian plans came under serious danger in July 1894 when Japan entered war with China over Korea. At some moment Saint Petersburg was playing with the idea of striking a deal with Japan and thus simply dividing spheres of interests in the Northern China. An option of fighting Japan was also discussed. The set of actions that was eventually selected was arguably much more far-sighted: Saint Petersburg appealed to other Great Powers in order to drive Japan out of Korea through the joint action. As expected, Paris immediately joined the Russians. The British from the beginning were also considering a joint action but finally they abstained (probably, and rightly so, they viewed Russia as much stronger competitor in the Far East than Japan). But the duo was joined by Berlin – worried of possible joint Russo-French military action. 
Lobanov (a new Foreign Minister, author of the joint protest) hardly could expect Germany to join the action – here Saint Petersburg was receiving the benefits of their alliance with France which made Berlin compete for the Russian friendship with the French. But no matter what worked out and how, the Russian plan was the best possible one – maybe a joint European action implied not only driving Japan out but also bringing other Europeans Great Powers in, but due to geography no European Great Power enjoyed such opportunities of exploring China as Russia. Due to geography Japan was the main competitor and had to be excluded from there. 
As expected, the joint protest made by three Great Powers (April, 1895) was successful. Japan was left practically without territorial gains. China had to pay huge contribution to Tokyo and here the Russians “helped” – Witte arranged China a low-interest loan through the French money. Soon (late 1895) Witte founded a Russo-Chinese bank and even a special fund for bribing Chinese officials. Eventually (May, 1996) the Russians managed to extract a concession on building a railway through Manchuria and also formed a defence treaty against Japan. 
The Far East could not pose a threat to Russia. Japan could not challenge her yet. It was the Near East that not only could offer opportunities but also could endanger Russia’s security. Great Britain had not lost interests in Turkey yet. The latter still had to recognize the occupation of Egypt and simply had to submit herself to the British influence which had decreased (Constantinople was much more friendly to Russia which was interested in having rather stable Turkey for keeping the Straits closed). London also played with the idea of partition of Turkey (some British policymakers were losing hope that the Ottoman empire could reform herself). Salisbury actively promoted this idea and talked regretfully about unrealized projects of Nicholas I (rejected by the British). The Turkish atrocities against Armenians could serve as a good pretext for tearing apart “the sick man of Europe.”
The partition meant that Saint Petersburg definitely was to gain something. Salisbury talked about offering the Russians Constantinople. The old dream of Russian monarchs seemed to come true. Even in July 1895 the Russian council talked about the importance of getting hand on Bosporus. But the partition plans were rejected. There was nothing paradoxical about this decision. The Russians needed to control the Straits but the partition hardly gave them this privilege. They would control Constantinople but somebody else (most probably Great Britain) would neighbour them their. Once again it was much better to have more or less intact and stable Turkey in control of the Straits to have some other Great Power right next to Constantinople. In November 1895 Austria-Hungary and Italy proposed to other Great Powers (including Russia) to force the Straits jointly. Never before was Turkey so close to collapse. But the Russians rejected the proposal and they were echoed by the French (the latter apart from caring about the Russian friendship had serious financial interests in Turkey). Finally the British abstained too. Salisbury thought that since the Russians were rejecting the partition plan, they were going to seize Constantinople (without partition, without having a Great Power in the neighbourhood) themselves and thought of sending the fleet to the Straits but he was overruled by his naval advisors who feared that without the French backing the British would be trapped in the Straits. 
Salisbury’s moves alarmed the Russians and they became to believe they had to seize Constantinople in order not let the British there. It is hard to say what could happen if the Russians were able to do it. They were not able first of all because the French refused to back them in this adventure (even the support in Egypt that Saint Petersburg offered to them was not enough, only the support in Alsace and Lorraine could be sufficient for it). Despite this refusal soon it became clear that it was the Russians who benefited most from the Franco-Russian alliance. The alliance made the British expedition to the Straits impossible but it did not improve the French position in Egypt; quite the opposite, now having been cut from the Straits, the British decided to stay in Egypt for good.

In a year Russia nearly overreacted to a new crisis around the Straits. The new Turkish atrocities once again raised a question of European intervention and Nicholas II (crowned in November, 1894) was asked for backing. The new Tsar no doubt refused but when Salisbury offered to open the Straits for all warships, the Russians once again panicked and decided to seize the Bosporus. Once again the French refused to support them. Some Russian statesmen still were considering a military action in the Straits (they were encouraged by the support from the Germans who would be happy to revive Anglo-Russian enmity) but finally it was dropped. As it later turned out Russia did not have to worry about the Straits as much, she would be more endangered by Germany and its Weltpolitik which embraced spheres of Russia’s traditional interests too. Before the beginning of the era of Weltpolitik Russians struck a deal with Vienna. The later felt that it had no potential allies against Russia. Anglo-German relations were at odds due to famous Kruger telegram. Great Britain refused to revive the Mediterranean entente. Germany was fighting for Russia’s friendship with France. In April 1897 Austria-Hungary and Russia agreed to keep things on the Balkans quiet. The Austrians proposed another plan of partition which would allow them to annex Bosnia-Herzegovina but Russians did not respond to it. They had no interest in any partition, especially on the Balkans. They needed stability in this region for gaining a free hand in the Far East. Balkan was to be “put on ice”. The author of this new term, Lobanov, had already died and it was his successor Muraviev who signed the agreement.  
It seemed that now hardly anything could hamper Russia’s advance in China. But this advance was the first thing that found an obstacle in the form of Weltpolitik. As we mentioned in the literature review, Haushofer discussed the possible anti-British cooperation of Berlin and Saint-Petersburg in the Far East but it is obvious that Russia “could do better” without the German intrusion which began in the Far East and soon went on with the Near East. In November 1897 the Germans seized the Chinese port of Kiao-Chow. Actually it should not have been a great surprise for Saint Petersburg. Back in 1895, when the Russians engineered a joint protest against China, the Keiser wrote to Nicholas II that Russia could fully count on German support and he expressed hope that the Tsar would not mind if at some point Germany would acquire some Chinese port. In August 1897 Wilhelm II, during his visit to Saint Petersburg, raised this question once again and talked about Kiao-Chow. Nicholas II did not refuse but told his cousin that Germans had to agree it with Russian admirals. In November two German missioners were killed in Shantung and Wilhelm II told the Tsar that he had no choice but to occupy Kiao-Chow. Being a weak man, Nicholas II did not protest. It was Muraviev who later spoke out and reminded Berlin of the conditions of agreeing such kind of action with Russians’ navy leadership. Finally Muraviev and Russian generals seemed to be quite content with the end result – the Germans stayed in Kiao-Chow and the Russians seized Port Arthur. Some kind of a partition still took place. Witte tried to avoid this scenario – he wanted China to be dominated by Russia, hence Russia had to protect China’s integrity. If Japan was ousted the same had to be done to Germany too. But Japan was ousted with a help of Berlin and Paris, now it was Berlin encroaching in China and she hardly could be countervailed by Paris alone. So Great Britain had to be brought in but this attempt failed – the British were happy that Russian influence in China was balanced by Germany. Witte had to accept his defeat. Saint Petersburg agreed to seize Port Arthur. Actually, the British did offer some trade-off to Saint Petersburg – a plan of partition not only for China but for Turkey too. But once again the Russians did not wish to see any other Great Power in Turkey and they went on with Port Arthur. It irritated Great Britain but nothing could be done to arrest Russia’s expansion in the Far East. A naval operation hardly was possible due to the Russo-French alliance. The Germans also avoided any anti-Russian schemes referring to the vulnerable East Prussian border. Once again Russia was comfortable enough with France and Germany fighting for her friendship. Still, the partition of China looked to be imminent – the British seized Wei-hai-wei. The Russians had reasons to be resentful about both Berlin and London for their encroachment on China, maybe more about London but still they were not driven into any anti-British projects: in mid 1898 Germans talked to them about a continental league (Berlin hoped to extract concessions from the British who were heading towards the war with Boers and needed Germany to be quiet in South Africa). Russians rejected the offer however hypothetical the latter was. 
Even the French were unable to drive Russia into any anti-British projects. In July 1898 the famous Fashoda incident took place which put the two most genuine European democracies – Great Britain and France – at odds. The French did not want to give up its Egyptian ambitions that easily but they could not find allies. In October Muraviev (and later Witte) paid a visit to France and ostensibly advised to admit defeat. It goes without saying that Germany having annexed Alsace and Lorraine could not be a reliable ally for Paris. The French gave up. Their conflict with Great Britain was avoided and they were kept for Germany. The latter went on with Weltpolitik which once again clashed with Russian interests. In the spring of 1899 they launched the Baghdad railway project. It was an intrusion into Turkey. Russia tried to gain something in return and asked the Germans for their support in question of Russian control over the Straits. Berlin refused – she did not have to bind herself with such promise especially that the Russians were in no position to challenge the implementation of the Baghdad railway project. Still, the Germans proposed a bargain – their support in question of the Straits for the Russian support in question of Alsace and Lorraine or at least the Russian neutrality on case of Franco-German war. Saint Petersburg refused – their alliance with France mattered more than hypothetical chances of controlling the Straits. Finally Berlin had her way with the railway (however it could not be finished eventually despite the fact that Russians could not challenge it) and all the Russians could achieve was an agreement from Turkey not to build the railway in the Black Sea districts. 
Russia had serious reasons to abstain from any conflict in the Near East. Her armed forces lagged behind those of Germany. Saint Petersburg lacked resources for rebuilding and modernizing army. That’s why back in mid 1898 the Russian government called for an international conference on limitation of armaments. The conference took place in mid 1899 in Hague but did not end in any significant outcomes. Lack of resources haunted Russia. When in October 1899 Great Britain finally got involved in war with Boers, Russia did not seize opportunity of challenging London. But even if she had such a willingness Russia hardly would be able to do it. Nicholas II played with the idea of mobilizing troops next the Indian border but it hardly was doable since the railway in Turkistan was not complete. Saint Petersburg still extracted some concessions from the British over Afghanistan in February of 1900. This was the maximum. The Russians clearly understood that they could not challenge Great Britain only by on their own. Muraviev tried to engage France. The latter after the Fashoda incident looked certain to join anti-British projects but the German factor ruined any possible anti-British endeavour: Paris would follow Russia if the latter would engage Germany too. But Berlin would do it only if France would recognize Alsace and Lorraine within Germany. Muraviev told the Germans that no French government would do it under any circumstances. The talks about anti-British alliance died. Wilhelm II let the British court know about the Russian proposals but Muraviev did the same (he told London that the Germans offered them to join forces against Great Britain in 1898). 
Russia found it hard to maintain her influence in China too. Soon after the Kiao-Chow affair the Americans declared the “open door” doctrine that created unfavourable conditions for less competitive Russians goods needing tariff protection. In May 1900 the Boxer rising took place. Great Britain advocated Japanese intervention for suppressing the mutiny. Saint Petersburg, viewing Japan as the main rival in China, opposed the plan. They were backed by the Germans who finally were granted the leadership of international forces assigned to finish with the Boxers. The German-led intervention was the best available choice for the Russians. By that time they occupied Manchuria. When the international forces entered Peking new Russian Foreign Minister Lamsdorff (who replaced Muraviev in June 1900) announced that Russians were leaving the Chinese city and that he was expecting other Great Powers to do the same – Russia was already present in Manchuria and she tried to exclude competitors from Peking which she did not need that much. But the other Great Powers did not follow the Russian suggestion. Moreover, London and Berlin struck a deal over China that was to maintain “open door” there and also too “protect China’s territorial integrity.” The Germans left out the Russians sphere of influence (Manchuria) out of the scope of this agreement and thus Saint Petersburg still could consider itself somehow lucky with the outcomes of the Boxer rising. But it did not – the Russians eyed de-facto political domination over Manchuria and they would not evacuate Manchuria unless having implemented their plan of total domination. Witte did not like this policy. He wanted Russia to help Chinese government restore its authority in the country and thus oust all Great Powers except Russia – she would remain there thanks to her location. What Russian statesmen (maybe even including Witte) did not consider was that there was another Great Power in the region – Japan. The Chinese pressed hard by Saint Petersburg over Manchuria leaked the draft agreement with Russia to the British press (January 1901). Great Britain reacted and so did Japan – she demanded the withdrawal of the agreement. Russia gave the way but her troops still remained in Manchuria. By that time The British tried to forge an anti-Russian coalition with Germany but the latter in return asked Great Britain to join the Triple Alliance. Berlin had no intention of quarrelling with Russia over China. In Bismarckian spirit she was encouraging a Russo-British conflict. The Keiser was promising Nicholas II neutrality and praised Russia as a protector from “the yellow menace” (the Japanese). At the same time the Germans guaranteed their neutrality to London and Tokyo too. In late 1901 Ito’s mission to Saint Petersburg (the one lamented by Haushofer) began. This Japanese statesman was one of the advocates of rapprochement with Russia and he did his best to eliminate all existing difficulties. The Japanese government did not expect any diplomatic break-through from Ito’s mission – the main purpose of the mission was to extract an agreement from Great Britain that was still hesitant and could not force itself to recognize Tokyo as a full-fledged ally. But no matter what kind of expectations the Japanese government had, it was Saint Petersburg that did not allow Ito’s mission to succeed (and not anti-Ito conspiracies in Tokyo as Haushofer wrote) – the Japanese had to recognize Russian predominance in Manchuria and in return the Russians would recognize the Japanese predominance in Korea but with reservations. The Russians did not show any sense of moderateness. Their behaviour in the Far East clearly was not influenced by any ideology except the desire of rapid expansion – the way they always behaved in Asia. The failed Russo-Japanese negotiations resulted in the Anglo-Japanese agreement (January 1902). Great Britain would keep France quiet if Japan went to war with Russia (the war with Boers was coming to the end and the British sea power hardly had any more constraints). London also recognized the Japanese predominance in Korea. Russia was checked in the Far East, this time checked by no one else but Great Britain. One expansionist power was checked by another. If Russians have anti-British sentiments, they can be justified the power games in the Far East inter alia. However, the Anglo-Japanese agreement did not encroach on Manchuria and if eventually Japan went to war, it was because Russia could not tolerate the Japanese predominance in Korea. Nicholas II was badly influenced by notorious Bezobrazov and his clique who had purchased wood concessions in Korea and lobbied their economic interests with the monarch. The moderate ones in Saint Petersburg led by Witte advocated the deal that would give Russia Manchuria but Bezobrazov had his way, especially that he became a State Secretary soon.

The Anglo-Japanese agreement was a shock to Saint-Petersburg. For neutralizing it Lamsdorff tried to invoke Russo-German-French axis (like in 1895). But Germany once again would do it only if France renounced Alsace and Lorraine. As for France, she was not strong enough to be distracted by the Far Eastern issues having Germany as a neighbour. All they could promise to the Russians was “consultations” in case of upheaval in the Far East. 
Understanding the dangers that the Anglo-Japanese alliance posed to them the Russians tried to negotiate with London first. The latter having strengthened positions in the Far East thanks to alliance with Japan tried to extract concessions over Afghanistan and Persia (in return London would recognize Russia’s predominance in Manchuria with “open door” reservations). Saint Petersburg was not ready for such trade-offs. But if the diplomacy failed with Great Britain it could work with Japan – one-by-one, Saint Petersburg and Tokyo only, this time without other Great Powers (since Great Power balance was in favour of Japan). However, diplomacy failed once again. No matter what Russian negotiators would talk about, Bezobrazov’s group stuck to its policy. Ultimately the Japanese launched a surprise attack (February 1904) which triggered another ill-fated war for the Russian empire. 
The Russo-Japanese war can be considered a result of irresponsible policies pushed by a certain group that enjoyed too much influence and power. Nicholas II being a weak man was driven into the Far Eastern adventure. He was not motivated by any ideology except the ideology of expansion. 

The war became another serious test for the Russo-French alliance. Fighting on the Eastern front Russia needed a secure Western border and she definitely could not afford war with Germany for protecting France. The Germans being happy that Russia was distracted from the European affairs guaranteed her neutrality. When in October 1904 the Russian Baltic fleet mistakenly sank some British fishing vessels and Saint Petersburg found herself nearly at the brink of long-expected war with Great Britain, Germany offered the Russians an alliance against the attack from other European power. Russia was too close to forging an anti-British alliance with her formidable neighbour. The test was passed successfully – the Russians insisted on telling the French about the alliance first. This condition was unacceptable to the Germans and finally all they got was Russia’s promise to come to help if Germany was attacked by Great Britain specifically on the grounds of supplying Russian fleet by coal (the Germans became the main suppliers during the Russo-Japanese). 
The Germans simply were not aware that Saint Petersburg and Paris were in alliance directed against no one else but Germany. They did not give up their hopes of driving Russia into the new continental league and at the same time made their best to humiliate France (the Morocco crisis triggered in March 1905). By that time Russia was losing the war and desperately needed good relations with Germany. The latter grabbed the opportunity. Wilhelm II lured his cousin into a meeting that took place in Bjorko (July, 1905). The Keiser once again offered an alliance and the Tsar signed it. He definitely knew from the beginning that the document would raise too many questions among his advisors and when the document was given to Birilev, the Russian Minister of navy, for his signature, Nicholas II put his hand on the paper to hide the text. Lamsdorff was shocked to find out about the agreement. But once again Russia needed the German friendship and the Bjorko could not be repudiated until the things in the Far East improved. It happened soon thanks to Witte and the American mediation. The US realized that she did not need too strong Japan and was ready to back Saint Petersburg during the peace negotiations that were led by Witte on behalf of the Russians. He played skilfully on American public feelings and raised wide sympathies among the hosts (the negotiations took place in an American sea resort of Portsmouth). Finally the Russians were able to strike a good bargain. Now when the Eastern front was secure, the treaty of Bjorko could be rejected. Lamsdorff and Witte told Nicholas II to enact the well-approved tool of “letting France know first” (and if Paris did not agree, the treaty would not be valid). Nicholas II willingly gave in much to dismay of his cousin. The treaty was nullified. Another test was passed successfully. 
The relations with Great Britain were to be improved pretty soon too. The conference of Algeciras (that solved the Morocco crisis) made clear that if there was any Great Power in Europe that had to be checked, it was Germany. In about a year (August, 1907) an agreement was signed between London and Saint Petersburg that finished with their controversies over Afghanistan, Tibet and Persia. The Great Game was over. A month ago the Russians struck a deal with Japan too that delimitated the zones of influence in Manchuria. The power games were over and so were enmities with Great Britain. During the negotiations with London Izvolsky (the new Russian Foreign Minister) raised the question of the Straits. His counterpart Grey did not make solid promises but was much more positive than probably any other British statesman was over this question. Izvolsky got only positive signals despite the ambiguities that still remained and eventually he got engaged in an adventure that triggered a new European crisis. 
The Straits Revisited
Despite having improved relations with Great Britain, Saint Petersburg kept very cautious stance towards Berlin. Having lost war with Japan Russia needed some period of peace for recovery. This was the first defeat after the Crimean war. But this time Russia did not lose to the coalition of European Great Powers and had much bigger room for manoeuvre than back in 1856 when Russia had to retreat and watch the developments in Europe. Now Russia had to be cautious enough not to be provoked into another war (this time with European Great Power) because she simply could not fight one. Russia had to keep France cautious too simply because the latter could not count on Russia’s help for time being. The question of the Straits still occupied important place in the national security agenda. As long as the Straits were closed, Russia felt safe, but how long Turkey could remain strong enough to keep them closed? The Germans were encroaching in the Near East. The Baghdad railway looked as much bigger threat to Saint Petersburg than the British fleet which would emerge near the Bosporus only if Russians threatened Constantinople. In February 1908 during the cabinet meeting, Izvolsky came up with the idea of launching Anglo-Russian expedition in Turkey. Of course, the Minister was overruled but his rationale was understandable – Turkey was not a reliable guard of the Straits anymore. By that time another railway line was projected (this time by the Austrians) which would connect Austria-Hungary to Aegean Sea (this very project served as the reason for summoning the cabinet meeting) and pose a new threat. However, even if such joint military action was real, it would be a purely British operation (since Russian fleet was still weak), the winner would take it all and Russia would have Great Britain in the Near East. Consequently, Izvolsky’s proposal was rejected. There was no need for it. Russia was lucky that Great Britain was going to block the German encroachment in Turkey too and that unlike Russia the British had some real leverage. So the British would do their business (first of all through financial means) in the Near East and Russia had to be cautious with her erratic Western neighbour. In June 1908 Nicholas II met his British counterpart. Izvolsky that accompanied the Tsar had talks with assistant Foreign Secretary Hardinge. When the latter encouraged the Russian Minister to build a big army as soon as possible and act like arbiters of peace, Izvolsky replied that Russia could not afford to irritate Germany. Hardinge had to agree that the Russians need even more caution than the British. Moreover, Izvolsky told the French that German mobilization against Great Britain did not mean that Franco-Russian alliance had to be enacted too. 
But the Austrian railway project had to be neutralized somehow. The Russians projected an alternative line that would give Serbia access to the sea but Izvolsky could not be content with that. After his negotiations with Grey the Russian diplomat fed himself with the illusions that London would not object Russian control over the Straits since London had a new rival in the form of Germany now. 
Thanks to the victory of the Young Turk revolution (July 1908) Great Britain managed to somehow strengthen positions in Turkey. Foreign Minister of Austria-Hungary Aehrenthal eager for some success decided that it was right time to annex formally Bosnia-Herzegovina – Turkey was still in turmoil but as time passed by she could become stronger and claim Bosnia. After exchanging letters over the situation on the Balkans Aehrental invited Izvolsky to Buchlov (September 1908) and offered a deal – Russia would recognize the Austrian annexation of Bosnia-Herzegovina and Vienna would back Russian plans over the Straits. Izvolsky and Aehrenthal gave different accounts of their conservation. According to Aehrenthal they agreed that Vienna would announce about the annexation in October (as it did). Izvolsky claimed that the question of Bosnia-Herzegovina had to be decided by European conference as well as the question of the Straits and his version sounds more plausible. Of course, Izvolsky understood that Vienna’s permission was not enough for opening the Straits for Russian warships. After Buchlov he went to other European states for solving this issue and on his way to Paris he learned from newspapers that Vienna was going to announce about the annexation. Izvolsky was simply fooled. Besides, he did not find support in London. For the British opening the Straits for Russia meant a conflict with the new Turkey that hopefully would become Great Britain’s strong ally. Izvolsky was repudiated by his government too and all he could do was to demand the summoning of European conference over the Bosnian issue. Here the Germans intervened. Offended with the Russo-English entente they were happy to humiliate Saint Petersburg. They openly promised Vienna full support on the Bosnian question. The statements made by Berlin made it clear that Germany was ready to go to war if necessary. The French let Saint Petersburg know that they definitely did not wish to get involved in the conflict with Germany over the Balkan issues. Vienna refused to submit the Bosnian question to conference despite the fact that Grey supported Izvolsky on this issue. Finally, Russia had to give her way. The triumphant Berlin demanded from Russia official recognition of the annexation. Russia had to give way once again. The German behaviour fully fitted within Eyre Crow’s famous memorandum – there was no logic and no consistency in their policy. If there was any Great Power that acted irrationally in the beginning of 20th century, it was definitely Germany, not Russia. 
Izvolsky, disappointed with his failed project, left the office in September 1910. His successor Sazonov immediately had to face a serious challenge: in November 1910 he accompanied the Tsar who visited Potsdam, Germany. The Russians tried to extract a concession over the Baghdad railway but since Saint Petersburg was in no position to prevent Germany from building the railway, Berlin was not going to compromise for nothing. New German Chancellor Bethman and Foreign Minister Kiderlen drafted the Russo-German agreement which nullified the entente – Russia was not to support any policy hostile to Germany. Any mentioning of such kind of agreement would no doubt infuriate the British and so they could make a deal with Germany (and it nearly happened). But Sazonov masterfully avoided commitments.  Back in Saint Petersburg he gave an interview to one of the leading Russian newspapers and talked about the proposed Russo-German in a way that changed the things – according to Sazonov Russia was not making any serious concessions, quite the opposite. Thus the diplomat sent a clear message to Berlin – the Potsdam draft was unacceptable to Russia. Things became easier for Sazonov when his comments about the negotiations over the Baghdad railway triggered an outburst of resentment among Russian entrepreneurs – in return for recognizing Russian monopoly on railways in North Persia Germany would be allowed to export her goods there which would endanger the Russian positions in the local market. Despite the fact that Sazonov actually rejected the Potsdam project Bethman publicly declared that Russia took obligation not to participate in any anti-German ventures. Both London and Paris reacted fiercely to this statement and Nicholas II had to assure the British Ambassador that Saint Petersburg was not going to make any such kind of a deal with Germany. 
If a deal was to be made it would not divide the entente under any means, it would simply improve Russia’s position – political or economic. In May 1911 the German-French hostility over Morocco was renewed and Europe faced another crisis. The French hardly considered any military action despite some loud statements made within their cabinet. But now the Germans needed Russia’s neutrality and they would compromise over Persia and the Baghdad railway. Izvolsky, now Ambassador in Paris, paid the courtesy back to the French by warning them against any conflict with Germany over colonial issues – the entente would not be enacted unless Germany threatened directly France, not in the colonies but on the continent. It was a rational decision especially that Russia hardly could fight Germany (the reform of the Russian armed forces had just begun) and also it was a brilliant move because Saint Petersburg finally extracted the desired deal from Germany (In August 1911 the agreement over the Baghdad railway and Persia was signed) and also finished with possible Franco-German rapprochement – the French Prime Minister Caillaux was seriously considering a deal with Germany that would be based on Franco-German cooperation over the Baghdad railway. As for the Franco-German rift over Morocco, Germany backed down after the British intervention.  
The question of the Straits re-emerged in September 1911 when Italy declared war on Turkey (Rome had a carte blanche to seize Tripoli). The latter closed the Straits which inflicted a severe blow to the Russian economy. Sazonov, a rational and cool-headed diplomat, was out of his office due to health problems and Izvolsky entered the scene once again. He and Charykov (the Russian Ambassador in Constantinople) persuaded the Tsar that to take the Straits under control now. Turkey was offered to open the Straits for Russian warships. The Russians not being interested in further weakening of Turkey offered Constantinople their support for status quo. It could be a good bargain for the Turks but they were not able to open the Straits without the permission of other Great Powers, first of all Great Britain. The latter opposed: if the Straits were to be opened then not only for Russia. Of course that did not suit the Russians. As for the French, they traditionally would not support their allies unless London was committed too. Charykov still tried to push the issue and exerted further pressure on Constantinople but the frightened Turks appealed to Berlin for help… The affair ended immediately when Sazonov arrived in Paris from Switzerland (where he was undergoing medical treatment) and repudiated Charykov and Izvolsky (as earlier Izvolsky in capacity of Foreign Minister was repudiated by the Prime Minister). “The Charykov’s kite” was one more attempt to solve security matters bilaterally outside the Concert of Europe and it was overruled by the higher authority in Russia. 
The Russian behaviour in the following years made clear once again that if Saint Petersburg feared of something that was of the presence of another Great Power in the Straits first of all. In October 1912 another Balkan war broke out which became a hard test for whole Europe. Serbia and Bulgaria along with Montenegro and Greece attacked Turkey. These two states signed an alliance a few months ago which was viewed in Saint Petersburg as a barrier against Austria-Hungary. Sazonov, a rational man free of any sentiments, definitely did not want the alliance to fight Turkey which still somehow managed to keep the Straits under control. Of course, he and other Russian statesmen understood the potent danger – the text of the agreement made clear that no one else but the dying Ottoman empire would become the target if possible military action – but they did not dare to warn Serbs and Bulgarians against attacking Turkey fearing to alienate their potential allies against Vienna. Sazonov still made his best to curb the Balkan ambitions. He showed the text of the Serbian-Bulgarian agreement to Poincaret, the new French President, definitely hoping that Paris would restrain the alliance from any military action. But Poincaret, an ambitious statesman having decided not to abide any more humiliation of France (like the ones over Morocco), almost pushed Russia towards war. He said that France would intervene if the war provoked by the alliance would involve Germany too (even if Germany would engage herself only in order to protect Austria-Hungary from Russian aggression). No matter what kind of dangers the alliance posed, Poincaret was not going to back down.  
The Russians had to take things as they went. They faced a danger in Turkey but at the same time they had a much stronger French pledge against Germany. By the end (just before the outbreak of another Balkan war) the Great Powers decided to protect themselves from the troubles with the “sheep stealers.”
 Saint Petersburg was echoed by Berlin, Vienna and Paris and the Balkan states were warned against changing status quo. The warning was made by Saint Petersburg and Vienna (symbolizing the fact that peace on the Balkans depended on cooperation between these two powers). But it was too late – the very same day (October 8) the war began. The Russians came under serious pressure – Bulgarians having easily defeated the Turks were approaching Constantinople. At the same time, Vienna alarmed by the Serbian successes was warning Belgrade against seizing ports on the Adriatic. The Austro-Hungarians fearing the irredentist movements on their soil viewed Serbia as the biggest threat to their empire would be happy to seize the opportunity of crushing the rising Slavic state. Saint Petersburg let the Serbians know that she would not engage into a war because of their (Serbian) maritime ambitions. As for the trouble with the Straits, Russia began preparations for war against… Bulgaria. The statesmen in Saint Petersburg understood much better than the statesmen in Sophia that nobody would tolerate Bulgarian occupation of Constantinople and intervention of Great Powers would be imminent. Therefore the Bulgarians were to be stopped by any means. The Slav sentiments did not matter at all if Russian security was put under jeopardy. Eventually Saint Petersburg did have to intervene – the Turks launched a successful counterattack and kept the Straits under their control. At the same time Austria-Hungary was mobilizing and war could begin any moment but Saint Petersburg remained extremely cautious. When the French Minister of war Millerand asked the Russian military agent Ignatyev how Russia was viewing the mobilization announced by Vienna he was answered that Russia did not wish to engage herself into a European war and that despite the importance of Slavic issues Saint Petersburg would care about her interests in the first place. Austria-Hungary finally abstained and the Ambassadors of the Great Powers gathered in London (December, 1912) to discuss the future of the Balkans. Serbia was told to withdraw from the Adriatic coast. Montenegro, persistently continuing the war, finally had to stop too. The Great Powers acted as a concert to finish with the conflict. At the same time, Russia made her best to keep the Straits secure. She resisted the Greek ambitions fearing that it would encroach on Constantinople. 
The peace was breached in June 1913 by Bulgaria that felt the least satisfied with the outcomes of the war (and this feeling was exploited by Vienna). But it had to fight not only Serbia and Greece (that were attacked by Bulgaria) but also Romania and Turkey (they attacked Bulgaria themselves). Once again Vienna considered a military strike against Serbia but this time it was not backed by Germany that had just begun a new reform in the armed forces. Bulgaria lost territories (even to Turkey). Russia, trying to seize the opportunity of regaining influence over Sophia, did her best to protect Bulgarian interests during the conferences that decided the issue of new status quo on Balkans, but it did not work out (other Great Powers were competing for sympathy of other Balkan states and backed their ambitions). In October 1913 the issue of Belgrade’s Adriatic ambitions once again nearly ended in Austro-Hungarian attack on Serbia but in the last moment the Serbians backed down and the peace was saved. 
In November 1913 something happened that finally alienated Russia from Berlin. Following the Turkish request the Germans agreed to reorganize their army. The nightmare was turning true: another Great Power was actually getting into control of the armed forces protecting the Straits. The Russian protests could not change anything. Now the Franco-Russian alliance was even more indispensable.   
WW1
The outbreak of WW1 hardly gives us any reason to doubt anything irrational about Russian foreign policy. Did Saint Petersburg engage herself into what was to become a world war because of Slav sentiments – trying to save Serbia and thus endangering not only herself but also whole Europe? Definitely not. First of all, Sazonov did not care about Panslav ideas at all. Russia had to protect Serbia once again for her own security reasons – this Slav country was the most solid barrier against Austro-Hungarian expansion on the Balkans. By crushing Serbia Vienna would dangerously approach the Straits. The next step to the Straits was Bulgaria – not very faithful ally to Russia. Despite all these the Russians tried to avoid a conflict by telling the Serbs not to provoke Vienna and Berlin and to entrust themselves to the Great Powers. But two of the Great Powers did not want peace – Austria-Hungary declared war on Serbia and Russia had to react somehow. Nicholas II ordered to begin a partial mobilization (only against Austria-Hungary). It soon turned out that Russia could not mobilize only partially. Here the Germans intervened; they warned Saint Petersburg against mobilization and threatened them by war. In parallel to the warning (made by the German Ambassador) Wilhelm II wrote a touching letter to his cousin where he appealed to the family ties. It did not work and Nicholas II soon announced a total mobilization (July 29, 1914). Soon the Tsar received another touching letter from his relative which made him change his mind about the mobilization. But in the very next day Sazonov talked to the Tsar and the mobilization went on its way. The Germans consequently announced war on Russia. 
We can not trace anything irrational in this behaviour. Had Russia stopped the mobilization, not only Serbia but possibly France would be crushed too. The rationale of the famous Schlieffen plan was to squash France before Russia since the latter needed more time for mobilization. And of course, the Germans would welcome further delay in the Russian mobilization. Who would guarantee that Russia would not be attacked by Germany even if she would not honour the alliance with France? The policymakers in Berlin knew that in three years the reorganization of the Russian armed forces would be over and then it would be much more difficult to defeat their big neighbour. The rising Germany already exposed to Ratzel’s concepts about Lebensraum and pursuing Weltpolitik was in increasing need for natural resources which were in abundance on vast territories of Russia. 
There is a great deal written about the reasons of WW1 and the Russian behaviour never came under any question. If anyone has been blamed for irrational policy, it was Germany once again. What could become the subject of bigger scrutiny is the Russian behaviour during the war since the Russians raised the question of the Straits and also there are doubts about possible separate peace with Germany.

The question of the Straits was raised in December 1914 by Grand Duke Nicholas, the commander-in-chief of Russian armed forces. Petrograd (as Saint Petersburg was renamed before the beginning of war) had to change status quo in the Near East after Turkey opened the Straits for the German warships (October 1914) and thus finally stopped to be a reliable guard of Dardanelles and Bosporus. The generous offers that Sazonov made to Constantinople in return for neutrality did not work. Turkey was involved in the conflict despite the unwillingness of some prominent statesmen (and much thanks to the German influence over Turkish armed forces). By closing the Straits for Russia the latter was cut off almost all ties with her allies. Sazonov, who failed not only with Turkey but also with Bulgaria and Romania (they procrastinated and preferred to wait for the entente’s major military success) was urged to gain the Straits by diplomatic means. It worked. The British agreed that Russia had to have Constantinople. The French protested but eventually they had to agree too. The fear of Russo-German peace already haunted both London and Paris. The peace was advocated by no one else but Witte who did not serve the government anymore but still enjoyed a big influence. But hardly Witte advocated the peace for the sake of some Haushoferian continental identity. Being a pragmatic man he feared that war would eventually destroy Russia as a state. He pointed out to the simple fact that the existing regime in Russia was hardly buttressed by anything (legitimate governance, strong state institutions) but the army and therefore Russia simply could not afford losing war. This was Witte’s rationale but no matter what it was, the Tsar and the cabinet intended to fight to the end. Also, it must be mentioned that the Russians also had similar doubts (about possible separate peace with Germany) about Paris. After having a strong dispute with his French counterparts Grand Duke Nicholas seriously feared that France could easily make a bargain with Germany if the latter withdrew beyond the Rhine. The mutual suspects and fears were inevitable in a war of that big scale. Despite the absence of any intentions on behalf of official Petrograd to make a separate peace with Germany, London decided to make the things easier for Russia by reopening the Straits link for her through an attack on Constantinople. In spring 1915 Anglo-French operation was launched in Dardanelles. But this venture alarmed Petrograd – in case of the success Russian isolation would be ended but who could guarantee that the Crimean coalition would not occupy the Straits for good. The fears were exacerbated by the British proposal to use Greek forces for the operation in the Straits – in this case Constantinople could be handed to Greece. Sazonov protested against the Greek participation and this option was ruled out immediately. 
But that was not enough – Russia needed a formal, written (not oral one already given by London) guarantee from her allies that the Straits would go to Russia. Great Britain gave such guarantees but the French protested again. Sazonov threatened with resignation that would “open the way for a proponent of the League of the Three Emperors.”
 Hardly this blackmail was serious – Russia stayed committed to the entente even after Sazonov’s resignation that took place later. In parallel the Tsar proposed the French the left bank of Rhine and also huge compensations in Southern territories of Turkey. The French finally gave way (April, 1915) and the Russian dream looked to be fulfilled, she was to take over the Straits as soon as the war was over. However as the allied operation in the Straits failed, Russia stayed almost isolated and her position was becoming more and more critical that finally ended up in revolution. 
The Germans also realized the crucial importance that Petrograd attached to the Straits. In early 1915 they offered Russia Constantinople in return for her neutrality. The Russians were approached through Maria Vasilchikova, lady in waiting at the Russian court. Already in February 1915 she wrote to Petrograd about her meeting with some high ranking officials (two of them Germans and one Austrian) who told her that the question of the Straits would be solved in favour of the Russian interests. In March 1915 Vasilchikova apparently fearing that her letter did not reach the addressee (actually it did – the Tsar read the letter and showed it to Sazonov too) wrote once again and repeated the account of her meeting with German and Austrian officials. She also added that according to the secret information disclosed to her Great Britain was going to occupy the Straits and turn them into a new Gibraltar. All the Tsar had to do under these circumstances was to offer peace to Berlin and Vienna and then raise the question of the Straits. It was a serious temptation. Germany in fact controlled the Straits not Great Britain and France that had not pledged them to Russia yet (as we already know, it had to happen in April). But still the offer was rejected (in fact, Vasilchikova’s letters were simply ignored) proving once again that official Petrograd did not consider a separate peace. The control over the Straits and balance of power in Europe – that was what Russia apparently cared about. Sazonov did his best to strengthen Serbia as a future barrier on the Balkans against any anti-Russian Great Power. Russia protected Serbia’s interests despite the fact that Italy demanded whole Dalmatia in return for joining the entente. London and Paris were willing to meet this demand but the Russians protested and finally had their way. Italy would gain only a part of Dalmatia and the rest would go to Serbia. By doing this Sazonov also hoped that the greater Serbia would more easily cede Macedonia to Bulgaria and the latter would join the entente too. It turned out to be a wrong calculation but still Sazonov played a masterful balance of power game.

By the end of 1914 the German military planners decided that they had to break the deadlock and for this purpose Russia had to be knocked out of the war. In late April 1915 Germany launched a massive attack on the Eastern front. The Russians had to withdraw from Poland (July, 1915). It was a huge blow to the empire but the Tsar and the cabinet still did not consider any separate peace. In May Vasilchikova wrote another letter to Petrograd where she gave account of her meeting with German Foreign Minister Jagow. The latter talked about the danger that the war posed to both dynasties (a self-fulfilling prophecy) and that the conflict was instigated by masons who hated the both courts. Once again Great Britain was portrayed as a treacherous ally that was going “to attack Russia as soon as the peace was restored in Europe.” This note also was ignored as well as another “peacemaking” letter received in April from Duke of Hessen, the brother of the Russian empress.
 The German origins of the empress bred not a few talks about the secret negotiations over peace conducted by her. However, these rumours are not sustained by anything but hollow speculations. Even if she took some secret steps we are not aware about, her royal husband and the Russian cabinet did not give any reason for suspecting them attempts of making a separate peace. In December 1915 Vasilchikova arrived in Russia (her mother’s death served for the reason of her visit). Apparently she was not able to see the royal couple but she was admitted to Sazonov. The latter listened without any emotion to her talks about “treacherous Great Britain and Russo-German bonds” and later reported the Tsar about the meeting. Nicholas II got extremely angry at the lady in waiting. Vasilchikova was deprived of her title and sent to some Russian province. Later (already under the provisional government) she managed to migrate to Sweden.
But the events of 1916 somehow sustain the speculations of possible Russo-German peace. In July Sazonov was dismissed and Sturmer (the Prime Minister) took his office. Great Britain was seriously alarmed by Sazonov’s dismissal who was viewed as a statesmen not only firmly committed to the entente but also firmly committed to the Western rules of international politics in general – one of the true Westerners among the Russian diplomats. As for Sturmer, not a few historians regard him as an advocate of a separate peace with Germany. So does it mean that the Tsar appointed Sturmer because he strived for a separate peace? It has never been proved simply because in November 1915 Berlin and Vienna announced about the establishment of “independent” Poland thus killing any possible chances of mollifying Russia. But maybe the peace would take place had not Russia suffered such an affront? 
Let us begin from the reasons of dismissing Sazonov. The correspondence between the Tsar and his spouse make clear that the court was unhappy with the way Sazonov handled the Bulgarian issue (in October 1915 Sophia sided with Germany and Austria-Hungary). But it did not play a crucial role in Sazonov’s dismissal. He made his best with Bulgaria but Russia as well as the whole entente simply could not offer Sophia as much as the Central Powers could. Nicholas II no doubt understood it and he would not get rid off his Minister for this failure. Sazonov fell victim to his attitude towards the Polish question. He feared that Poland was attracting too much attention from Russia’s allies. Great Britain and France needing to justify the devastating war come up with the slogans of “fighting for democracy and for liberation of small nations.” Poland, the traditional sphere of French interests, could become one of such small nation. Besides, Russia’s allies could be alarmed by discussions launched in Berlin about Poland’s future (which eventually ended up into announcing “independent” Poland) and they could be driven by desire to do themselves something about Poland’s status and thus prevent German steps in this direction. In order to prevent such steps on behalf not only Berlin but also London and Paris, Russia had to do something about Poland and do it as soon as possible. Sazonov considered three options: the independent Poland, Polish kingdom within the Russian empire and some form of self-governance. Sazonov recommended the second option, a medium one. But neither the Tsar nor the cabinet did accept his view. Sturmer wrote that Russia was doing her best in fighting the enemies of the entente and under those circumstances her allies hardly would allow themselves to intervene into Russia’s internal affairs and raise the Polish question. Sazonov’s recommendation sounded as a shock. The Foreign Minister that advocated the Polish autonomy could no longer stay in the office. As for Sturmer, he had the point. 
So Sazonov definitely was not dismissed for his good ties with the entente. But was Sturmer really in favour of a separate peace with Germany? There is no proof for it. In fact, there is hardly against Sturmer except his German family name. Richard Pipes has rightly noted that his appointment demonstrated that the Tsar and his aides hardly had any notion of popular feelings and public opinion
. The Russian society already hostile to the court due to the empress’ German origins definitely was not happy with the appointment of “another German.” 
Sturmer was reported to be close to infamous Rasputin who advocated a separate peace. This was apparently true but at the same time according to reliable sources Rasputin reacted very negatively when he learned about Sturmer’s appointment. There is also one more argument against Sturmer: the German and Austrian newspapers welcomed him in capacity of Foreign Minister. He was hailed as a man who could make a peace. But the following events did not prove these speculations in any way. Except the “indirect evidences” there is nothing against Sturmer – nothing in his statements or his writings that would expose him as a pro-German statesman. 
What contributed most heavily to the establishment of Sturmer’s reputation as a “pro-German traitor” was the famous Milyukov speech delivered in the State Duma (November 1, 1916). Milyukov, one of the outstanding Russian politicians threw shocking accusations in address of Sturmer. Apart from citing German newspapers that hailed Strurmer’s appointment he said that according to information he received during his recent visits to Paris and London the Central Powers now had an access to the most classified documents in Petrograd (which they did not have when Sazonov was in the office). Softly speaking, this was a slight exaggeration. Later in his memoirs Milyukov admitted that he did not have anything against Sturmer. He was acting as a politician whose target was the throne and Sturmer was the weakest point of the throne. The speculations about disclosing secret information to Berlin or Vienna was not sustained by anything and anyway they sounded too unreal.

Infuriated Sturmer wanted to dismiss Duma and take Milyukov under arrest but the Tsar backed down. Duma was one of his personal achievements. Besides, Milyukov’s speech was leaked to the public (the government banned its dissemination but it was printed on a type-writer and distributed in Petrograd) and had a stunning effect – the Russian public could not tolerate the “German traitor.” The Tsar had to dismiss Sturmer. The latter died soon having spent the rest of his life in extremely depressed state of mind. It is quite clear that he hardly planned any separate peace and even if he did, Nicholas II did not consider this peace at all. The Russian throne fought to the end with the enemy only to be overthrown in early 1917 by the revolution. 
This was the end of the Tsardom. We can state that on the whole the Russian policy of the period that we already covered was rational and sound. The ideologies never were allowed to override the national interests and Russia played the same balance of power games the other European Great Powers did. So our first half of hypothesis is sustained. 
Part 2. Russian Empire as the Soviet Union

The Peace of Brest

We will begin directly with the first test of the Bolshevik Russia – the peace of Brest. Before the February revolution, which toppled the Tsar, and the Bolshevik revolution we have a brief period – Russia under the provisional government. But there is hardly anything to analyze there. The provisional government remained committed to the entente and in summer 1917 launched a major offensive against the Central Powers. However the offensive failed. The loss seriously shook the positions of the provisional government that was toppled by the Bolsheviks through coup d’etat of November 7.
But November 7 did not give Bolsheviks ultimate power over Russia. The civil war was to continue for years. Having conducted a coup d’etat the Bolsheviks reasonably feared that they would be overthrown too. Strengthening their positions, keeping themselves in power – that became their main concern for the near future and this concern shaped their foreign policy too.   
The peace of Brest can be viewed as some kind of bandwagoning with Germany. Lots of critics of the Bolsheviks assert that Lenin deprived Russia of the well-deserved victory. Germany was to lose the war and if not separate peace Russia would gain a lot, including the control over the Straits. In fact any government in Petrograd that cared about Russia’s national interests would try to continue the war. But that was not true about the Bolsheviks who cared about their power in the first place and who viewed the international affairs in a way totally different from previous Russian rulers: the Russian revolution would inspire all nations, the working classes would overthrow their oppressors and international relations as such would become a part of history. Leon Trotsky, the first commissar for foreign affairs, the one who masterminded and managed the coup d’etat, believed that all he needed was to “issue a few revolutionary proclamations to the peoples of the world and then close up shop.”
 The shops (ministries of foreign affairs) would be closed not only in Russia but everywhere. 
On the very next day after the coup d’etat Lenin issued so called Declaration of Peace. According to this initiative all hostilities had to be stopped and peace “without any indemnities and annexations” had to be restored. Such peace was definitely in Russian interests since the country had suffered major setbacks in the war and consequently had lost some territories too. However, Lenin was smart enough to know that no countries would accept his proposal. At the same time he was dreaming of the world revolution which hardly could take place in peace and prosperity – it was the war and hardship that could make the world revolution possible. So Lenin was playing a full proof game. As the entente rejected Lenin’s initiative the leader of Bolsheviks had his hands untied – now he could negotiate a peace with the Central Powers. 
The negotiations between Russia and Germany began on November 20, in Brest. The Russian delegation was headed by Adolph Joffe, Trotsky’s close aide. The Germans were surprised by their interlocutors who behaved as if it was Russia who won the war. The Bolsheviks once again asked for peace based on principle of no annexations and indemnities. The Germans who wanted no less than dismemberment of the Russian empire and taking control over its vast natural resources, agreed to the request on one condition – other belligerents had to agree on peace on the same principles. Of course, nobody jumped up to this proposal and so the Germans continued to negotiate the peace favourable to their interests. The Bolsheviks on their side tried to avoid discussions on concrete terms and kept on exclaiming ideological slogans. They did not want to cede any part of Russian territory, at the same time they were trying to procrastinate – they believed that time was on their side; before they negotiated, the Bolshevik propaganda would trigger the revolution in Europe (including Germany of course) and then it was Russia who would be the winner. The Germans eventually became fed up with their interlocutors and became much more assertive. Under these conditions Trotsky himself arrived in Brest (December 1917). By that time the Germans had established separate ties with Kiev and later the Central Powers recognized Ukraine as an independent state. Trotsky protested in vain. The Germans told him that Russia had to cede territories occupied by the Central Powers. Trotsky went back to Petrograd where the Bolshevik leadership had to gather for finding a solution.
Lenin backed the peace. He had fewer illusions now about the world revolution. It could not happen for months and by that time the Bolsheviks could be toppled by Germany. A group of Bolsheviks headed by Bukharin backed negotiations in parallel with guerrilla war against German troops and revolutionary propaganda in Europe. Trotsky was for “no war, nor peace.” According to his plan Russia had to withdraw from hostilities unilaterally and in this case the Germans would capture Russians territories without Russian approval and consequently without any legal ground. Finally the majority of Bolsheviks backed Trotsky’s plan. On January 15, 1918 Trotsky was back in Brest where he continued to procrastinate. When the Germans presented their list of conditions the commissar for foreign affairs declared that Russia was withdrawing from war and he himself headed to Petrograd. Now the Germans understood the games that the Bolsheviks played. In February they resumed hostilities and headed deep into Russian territories. Lenin desperately kept on asking his aides to agree to peace and finally he got his way thanks to support from Trotsky. The Germans were immediately notified that the Bolsheviks were willing to sign a peace but it was not that simple. The Germans infuriated with the Bolshevik behaviour in Brest ignored appeals for peace and continued their advance into Russia. Now when the Bolsheviks were at risk of being overthrown they appealed to the entente for help. The French were responsive and the Bolsheviks were ready to accept their assistance without any reservations. Lenin and his aides did not care who helped them as long as they were allowed to stay in power. No doubt, the Bolsheviks would resist the Germans with the French support but by that time Germans finally replied to the Russian note – they would sign the peace but of course on much more worse conditions for Russia. The Bolsheviks had to gather once again and Lenin eventually got his way thanks to his threats to resign if the peace was not signed. Trotsky went to Brest and on March 3 the peace was made. 
The peace of Brest was definitely a shame for the Bolsheviks but we can hardly find any influence of any ideology that made their policy irrational. Of course, their belief that the revolution would engulf whole Europe distorted their calculations but due to the Bolshevik ideology they did not give advantage to Germany over France or anyone else. They made a peace with Germany in order to stay in power. Even after signing the peace treaty Lenin did not trust Germany at all and in early March he ordered to move the Bolshevik government to Moscow. By that time he had dispatched Kamenev, one of the top Bolsheviks, to Paris as a special envoy (so big was Lenin’s desire to forge ties with France) but due to the peace of Brest the envoy was not warmly accepted by the French. After signing the peace of Brest Lenin and Trotsky talked to Great Britain and the US too about possible military assistance. “Most possibly the upcoming meeting of the Soviets will not approve the peace treaty with Germany”, 
- Trotsky wrote to the American government and asked if Russia could count on the US in such case. It was an admirable lie – hardly there was any chance that the meeting of the Soviets would go against Lenin’s will and would not approve the treaty. Trotsky simply wanted a military assistance against Germany in case the latter violated the peace terms and resumed hostilities against the Bolshevik Russia. The British were told the same lies – the meeting of Soviets would reject the peace treaty and announce war on Germany, so Russia would have to rely on military assistance from the entente and the US.  Following the Bolshevik appeals for help The Anglo-French squadron landed in Murmansk on March 14. Moscow protested against this action only to please the Germans – in parallel the Bolsheviks secretly assured the entente that they welcomed the intervention. 
As it easily could be predicted, the meeting of the Soviets approved the treaty. London and Washington consequently decided not to help the Bolsheviks but the allies did not cut all ties with Moscow altogether. Following another request from Trotsky (May 21), already a commissar for defence, the entente decided to help the Bolsheviks with reorganizing the armed forces. Murmansk (and also Arkhangelsk) would be occupied by their forces (these ports were the only possible routes for communicating with Russia and they had to be kept out of German control). Moscow felt very comfortable with any kind of assistance no matter which “imperialist” country provided it.
But all negotiations with the entente were terminated when (the mid of May) the Germans promised the Russians that terms of the peace treaty would not be violated no more  and that the Bolshevik government would be treated friendly. The sides exchanged with diplomatic missions soon. Joffe became the first Soviet Ambassador to Germany and the first Soviet Ambassador as such. He immediately established necessary ties in Berlin ties and launched communist propaganda. Thus Germany became the first country where communism was being exported. Joffe’s subversive activities eventually became a pretext for breaking off diplomatic relations with Russia in October – by that time Berlin became fed up with Bolsheviks and understood that by unleashing Lenin and strengthening the Soviets Germany had seriously damaged its reputation. 
All the Bolsheviks cared about was there positions. They were happy to cooperate with Germany as long as she did not threat them. The entente was engaged only when the Bolsheviks felt such a threat. Lenin and his aides believed that Germany would finally win the war – in September 1918 when Germany had left only a few weeks before her defeat the Russians sent to Germany goods valued at 312.5 million deutsch marks. It was done under the additional point to the peace of Brest which was signed as late as August 27. The shipment could be delayed for a few weeks without any complications but obviously the Bolsheviks did not expect Germany to lose WW1. They needed Berlin because they feared her – only the Germans could topple them and only they (as the future winners of WW1) could protect them. When on August 1 an entente squadron landed in Arkhangelsk (as it was agreed before with Moscow), the Bolsheviks panicked (they decided that the entente troops had arrived to overthrow their government) and even invited the German intervention. They had to save themselves and then, when they had won in Russia, they would begin to export communism to the rest of the world and finally become the masters of the universe and under these circumstances would benefit much more then in case of winning over Germany (the prospect they did not believe in). They clearly did not want to cede territories belonging to the Russian empire but it was only a temporary measure, soon the revolution would be spread everywhere and the peace of Brest would render obsolete.
The peace of Brest rendered obsolete but that happened only because Germany lost the war. It allowed Bolsheviks gradually to regain control over the lost territories. By that time they won the civil war as well and emerged as the new masters of the Russian empire.  
The First Attempts of Exporting Communism

In March 1919 the Bolsheviks founded Comintern. The latter was to serve a major too for coordinating activities of communist parties of the entire world. The ultimate goal of Comintern was the victory of world revolution and the establishment of a new world order with its new centre in Moscow.
Never before the Russian foreign policy was under such ideological pressure. As a result the first years of the Bolshevik rule are marked by naïveté and lack of realistic assessment. It is especially true of the war with Poland that broke out in April 1920. The Poles led by Pilsudsky launched a major offensive against the Red Army and captured Kiev. Pilsudsky, as a head of newly emerged independent Poland, wanted to weaken Russia for a long term. Before the Bolsheviks were still struggling within the country the Poles could seize Russia’s Western and Southern parts (Ukraine, Byelorussia) and turn them into buffer zones. But In early June the Russians not only repelled the attack but seized the initiative and pushed the Poles out of Ukraine. Pilsudsky’s army had to retreat. Here Curzon, British Foreign Secretary and the architect of the famous Curzon Line (that temporarily served as an Eastern boundary for Poland), intervened and warned Russia against invading the Polish territory. Lenin backed by Stalin advocated continuation of hostilities. He believed that the emergence of the Red Army would trigger revolution in Poland and then in neighbouring countries too. Namely, Lenin later spoke that by capturing Warsaw the Bolsheviks would unsettle the system of international imperialism. Warsaw was the road to revolution in Germany, Great Britain and everywhere. “By crushing the Polish army we will crush the Versailles order,” – said Lenin
. So Curzon’s note was rejected (rather politely) and the Red Army went on. 
The plans for the world revolution can explain the inadequate steps made by Lenin and Stalin during the decisive phase of campaign when the Red Army was to capture Warsaw.
 At that very moment the Soviet troops were dispersed – some of them moved to the North-West and some to the South. The North-West direction aimed East Prussia and the Polish Corridor because Lenin believed that “Germany was boiling.”
 Germany, as the biggest continental country that had suffered a defeat in WW1 and had to accept the humiliating peace of Versailles, was an ideal bridgehead first for establishing a communist order and later to export communism from there to the rest of Europe. The German communists needed help and there were the Soviet troops. Other Soviet troops moved to the South for invading later Czechoslovakia or Romania. But here Pilsudsky launched a counterattack (August 16), that was to be called “the miracle at Vistula,” and overran the Russians. The Red Army retreated chaotically and Moscow had to accept peace which gave the Poles territories beyond the Curzon Line. 
It has been already proved that the Bolsheviks themselves were planning an offensive against Poland and Pilsudsky simply took them by surprise. So Lenin and his aides believed that it was a right time for exporting the revolution. But the defeat at Vistula taught the Bolsheviks first lesson – the Russian army was not a good tool for exporting revolution. Lenin was surprised to see that the Polish peasants and workers instead of joining the “liberating Red Army” fought against it. Nationalistic feelings overrode any other sentiments when the Poles saw Russian invaders. 
The Bolsheviks miscalculated since their judgements were based on communism theories and neglected common sense. The hopes of triggering revolution on the continent made Moscow disperse the Soviet troops and it ended in a disaster. So here we are definitely witnessing a negative influence of ideology over policy. However, it was not foreign policy influenced as much as it was strategic planning. 
The Bolsheviks made another step which somehow can be considered a miscalculation. In April 1920 Mustafa Kemal, then the leader of nationalistic, non-recognized Ankara government, wrote to Lenin that “Turkey would fight jointly with Soviet Russia against imperialist governments.”
 Kemal never cared about ideals of communism but as Turkey was abandoned by traditional allies he desperately needed some foreign assistance for saving what was left from the Ottoman empire. Kemal was facing an imminent  threat in the form of Greek armies backed by Great Britain (once Turkey’s protector) and something had to be done. Moscow jumped up to this idea: in June Soviet Russia recognized Kemal’s government and soon began to supply it with arms and money. In return the Bolsheviks had a free hand in the South Caucasus which in February 1921 (when Georgia was occupied by Red Army) was fully reintegrated into the Russian empire. So the Bolsheviks did not support Kemal for nothing – another region was back under the Russian rule. Besides, in March 1921 the Russians and the Turks signed a treaty in Moscow which gave the states bordering the Black Sea an exclusive right to determine the status of the Straits. 

At the first glance it was a triumph for Moscow. Like the Tsarist government, the Bolsheviks would prefer to see Turkey in control of the Straits instead of some Great Power (in 1920 it could be Great Britain that backed Greece). Thanks to the treaty of Moscow all of the Western Great Powers were excluded now from the question of the Straits. As for Turkey herself, Kemal introduced himself as a man fighting against imperialism. So Turkey had the only way to go – to the communism under the Russian guidance. But before signing the treaty of Moscow Kemal made quite clear that he would not tolerate communists on his soil. In January 1921 a group of leading Turkish communists (some of them dispatched by Moscow) was found dead (later, in 1923 Turkey like the Soviet Union turned into one party dictatorship but this party was republican, not a communist one). Despite the assassination of the Turkish communists Moscow could be only happy to strike a new deal over the Straits. But it is very strange that the Bolsheviks did not expect the Western powers to intervene and revise the new status quo even if Kemal would turn out to be a real communist after winning war for the new Turkey. It was also strange that the Bolsheviks trusted Kemal that much and did not expect him to rebuild ties with the West as it happened quite soon. In February 1923 a treaty was signed in Lausanne which provided a freedom of navigation in the Straits and created demilitarized zone on the shores of the Straits under the joint guarantees of Great Britain, France, Italy and Japan. Once again Russia was not the only Great Power in the Straits. Moscow was shocked with the treaty of Lausanne and never ratified it. 
But on the other hand the Bolsheviks hardly had another choice except backing Kemal. Otherwise they could have Western military presence in Constantinople. They simply made their best to guarantee security in the Straits but it did not work out as it never did under Tsardom – the treaty of Moscow was just another attempt to solve the question of the Straits in bilateral way excluding Europe. Kemal’s “anti-imperialist” statements made the Bolsheviks believe that this time this attempt would work. This time Turkey itself looked to be more willing to cooperate with Russia than it was before. But Kemal turned out not to be a communist; he was willing and happy to cooperate with the West too if the latter recognized his Turkey. 
The Kemal case is less vivid example of distorting calculations under influence of communism. But still we can see that Moscow’s first steps in foreign policy suffered from some naïveté which made them ineffective and (as in case with Poland) even disastrous.  
Otherwise the Bolsheviks played quite masterful games aimed at extrication of other Great Powers from Russia’s neighbourhood. In 1920 the Red Army invaded the North Iran for supporting the local rebels. Soon a Soviet republic emerged on the ground which was formally controlled by the Soviet Azerbaijan (and not to the Soviet Russia which allowed the latter to avoid responsibility for the developments in the North Iran). In February 1921 Moscow and Tehran struck a landmark agreement according to which the Red Army left Iranian territories but at the same time the British troops had to leave Iran too. Iran as obliged not to allow foreign troops on its soil but at the same time Russia enjoyed a privilege to enter Iranian territory whenever she considered necessary. Communism served as a weapon for making a neighbour more compliant – the Soviet republic in the North Iran disappeared as soon as Iran agreed to oust the British troops present there since WW1 (for protecting the British sphere of influence from Turkey). It was a great achievement since London wanted to turn Iran into her satellite. Moscow succeeded in a due manner with Afghanistan too. The latter fought for its independence with Great Britain, received assistance from the Soviet Russia and ultimately became a neutral state. 
After the disaster at Warsaw the Bolsheviks chose more delicate ways for exporting communism. In 1921 they helped organize the first congress of the Chinese communist party. Soon Sun Yat-sen, the leader of Chinese nationalists who was to become the father of the new China, was approached by Adolph Yoffe. The latter offered communist-kuomintang cooperation that implied assistance in training new Chinese leaders and did not mean encroaching on China. Sun Yat-sen willingly accepted the proposal and the Bolsheviks easily gained a foot in the kuomintang camp. The Wampoa military academy was one of the most successful outcomes of the communist-kuomintang cooperation. It is difficult to say how the cooperation would develop if not Chiang Kai-shek, the first superintendent of the academy and the successor of Sun Yat-sen who waited for the earliest opportunity to squeeze the communists out of the Chinese soil altogether (to be discussed bellow). 
From Rapallo to the Manchurian Crisis
In the early 20-ies the Bolsheviks still feared a joint capitalist intervention into the Soviet Russia. Splitting up the possible “imperialist alliance” was one of the major tasks of the Soviet foreign policy. The problem was that the new Russian regime was isolated and so the Bolshevik diplomacy hardly was capable of undertaking this job. But thanks to the decision of the entente powers Russia, as well as Germany, Austria, Bulgaria and Hungary (the losers of WW1) was admitted to the conference of Genoa (April-May, 1922) that gave the Bolsheviks a first opportunity for realizing their plans.
The economic issues were to dominate the conference. The entente powers wanted to make Germany more compliant ober reparations and wanted the Soviet Russia to honour the Tsarist debts. Consequently they hoped that Russia would demand her share in German reparations. That made Germany fear of Russo-Franco-British connection. Russia on her side feared that Germany would join the entente powers over Tsarist debts’ question. 

Before leaving for Genoa the Russian delegation visited Berlin. Here they made their first attempt of splitting up the “imperialist states:” the Germans were offered to renounce mutually all debts and establish diplomatic relations with each other. The Germans were careful. First they accepted the offer with a condition that Russia would refuse Tsarist debts to all other countries.  The Bolsheviks did not like this condition apparently because it left less room for their manoeuvring. If they wanted to split up the “imperialist states” they needed a free hand in dealing with all of them. Besides, the Germans soon revealed that they did not promise to endorse such agreement at all. At the same time the German press covered the expected deal too vigorously which made the Bolsheviks suspect that Berlin was not going to discuss seriously such kind of a treaty and the latter was highlighted in order frighten Paris and London with possible German-Russian separate deal and thus harden their negotiating positions in Genoa. 
So the Russian delegation left for Genoa without making any deal with Berlin. In Genoa Chicherin, the new commissar for foreign affairs, surprised his counterparts with talks about a worldwide congress that would discuss issues of disarmament. This was only the beginning of the infamous communist propaganda for peace that would last up to the collapse of the Soviet Union. Chicherin stated that discussing economic questions hardly made any sense as long as the threat of new war was not eliminated altogether. The peace speeches served two goals: first, to distract the attention from the question of reparations and second, to picture the new Russia as a pacifist country that posed no threat to anyone (so that the “imperialist states” would find it extremely hard to justify their attack against Russia if necessity for such attack would occur). But the counterparts (especially the French) were only annoyed by these talks. They wanted to discuss the Tsarist debts – if the Bolsheviks did not honour the old liabilities the future economic cooperation with Russia would come under a big question. The Bolsheviks procrastinated and made their best to avoid any concrete talks on the Tsarist debts. At some point Chicherin began to consider some sort of compromise but the Kremlin did not back his initiative. Lenin wrote to Chicherin that he (Lenin) believed that “they (the democracies – T.Sh.) were dissolving while we (the Soviets – T.Sh.) were strengthening.”
 So the Soviet delegation had to continue the game.   When after days of fruitless talks they were pressed to the wall and were asked simply to say “yes” or “no” the Bolsheviks said they had to consult Moscow. On the next day Chicherin had to give some concrete answer to the French and the British. But that next day was Sunday, so the Bolsheviks could evade the discussions on pretext of having a rest. Chicherin decided not to lose that day. On Sunday early morning he called the Germans and asked for a meeting. The Germans had plenty of reasons for being unhappy with the conference. Lloyd George, the British Prime Minister, neglected three times the German requests for meeting and the discussions over tsarist debts were held without their (German) participation. So the Germans jumped up to the opportunity they snubbed in Berlin a little earlier. On Sunday (April 16, 1922) the Russian and German delegations agreed to establish diplomatic relations and renounce all claims against each other. The “imperialist states” were split up – Germany had no claims and it would be much harder for Paris and London to press Russia on question of Tsarist debts. Germany herself was happy that Russia did not claim war reparations. 
The Russo-German cooperation would continue and develop for the upcoming years. Thanks to the cooperation the Germans secretly enjoyed access to the Russian military academies and bases where they were trained. If the Rapallo agreement can be easily explained by rational calculations – Germany was the only county that would agree with such a deal with Russia – the secret military cooperation is much more complicated phenomena. Why would be Moscow interested in strengthening the German armed forces? Maybe the Soviets in return enjoyed access to the German military technologies but could it justify the risk? Certainly the Bolsheviks did not view Germany as a buffer state between Russia and the “imperialist coalition.” There were more than enough buffer states in Russia’s immediate neighbourhood that emerged after WW1. Did the Bolsheviks view Germany as a possible ally against the “imperialist coalition?” Difficult to say; Berlin and Moscow had no agreement obliging for military assistance. In 1926 they signed an agreement on friendship and neutrality which once again did not oblige Germany to come to Russia’s help. Moreover, the Bolsheviks were well aware that German economy was badly dependant on Western loans and so Berlin, even if she considered necessary to protect Russia, would hardly risk war with Great Britain or France. 
The most logical explanation of the Russian motives is outlined by Victor Suvorov, the author of scandalous Icebreaker. According to Suvorov’s version, Moscow was rearming Germany in order to instigate a new global conflict in Europe. The humiliated Germany was dreaming of avenge. The outbreak of another war in Europe was in the interests of the Soviet Russia. The imperialists would fight among each other thus leaving the Bolsheviks alone. If the war continued for too long then Moscow could count on much more – on world revolution. The liberating Red Army would march onto the devastated Europe and bring peace and hope (along with new social order) to the peoples of Germany, France and Italy disappointed and fed up with capitalism. 
Understandingly enough even after Rapallo Stalin’s foreign policy in 20-es was dominated by fear of capitalist intervention. These fears and suspicions of being isolated were deepened after Locarno treaty (October, 1925), that was negotiated and signed without Soviet participation, and Germany’s admission to the League of Nations (September, 1926). In 1926-27 Moscow signed neutrality agreements with Lithuania, Estonia and Latvia thus partly securing the Western borders. In twelve years these states were to be annexed by the Soviet Union but in 20-ies Moscow only wanted them not to be used as bridgeheads in a capitalist crusade against the Soviets. This fear may explain vigorous activities of Comintern in Europe and beyond. However, the activities sometimes were exaggerated. For example, in late 1924 the cabinet of Ramsay Macdonald fell a victim to the Zinoviev Letter scandal. The letter, which turned out to be forgery, called for an armed rebellion in Great Britain and it deeply shocked the British public opinion (Zinoviev was a head of Comintern and hardly anyone, except Macdonald, could suspect that the letter was fake). Of course, there were “genuine activities” too. In 1926 London learned that Moscow supported the British miners’ strike; a little later Comintern was suspected in anti-British activities undertaken in China. Fed up with these surprises the British cabinet broke off diplomatic relations with the Soviet Union in 1927.  Stalin pictured the decision of London as preparation for invasion into the Soviet Union. It is difficult to say whether Stalin really believed in such a perspective. When in May 1929 the new British cabinet under MacDonald initiated talks for restoring diplomatic relations with Moscow, it found extremely hard to negotiate with the Soviet diplomats. As it later turned out Stalin prescribed his diplomats to behave aggressively and denounce MacDonald’s cabinet by appealing to workers of the whole world (despite the fact that MacDonald and his Labour cabinet were disposed quite friendly towards Moscow). This ideological fervour can be explained by the British demand to clarify all bilateral controversies (debts, nationalized assets belonging before to the British citizens) before restoring diplomatic relations. Stalin prescription most possibly was a tactical manoeuvre that was to make the British more compliant. These tactics worked and in October 1929 the British-Soviet diplomatic relations were restored without any preconditions. The activities of Comintern can be viewed in a same manner – the subversions in Great Britain and in China were to distract London from the capitalist crusade against the Soviet Union; having problems at home and in the back-yard the British would find difficult to engage in war against Moscow. Especially that in parallel the Bolsheviks endlessly agitated for peace and disarmament thus mobilizing world opinion in defence of the Soviet Union. In late 1927 at the meeting of the Preparatory Commission for a Disarmament Conference (a body created under the League of Nations) the Soviet representative Maxim Litvinov declared that there were no plans necessary for genuine disarmament and all that the participant states had to do was to simply disarm. The Soviet Union was the first country that endorsed the Briand-Kellog Pact. Chicherin from the beginning viewed this pact suspiciously (first of all because the pact was negotiated once again without Moscow’s participation) and even interpreted it as “a preparation for war against the Soviet Union.”
 But as soon as Moscow was invited to join the pact, it jumped up to this opportunity. In February 1929 (when the pact was still was not endorsed by its participants) Moscow issued Litvinov Protocol for the Renunciation of War
 that was immediately joined by Poland, Romania and the Baltic states. Litvinov, a future commissar for foreign affairs, engaging gentleman fluent in English, was to serve as a symbol for communist peace propaganda for almost a decade (before being replaced by Molotov). 
The obsession with possible capitalist intervention is one more example how the Kremlin’s visions were distorted by the communist ideology. At the same time the strategy that the Bolsheviks pursued for deterring the imperialist crusade (however incredible such perspective was) was based on rational and cold-blooded calculations and was not affected by ideologies. As Soviet diplomat Radovsky admitted, the Kremlin’s foreign policy was not “based on any program” and was “formed under the influence of daily events and circumstances
.”  
As for Litvinov, he succeeded in improving relations with France, a former entente ally. The Soviet-French negotiations that gained momentum in early 1930 resulted not only in the bilateral non-aggression pact (November, 1932) but also the similar agreements of Moscow with the Baltic States, Poland and Finland. It happened because Paris was interested in strengthening positions of her Eastern European partners. The Soviet Union secured her Western frontiers and once again highlighted her peaceful stance. Besides, Moscow cherished hopes that Franc would assist Soviet Union with accessing the League of Nations which would become one more important step for breaking the isolation.
The Soviet Union foreign policy was to face a tough test in late 1931 with the Japanese intervention into Manchuria. Moscow selected extremely cautious stance vis-à-vis Japan and it was understandable. Even in 1920 Lenin revealed his fear about possible clash with the Japanese armed forces (understandable concerns allegedly stemming from memories of 1904-05 and still unsafe positions of the Soviet Russia and Bolsheviks). When the Red Army finally routed admiral Kolchak’s (one of the leaders of so called White Movement) troops and approached the Siberian regions occupied by the Japanese (in accordance with the decision made by the entente powers and the US), Lenin urged restrain and soon the buffer entity, so called Far Eastern Republic, emerged that divided Soviet Russia from Japan and its spheres if influence. Now when the Soviet Union was undergoing rearmament and industrialization, Moscow definitively did not need any conflict with Japan especially that the Western powers did not take any serious measures for containing Tokyo short of diplomatic notes. The West was tolerating the Japanese aggression for different reasons. One of the reasons definitely was the Great Depression that made Tokyo almost indispensable trade partner. But another reason definitely was the fear of the Russian expansion into the Far East. This fear could be revived back in 1929 when the Soviet troops intervened into Manchuria after local governor took under the control the fragment of the Chinese Eastern railway. Now Japan controlled Manchuria could contain the Soviet expansion, Japan would simply balance the Soviet Union. The Soviet leaders obsessed with fears of intervention hardly could fail to see the Western game. So they decided to avoid possible conflict with Tokyo by any costs despite the fact that the Soviet press harshly criticized the Japanese aggression. When the Chinese deliberately disseminated rumours about possible Soviet military assistance (for the Chinese) Moscow dismissed those rumours altogether. The Soviets turned down the offer to join the Lytton commission that was to investigate the situation in Manchuria. Neither did Moscow join the Stimson Doctrine. The Soviet interest in the Chinese Eastern railway was sold to Japan at a ridiculous price. From the beginning of the Manchurian crisis Moscow tried to strike a deal on non-aggression with Japan but found no reciprocity. At the same time the Chinese government offered Moscow a non-aggression pact. The Soviets rejected the offer fearing to anger Tokyo but decided to restore the diplomatic relations with China (broken off due to the conflict of 1929) thus hoping to make Tokyo more compliant. However, these tactics did not work; the Japanese rejected a non-aggression pact.
In late 1933 the US agreed to establish diplomatic relations with the Soviet Union. Moscow decided to use it as a new opportunity for restraining Japan. Once again the Soviets were cautious – they did not mention any anti-Japanese alliance. During the talks with Franklin Delano Roosevelt Litvinov came up with the idea of the regional non-aggression agreement (so called Pacific Pact) among the US, Soviet Union, Japan and China. But the Soviets were still cautious – avoiding any complications with Tokyo they wanted the US to announce about the initiative and at the same time proposed London to recognize the independence of Manchukuo’s puppet state. But the project died as in 1935 the US passed a neutrality act. In 1937 Litvinov made the last desperate act to push the pact by announcing about it himself, but as expected, it did not work. 
At that time a new threat emerged in the form of the Nazi Germany that soon made the fears of intervention real with Japan on the Eastern borders making the nightmare even worse. The traditional Russian fears of being encircled were now coming true. 
How it Ended with the Nazi-Soviet Pact
From the beginning Hitler seemed not did to give Moscow too many reasons to worry. He announced about extending the agreement on friendship and neutrality of 1926. But at the same time thanks to Mein Kampf Stalin should have been well-aware about Hitler’s long-term intentions about Russia that definitely were not peaceful. Communists were ruthlessly purged in Germany. In October 1933, just in a few months after extending the agreement with Russia, Hitler left the disarmament conference and the League of Nations. During 1933 Litvinov tried to push another peace initiative – a special convention on defining the aggression. The convention would help the League of Nations with classifying an act of aggression as such so that concrete measures against aggressors could be enacted. The initiative ended only in conventions that the Soviet Union signed with neighbouring countries. The League of Nations definitely would not help against aggression, so the best Moscow could do was to improve further relations with neighbours.
In early 1934 German diplomacy achieved its first major success by signing a 10 year protocol on peaceful resolution of disputes with Poland. Warsaw was no Paris’ junior partner anymore; it pursued rather pro-German policy and hardly served as a strong buffer between Germany and the Soviet Union. Under these circumstances Moscow jumped up to initiatives of the new French Foreign Minister Louis Barthou. The latter understood that the European security issues hardly could be solved without Moscow and proposed a multilateral mutual assistance pact among Germany, Poland, Czechoslovakia, Finland, Baltic States and the Soviet Union (a kind of Eastern Locarno) with France herself as a guarantor.. Barthou could be hopeful that the Soviets would be eager to join such agreement. Before launching the project he was approached by Dovgalevsky, the Soviet Ambassador in Paris, who proposed a political-military alliance “much more close than ever under Tsarist Russia.”
 So the Soviets already were playing balance of power games. 
Barthou’s ideas were not greeted warmly in Warsaw. The latter did not want too see herself in any alliance with Russia. That made Barthou slightly revise his project. Now the Eastern Locarno would be founded on the Soviet Union. He also began to lobby the process of Soviet Union’s accession to the League of Nations that would end with Moscow’s isolation. Since France would not be a member of the Eastern Locarno, she would sign a separate agreement on mutual assistance with Moscow. The Soviets were more than ready for such developments. But other countries were not enthusiastic. Germany did not want to tie herself with any new Locarno. Poland followed the due course. Fearing to distort their relations with Berlin and Warsaw Estonia and Latvia were also being hesitant. In October 1934 with Barthou’s assassination the Eastern Locarno could be considered dead too. By that time the Soviet Union had entered the League of Nations. Afterwards Moscow fruitlessly tried to get the British support for the Eastern Locarno. As for the negotiations with France, they continued and in May 1935 Paris and Moscow signed an agreement on mutual assistance. However, it took too much the French to endorse the agreement (it happened in February, 1936); besides the French refused military staff talks which understandably should have made Moscow suspicious. In May, 1935 the Soviet Union signed a similar agreement with Czechoslovakia with one significant difference – according to tee second clause of the agreement Moscow would come to Czechoslovakia’s help if France did it too. The Russians would act only in accord with France, their traditional and reliable ally – France still looked like one in May 1935 when the Soviets hardly could imagine that their agreement with Paris would take almost a year for to be endorsed. At the same time the Soviet Union would need a passage to Czechoslovakia through Poland or Romania. The former clearly would not discuss this issue with Moscow. As for Romania, her relations with the Soviet Union were rather tense due to the Bessarabian question. In July 1936, during the conference in Montreaux, Litvinov met his Romanian counterpart Titulescu and the two Ministers agreed between themselves a pact on non-aggression that somehow avoided the Bessarabian question. The pact could be followed by the talks on rights of passage of the Soviet troops through Romania, but Titulescu was repudiated and even dismissed in Bucharest. Litvinov was not backed in Moscow either. By that time Stalin should had already understood that the Franco-Soviet alliance did not cost much and so it did not make much sense to negotiate over right of passage for helping Czechoslovakia – the latter hardly would get any help from France which had already swallowed the remilitarization of Rhineland (March, 1936). The Soviets alone did not have to help Czechoslovakia. If they did, they would do it in their way, like they did a little later. 
Whatever were Stalin’s motives for helping Germany with keeping armed forces strong, now he clearly realized the Nazi threat. In late summer of 1935 Comintern was ordered to change the strategy – if earlier social democratic parties and other non-communist forces were considered the biggest enemies of the communists, now the communists were to unify with other leftists for forming a front against the Fascist threat. This strategy was to be tested as soon as in 1936, in Spain. From the beginning the Soviets hardly intervened in the Spanish civil war and they had good reasons for not doing it. First, Spain was on the other side of Europe. Maybe the victory of general Franco, that already had forged a close alliance with Berlin, certainly could endanger France. But then it was France that had to support the Madrid government. Besides, the Soviet military assistance for Spanish republicans would raise suspicions among the Western powers about Moscow’s motives. Last, and maybe not the least, Stalin did not like the fact that Spanish leftists were strongly influenced by Trotsky. Still, In September 1936, Germany, Great Britain, Italy, France and the Soviet Union agreed on policy of non-intervention in Spanish affairs (which implied first off all embargo on shipments of arms for either conflicting side). However, already on August 30 Stalin ordered to run arms (covertly) for the Spanish republicans. Soon it became clear that neither Germany not Italy did not honour their obligations on non-intervention. It gave the Soviets a reason for repudiating the agreement on non-intervention and openly support a military aid for the Madrid government. Stalin made his best not to raise suspicions among democracies – Comintern (that coordinated the military assistance for Madrid) was instructed to drop all communist slogans and picture the fight against Franco as a fight for peace and democracy. However, it still raised suspicions among democracies. And as for Berlin, in November 1936 she signed so called anti-Comintern pact with Japan. 

The pact (later joined first Italy and then by Spain) was a reaffirmation of hostility towards communism and definitely no military alliance against Moscow. But still the Soviets were alarmed by this agreement. Looking at the Spanish events we could state that Stalin overreacted. If he wanted to preserve balance in Europe he should ask himself why France (that had to be endangered by possible Spanish-German alliance) did not help the Madrid Government. In fact, the French and the British correctly decided that no matted who won in the Spanish civil war, the Germans would not be able to enjoy decisive influence over Madrid. On behalf of Stalin, if it was not overreaction, then it was nothing else but an attempt for exporting communism. The Franco-German partnership offered a good opportunity for intervening in Spain and Stalin decided that the opportunity could not be missed. In fact, the Spanish communists made their best to concentrate power within their hands by introducing the equivalent of commissars in the government and the army. So it is logical to conclude that the Soviets at least were playing with the idea of exporting communism to Spain. It was also a balance of power game, but of a different kind. 
In July 1936 the Montreaux convention imposed restrictions on passage of warships through the Straits. The Soviets could feel somehow secure. However by that time had to be quite clear that Moscow was threatened not by a new Crimean coalition but by Germany and Japan. In July 1937 a full-scale war began between China and Japan. This time Moscow decided to help the Chinese led by Chang Kai-shek. The latter carried out ruthless purges against communists and almost nullified Comintern’s activities and achievements in China, so Moscow had lots of reasons for being unhappy with Chang Kai-shek. But now when the Japanese were destroying the last remnants of the Chinese buffer, the buffer had to be strengthened. China received significant military assistance from the Soviets. In August 1937 the Soviet Union signed a non-aggression pact with China and took obligation not to sign a similar agreement with Japan. China on her behalf would not join any agreement directed against communism (implying anti-Comintern pact). In August 1938 the Soviet troops knocked out the Japanese from the disputed sites along the Soviet-Manchurian border. Tokyo was to recognize the disputed place within the Soviet Union. 
It was much more difficult to balance the German threat. In March 1938 Hitler annexed Austria. Litvinov called for a conference that would discuss the question of German expansion but he was not by London. In 1938 the Munich agreement ceded Czechoslovakia to Berlin. Stalin had reasons to become more suspicious about the motives of Paris and London. First, the Munich agreement once again excluded Moscow. Second, Stalin feared that by abandoning Prague, the French and the British were pushing Hitler to the East. After the final fall of Czechoslovakia Litvinov once again proposed a conference with participation of France, Great Britain, Poland, the Soviet Union, Romania and Turkey. Warsaw, fearing Moscow no less than Berlin, rejected the Soviet initiative. However, she agreed to receive security guarantees from London and Paris (April, 1939). In just a few days the British urged Moscow to issue a unilateral declaration on assisting any European neighbour in case of being attacked. Of course, Stalin was not taken in. Instead he proposed a military convention among London, Paris and Moscow. This counter-offer was almost as unreal as the British proposal. But Stalin already had not only France (that turned out not to be very reliable ally for Czechoslovakia) but also Great Britain for guarantor of Poland’s security. The latter backed by the two European Great Powers could serve as an effective buffer between Germany and the Soviet Union. Now Moscow could ask for more. 
But by that time Stalin was already making gestures for luring Germany too. In January 1939 he said that for him there was no great difference between the Western democracies and the fascist regimes. In March he publicly blamed Paris and London for instability in Europe
. In May Stalin dismissed Litvinov, an advocate for cooperation with the Western democracies. Molotov was brought in – a pedant, scrupulous follower of instructions from his master who was taking the Soviet foreign policy under even firmer control than before. 
On May 31 Molotov reiterated the proposal on the military convention. Hitler immediately instructed the German Ambassador in Moscow to assure the Soviet leadership that in case of German-Polish war the Soviet interests would not be harmed. Of course such kind of a promise was not enough, especially if it was made by a man that had announced his plans about obliterating Russia. 

So what was Stalin to do in summer 1939? Hitler’s pledges hardly had any value. London and Paris still were hesitating. In May clashes began along the Mongolian-Manchurian border where a new disputed places emerged. The Soviet troops were present in Mongolia in accordance with the bilateral agreement and they were duly involved in the conflict too. The success of August 1938 had to make Stalin less nervous about the Japanese threat but this threat could magnify if Moscow did not nullify the threat from the West. 
The consultations with London and Paris began only on July 23. These were only military talks. Both the French and the British hoped that seeing their willingness to protect Poland Hitler would back down. That should explain their reluctance to engage in serious negotiations with Moscow. The latter had to serve as a tool making Germany more compliant. Stalin hardly could fail to see this game. However, as Hitler was not becoming more cooperative, London and Paris began to realize the situation. Consequently the British and French delegations in Moscow became more serious. Stalin was getting what he wanted – a military alliance with France and Great Britain. At the same time the trilateral talks made Hitler more cooperative but not in the way that Western democracies expected – he proposed a deal to Moscow. On July 26 Karl Schnurre, an official at the German ministry of foreign affairs told Astakhov, the Soviet Charge  d'Affaires that “there was no problem between the two countries from the Baltic to the Black Sea or in the Far East that could not be solved.”
 Stalin brilliantly handled the new opportunity; instead of showing eagerness he procrastinated thus making Hitler more nervous and compliant. Soon the Soviets were told that Ribbentrop, the German Foreign Minister, was ready to visit Moscow for settling all outstanding issues. Stalin still did not demonstrate any big enthusiasm and instructed Molotov to enquire about the concrete questions Ribbentrop  was to try to settle – the Germans had to bring a concrete agreement that would suit Moscow. Now Hitler himself wrote to Stalin assuring him that everything would be solved in accordance with the Soviet interests.
 On August 21 Stalin replied to Hitler mentioning in his letter a non-aggression pact. 
On that very day the French delegation to Moscow finally was instructed to sign a military agreement with the Soviet Union. But Moscow was informed about this only on August 22. In addition to the military alliance France acknowledged the Soviet privilege for getting a passage on the Polish territory – this was one of the hardest topics during the consultations since Warsaw was vigorously opposing the Soviet militarily assistance. Naturally, Voroshilov, the head of the Soviet negotiating team and the commissar for defence, instead of celebrating the revival of Franco-Russian alliance, simply asked the French guests how did the Poles feel about the possible Soviet-French agreement and also what were the British going to do? 
Ribbentrop would visit Moscow the very next day (Stalin invited him to come in forty eight hours). The French delegation puzzled by the Soviet questions needed more time for additional consultations with Paris. On August 24 both French and British delegations asked for an audience with Voroshilov for notifying him about the details of the agreement but they were told that the consultations did not make any sense anymore – the Soviets had already signed a non-aggression pact with Berlin. 
In late August the Soviet troops launched a major offensive against the Japanese along the Mongolian-Manchurian border and knocked the adversary out of the area. The offensive began on August 20 when the Nazi-Soviet pact was already in vision (so that Stalin would not have to worry about Western borders at all). In September Moscow and Tokyo signed a cease-fire agreement. Having secured the Western borders (at least for short-term future) Stalin engaged in a conflict with Japan and strengthened the positions on the East.
The Nazi-Soviet pact can be regarded as an act of bandwagoning. Germany could be balanced by Great Britain and France. Why did Stalin reject a new entente and made a peace with Hitler who never honoured agreements? 
As we already mentioned, Great Britain and France by pledging themselves to Poland already had given security guarantees to Moscow too. Stalin certainly did not need the Franco-British-Soviet alliance that much; if Paris and London really were willing and ready to assist Poland then the Soviets could feel safe – by attacking Poland Hitler would be involved in a conflict with two European Great Powers. 

Had Stalin signed an alliance with Paris and London (supposedly he would be offered one), then the Soviets were to bear the brunt of the war with Germany. However it is hard to believe that even Hitler would dare to attack Poland being aware that he would face three Great Powers and fight on two fronts. So Stalin most probably would avoid the war by rejecting the German proposal and forging a new entente.
Here once again we have to call on the version outlined in Suvorov’s Icebreaker. Stalin was interested in a new major European conflict. A new entente could ensure a peace and a Nazi-Soviet pact ensured a war in Europe (plus territorial gains for the Soviet Union). WW1 did not end in a world revolution but maybe WW2 could end in one. Germany would attack Poland, Great Britain and France would declare war in Germany. The imperialists would engage in a new war. The Soviet Union would be secure and the threat of fighting against imperialist coalition would disappear. That was the minimum. As for the maximum – in a few years after the outbreak of the war, the desperate German, French or Italian nations would welcome the Soviet troops as the liberators. The Red Army would bring peace and communism to Europe. Actually it is known that during the celebration of the Nazi-Soviet pact Stalin offered a toast for Beria, the legendary chief of the Soviet security and secret police. The toast raised speculations that Stalin was thus expressing gratitude to his intelligence service which provided him with proof evidences that in case of Germany’s attack on Poland France and Great Britain would definitely go to war
. This is an exaggeration given the fact that Stalin always suspiciously regarded reports from his spies. However the logic of Stalin’s behaviour is grasped – he was interested in pushing the Western states against each other. 
We can only guess whether proposal for forging a new entente was only a trick for extracting a lucrative deal from Berlin. Maybe the Nazi-Soviet pact would not come into being had the Western democracies more eager for rapprochement with Moscow. Actually it took them quite an effort to regard the Soviet Union as an indispensable and reliable ally since this country was another horrible dictatorship with its armed forces significantly weakened after the infamous purges. Stalin suspected that the German-Soviet war would be one of the most desirable outcomes for the British and so the British reluctance to regard Moscow seriously could only boost these suspicions. Besides, he could ask himself, if France abandoned Czechoslovakia why could not Great Britain abandon the Soviet Union? 
So the fact is that Stalin’s eventual choice was no bandwagoning. Actually this was more than a simple balance of power game. It was not aimed at balancing Germany. It intended at least securing the Soviet Western border by pushing the “imperialist states” against each other. The only miscalculation Stalin made was about the ability and France and Great Britain to fight a lasting war with Germany. 

From the Outbreak of WW2 to the Beginning of the Nazi Invasion

After the outbreak of WW2 Stalin made another brilliant move. He did not rush himself for occupying the part of Poland that went to his sphere of influence. He procrastinated. On September 3, 1939 Great Britain and France honouring their obligations declared war on Germany for attacking Poland. The Red Army crossed the border with Poland only on September 17 and the Western democracies did not react to this action – Germany already had become the bad guy and the democracies did not need another bad guy in the form of the Soviet Union. Besides, Moscow declared that she "had to protect from Germany the Ukrainians and Byelorussians living in Poland."
But Stalin made one serious miscalculation. He overestimated the ability of France and England to fight a war against Germany. Despite declaring war on Berlin the allies engaged themselves in “phoney war” still hoping to avoid a major conflict. It became clear that the possible alliance with Paris and London would not have any practical value for the Soviets. But Great Britain and France at least, as Stalin presumably hoped, could distract Berlin from the East. But as soon as the Germans recovered after the Polish campaign they launched a brilliant blitzkrieg against France and overran their historical foe. Now only Great Britain was left without any ability to fight was on the continent desperately struggling to save itself self to insular position. Germany was not distracted for too long and the Soviet Union was now under much more serious danger than it was before signing the non-aggression pact. 
Moscow did not lose time and made the best to strengthen strategic positions. In late November 1939 Finland was attacked. Stalin wanted to make Leningrad more secure and it could be done only by extending the border at the expense of Finland. Of course, full annexation of Finland was not excluded either, especially that according to the Nazi-Soviet pact (or rather its secret protocol) Finland along with the Baltic states went to Russia’s sphere of influence. The Soviets clearly did not care about the waves of protest that war against Finland stirred among the Western democracies nor about being excluded from the League of Nations. The democracies were far away and they had to fight Germany. However Stalin’s plans regarding Finland were definitely affected by the news that despite above mentioned difficulties Great Britain and France were considering quite seriously an amphibious operation in the Northern part of Russia. On March 12, 1940 Moscow signed a peace treaty with Helsinki resulting in territorial expansion of the Soviet Union and granting Moscow rights for building a military base on the Finish soil but at the same time Finish independence was preserved (despite the fact that alternative, Soviet government was already ready to take over the leadership). 
At the same time Stalin wanted to change the regime of navigation in the Straits. The Montreaux convention was more favourable for Moscow than the Lausanne treaty but still it left the Straits open for foreign warships. Now when the European Great Powers were involved in war the Soviets could negotiate new conditions one by one with Turkey. But the latter was too experienced to fail to foresee such possibility and already in September 1939 entered negotiations with Paris and London at the same time offering Moscow a limited military cooperation in the Black Sea and the Balkans. But the Turkish offer (mutual assistance in case of violating peace in the region) excluded the cases when Great Britain or France was involved in the regional conflict. Thus the Turks meant to keep the Straits open for a new Crimean coalition. Moscow in return proposed to exclude her help in case Germany was involved in the regional conflict. But these conditions did not suit Berlin. She demanded to exclude the Soviet intervention also in cases when not only Germany but either Italy or Bulgaria were involved. Turkey did not accept these conditions and finally (October, 1939) signed a treaty on mutual assistance with Paris and London. Stalin already had reasons not to be happy with the Germans who instead of helping Moscow with extorting favourable conditions from Ankara created obstacles for the Soviet-Turkish negotiations. 
The first opportunity for balancing Germany emerged in early July 1940 when Cripps, the new British Ambassador in Moscow, discussed with the Soviet leadership the situation in Europe. Cripps offered to coordinate actions for containing the German aggression and restoring balance of powers. But the British diplomat found no reciprocity. The reason for Soviet reluctance was simple: France had already fallen and Great Britain hardly could be of any practical help for Moscow. She could not balance Germany. Stalin told Cripps that he had no interests in restoring the balance of powers that existed after WW1. The Germans were promptly informed by Moscow that the Cripps mission took place but it failed. Stalin did his best not to irritate Hitler.
Still the mutual suspicions increased. In June 1940 the Soviet Union along with Bessarabia annexed the North Bukovina which was not mentioned at all in the secret protocol of the Nazi-Soviet pact. Hitler ordered to occupy what was left from Romania and signed a document guaranteeing Romania’s security thus blocking further Soviet expansion. Finland was another apple of discord after giving a passage to German troops (where they remained). In late September 1940 the Tripartite pact was signed without Russia. Of course the pact did not seem to be directed against Russia but still Stalin could not be happy with being left out from negotiating an agreement of this importance.
In November 1940 Molotov arrived in Berlin. He was offered to join the Tripartite pact and take share in the succession of the British empire (and beyond it). Each side of the Tripartite pact would be allowed to divide the whole world (excluding the Americas) with Russia getting access to the Persian Gulf and the Arabian Sea. The Germans talked also about the Russian interests in the Black Sea but at the same time avoided to discuss concrete items rising from this subject. Hitler stonewalled the Finish question too that was of top priority for his Russian guest. When Molotov mentioned the possibility of the Soviet-Bulgarian security agreement (the similar one that already existed between Germany and Romania), Hitler replied that Bulgaria did not seem to ask for the Soviet alliance thus once again refusing Moscow in attempts for securing positions in the Black Sea. Besides, Molotov could not be happy with the fact that the Tripartite pact gave Japan “a primacy in the East Asia.” It was clear that even in case of joining the Tripartite pact the Soviet Union would be remain vulnerable vis-à-vis other sides of the pact (especially Germany and Japan). In a few days after finishing his visit to Berlin Molotov let the Germans know about the Soviet conditions for joining the pact: a security treaty with Bulgaria; a naval base in the Straits; the withdrawal of German troops from Finland; acknowledgment of the Soviet interests in Iran and Persian Gulf. There was one condition of economic character too: Japan had to relinquish her mineral rights on Sakhalin.
Since signing the Nazi-Soviet pact Stalin show utmost delicacy and cautious in his relations with Germany. He tried not to give Hitler any reason for attacking the Soviet Union. The Soviet shipments of strategic materials to Germany (as agreed in the Nazi-Soviet pact) would continue meticulously up the day of the German attack. Being that cautious Stalin should have foreseen that Hitler would not accept conditions he set out for joining the Tripartite pact. In fact these conditions were nothing but refusal to join the pact and this refusal definitely could speed up the war. But the Soviets hardly had any other choice: they were doomed in case they joined the pact (Hitler definitely would not abandon his plans for conquering Russia only because of the pact). The very day when Molotov sent the conditions to the Germans Moscow offered Bulgaria a pact on mutual assistance but it was rejected. Soon (March, 1941) Bulgaria joined the Tripartite pact. Yugoslavia was made to join the pact too. In March, 1941 the Yugoslavian government was toppled and the one signed a treaty on friendship and non-aggression with Moscow. But on the very next day after signing the treaty Yugoslavia was invaded by German, Hungarian and Italian troops. The Soviet Union was almost encircled. Molotov allowed himself only to express disappointment with the events in Yugoslavia (which ceased to exist). There was nothing more that Moscow could do. 
The only diplomatic success that Moscow achieved in 1941 was a neutrality pact with Japan (13 April). However Stalin should have realized that the pact did not hive him solid guarantees. Having once become a victim of Japanese surprise attack the Russians could not allow themselves to relax (in fact, Matsuoka, the Japanese Foreign Minister who signed the neutrality pact, was one of the top Japanese officials who advocated an attack on the Soviet Union in June 1941). But still it was better to have such pact than not to have it. After all it could serve as a demonstration of solidarity with Tokyo and Berlin. 
The Soviet Union in WW2

The history of the German attack on the Soviet Union abounds with various versions and legends but none of them may lead us to conclude that the Soviet behaviour was irrational. The most sensational version about the origins of the WW2 was no doubt given in Suvorov’s Icebreaker. According to it Stalin was going to launch a surprise attack against Germany, the Soviet troops were ready for attack but totally unprepared for defensive actions. That’s why the Soviets suffered huge casualties when Germans launched attack. We do not intent here to test the validity of this version which partly has been sustained in Kissinger’s Diplomacy.
 But even if it is true it makes Stalin look even more insightful and cold-blooded statesman who clearly did not care about anything except the national interests of his country (as he understood them). According to more accepted versions Stalin was unprepared for war, he did not heed the warnings of his spies about the imminent German attack and was simply relaxed. This hardly can be true since Soviet troops were concentrated along the Russo-German border in huge amounts which means that either Stalin waited for the German attack every day (but he was not sure about the exact time since received too many and inconsistent information in this regard)  or (as Suvorov suggests) he was going to attack Germany by himself. Consequently there can be the following explanations for the shock that Stalin suffered after the attack: 1. he was expecting attack but later; 2. he was shocked by the way his troops were overrun by the Germans; 3. he was going to launch a surprise attack by himself and this plan was destroyed by Hitler.

Anyway, when the initial shock was gone, Stalin returned to negotiations and alliance-making. A treaty on cooperation was signed with Great Britain on July 8 and as soon as in the course of 10 days Stalin began to demand the second front against the Germans. When Cripps refused Stalin receded. By the end of July he repeated his proposal about the second front to Harry Hopkins who arrived in Moscow as an unofficial representative of President Roosevelt. Once again nothing was promised. However during the conference of Moscow (opened on September 28) Great Britain and the US agreed to ship aircrafts, tanks, various equipment and food to the Soviet Union. Just four days earlier the Soviet Union joined the Atlantic Charter. Stalin had reasons to be suspicious about this document that was announced by Churchill and Roosevelt in mid-August. The charter spoke on rights of all peoples for independence and choosing their governments, so it could be interpreted as aimed against not only against the Nazi Germany but also the Soviet Union. However, Stalin needed the Western assistance and the charter had to be signed before the Moscow conference. Besides, Stalin must have realized that that US hardly could go to war without announcing some lofty, universal principles first (as they did in 1918 before entering WW1). Every time they went beyond the Western hemisphere they needed to justify it by some new form of crusade. So the principles of the Atlantic Charter hardly would be applied to the Soviet Union. The US, along Great Britain, began to run the promised shipments to the Soviet Union and in December, thanks to the Pearl Harbour attack, finally entered the war. 
As long as the war was going on Stalin was ready join not any document and declaration that would ensure foreign assistance. In January 1942 the Soviets joined the Declaration on United Nations initiated by the US and Great Britain. Litvinov, now the Ambassador to the US, who signed the document was trying to make some corrections to the draft of the declaration (namely to remove the clause on “religious freedoms”) but Stalin ordered him not to contradict his Western colleagues.  

By the end of 1941 the Nazi attack was stopped at the outskirts of Moscow which made Stalin more self-confident and he tried to discuss with Anthony Eden (British Foreign Secretary) the future of Europe. Stalin’s proposal included dismemberment of Germany (Bavaria was to become independent, Prussia going to Poland, etc.) and dividing the spheres if influence between Moscow and London. Stalin did not mention the place of the US in Europe. Eden evaded the discussions. He even did not agree to the recognition of the new Soviet borders without consulting Washington first. Stalin’s attempts to extract concessions were logical – he thought as long as Great Britain and the Soviet Union were together at war it was much easier to make London cooperative than it would be under peacetime. As for the British leaders, they could be willing to negotiate the future of Europe with Stalin, but they were hardly able to do this since Roosevelt opposed to any discussion of post-war partitions. Stalin did not raise this question until 1943 when he was already positive that his troops would overcome Germany and that this fact was acknowledged by Churchill and Roosevelt too. But then he would ask for more than 1941 frontiers (to be discussed later).
In May 1942 Molotov went to London to be told that that the British could not accept all of the Soviet proposals but at the same time he was offered to sign an agreement which turned the Soviet-British partnership into alliance. According to the agreement (signed on May 26) Great Britain and the Soviet Union were obliged to come to aide of each other, not to make separate peaces, not to intervene into domestic affairs of each other, but at the same time it left open the question of recent territorial gains of the Soviet Union. Molotov raised the question of the second front too but received concrete answer not in London but in Washington (the next stop of his voyage). Roosevelt promised to open the second front already in 1942. Molotov was also pleased to learn that according to the American plans the belligerents were to be disarmed and stay disarmed. But there was something else which pleased the Soviets even more – the prospect of becoming one of the three world policemen along Great Britain and the US. This proposal definitely had to affect Stalin’s outlook – the US was more cooperative than Great Britain and she viewed the Soviet Union as equal partner. But at the same the Western allies did not hurry to open the second front in Europe which could not make Stalin happy.
The conferences of Moscow and Tehran were to become the milestones of WW2 diplomacy. The first one took place in October 1943 on the level of three Foreign Ministers. It discussed the project of world policemen. The American side proposed to bring another policeman in the form of China but Molotov retorted that China was too weak to become one of the pillars of international security. Of course it was not in the Soviets’ interests to have one of the policemen in their immediate neighbourhood. But finally Molotov had to agree. By the end of the conference Stalin told Cordell Hull, the American State Secretary, that the Soviets would enter war against Japan as soon as Germany was defeated. It was a clever manoeuvre – fighting fanatic Japan alone was still a nightmare for the US (indeed, Hull was genuinely delighted with these news). So Stalin had reasons to believe that he would get something in return. This “something” could be the question of the second front. During the Moscow conference it was decided when it would be opened (spring, 1944). But there still remained a question where it would be opened. This question was to be decided finally in Tehran during the meeting of the Big Three (November-December. 1943). Stalin wanted it to be in the North France while Churchill backed an option that would ensure the Western influence in Eastern Europe and halt the Soviet expansion – the Balkans. Finally it was decided in favour of the Northern France. Stalin received Roosevelt’s backing in other questions. Namely, despite Churchill’s protests the American President agreed not to restore France as a Great Power which meant that the Soviet Union would emerge as the only Great Power on the continental Europe since the Big Three agreed to dismember Germany. Stalin went further – he proposed to take steps that would exclude any perspective of the German reunification (thus guaranteeing the Soviet mastery in Europe forever). But in this question he did not find reciprocity. Since the question of Germany’s future was raised, the allies went into discussing other territorial issues. Stalin, no longer happy with the 1941 borders (as we mentioned above) asked for other concessions such as annexation of East Prussian and Finish territories. All he had to give in return was a promise not to swallow Finland altogether and reaffirm his intention to enter war against Japan. 
Stalin finally had to agree to the inclusion of China into the world policemen (this was firmly decided by Roosevelt and Churchill before coming to Tehran during their meeting with Chiang Kai-shek in Cairo). But he managed to extract some territorial and economic concessions in the Far East not at the expense of Japan only but also China. The only issue that caused disagreements was Poland. But Stalin gradually had his way in this question too. His armies were irreversibly moving into Eastern Europe thus giving him strong cards for negotiating the post-war order. Churchill becoming increasingly aware of this fact proposed Stalin a concrete (percentage based) plan of partition of Eastern Europe (October 1944). According to which the Soviets would gain predominance in Romania and Bulgaria. Spheres of influence in Hungary and Yugoslavia were to be divided by 50/50. Stalin agreed to the proposal being aware that the Soviet troops would change the status quo to his favour in any way. The same factor (military one) was already allowing him to become extremely harsh in the Polish question too. 
The Big Three met again in Yalta (February, 1945). Here Roosevelt having already changed his attitude towards France backed Churchill on the issue of giving the French an occupation zone in Germany. Stalin had to give away. At the same time the Yalta conference actually gave the Soviet Union a free hand in Eastern Europe without any percentages. Concessions for the Soviet Union in the Far East were reaffirmed too this time including Outer Mongolia. The Soviets once again to enter war against Japan also pledged to assist the National Government of China against Japan thus getting new opportunities for intervening in the Chinese domestic affairs. In fact, Yalta drew the dividing line for the upcoming war. The Potsdam Conference did not made any serious amendments to the world order created in Yalta. Stalin in Potsdam demanded the abolition of the Montreaux Convention too but he was not seconded by Truman (who unlike his predecessor viewed Uncle Joe suspiciously). The latter offered a free passage through the Straits under the guarantee of all Great Powers which of course did not suit Stalin. The Montreaux Convention remained unchanged. 
After the defeat of Germany the allies had to finish with Japan. The disintegration of the Japanese empire had many implications. First of all, China was to restore her territorial integrity. Stalin was always wary of the huge potential possessed by the big Asiatic neighbour and made his best to keep China from emerging as a Great Power. In Yalta he agreed that Manchuria was to remain under the authority of Chiang Kai-shek’s government. Stalin should not have worried about this concession. First of all, he did receive something in return – Outer Mongolia, regaining the lease of Port Arthur, internationalization of the Dairen port, operating rights (jointly with the Chinese) of the Chinese Eastern and the South Manchurian railways. Second, Chang’s government was weak, hardly in control of China. By recognizing and backing Chang Stalin kept China feeble, dependant on the Soviet assistance. At the same time Stalin distrusted Mao Tse-tung clearly fearing that the latter was more able to unify and strengthen China. Chang, who committed numerous purges of communists, was more acceptable for Stalin than communist Mao. On August 14 Moscow signed an agreement on friendship and assistance with Chang. According to the document Chang recognized all of the Chinese concessions that Stalin gained at Yalta. Stalin made clear that without this agreement he would not enter war with Japan. As Japan was defeated, the Soviets gained their share in the legacy of the empire further strengthening the positions in the Far East. 
From the Beginning of the Cold War to Stalin’s Last Years
With the end of WW2 the multi-polar world had ceased to exist. There was no other state that could match the power in influence of the two Superpowers – the US and the Soviet Union. The balance of power calculations were simplified and narrowed down to fighting the other Superpower. The analysis that we should undertake for assessing the Russian behaviour has to be different from the analysis we undertook from early 19th century up to the end of WW2. The only one state that Moscow had to balance was the US and so it does not make great sense to scrutinize the Soviet behaviour vis-à-vis maritime or sea powers. The only state, that emerged later, and that possessed enough resources for endangering the Soviet Union (and so had to be balanced) was China, a communist fellow state. That means that Soviet-Chinese relations should require our careful attention. Of course, we will follow the history of the Cold War and analyze the Soviet behaviour but once again it will not be as careful as it was under the period of the multi-polar world.
In October 1945 the Soviets continued the games that they began during WW2, namely, the efforts to keep France and China from reaching Great Power rank. During the meeting of Foreign Ministers of the Soviet Union, the US, Great Britain, France and China Molotov tried to restrict the participation of France in European affairs and exclude China from these affairs altogether. Molotov almost succeeded in his endeavour with American State Secretary Byrnes but not with Truman. In July 1946 Molotov did his best to guarantee the Soviet control over German economy and keep the latter weakened. He demanded 10 billion dollars in reparations and share in industries of the Ruhr. Apart from partly receding Ruhr, 10 billion dollars would definitely cripple German economy and make her people extremely sensitive to communist propaganda. Once again nothing came out of Molotov’s efforts. 
The Soviet-Chinese relations evolved dramatically. Officially recognizing Chang’s government Stalin was at the same time playing games with Mao. After defeating Japan the Soviets began to provide covertly Mao’s troops (based around Manchuria) with Japanese weapons. The reason for the double games was simple: Chang was closely tied to the US and the latter still actively promoted the “open door” doctrine in China thus endangering the Soviet positions in Manchuria. By arming the Chinese communists Stalin was obviously trying to frighten Chang – now the latter needed the Soviet military presence in Manchuria because otherwise he would have to face reinforced communist troops. In order to guarantee positions in Manchuria Stalin offered Chang a new agreement according to which the Soviets were gaining additional rights for running Manchurian economy. However Chang was not that frightened.  In March 1946 he rejected Stalin’s proposal and the Soviet troops began to withdraw from Manchuria letting Chang’s armed forces to clash with those of Mao. 
China was one of the few places where the Soviets played rather dual games. Everywhere else Moscow was being much more assertive and straightforward. In February 1946 Stalin made one of his landmark speeches in which he predicted another big war and warned his people to prepare for another serious test. It is widely believed that it was the speech that finally alarmed the Americans and bred the famous Long Telegram. Why would cautious Stalin need to alarm the US? Most probably he tried to frighten the Soviet people. The latter living in fear of another war would endure further sacrifices and hardships (and that was what Stalin needed from them) in order to have peace. Also, Stalin could have really believed that some kind of a conflict was inevitable now when the Soviets had dangerously aggrandized their influence. We should not underestimate Stalin’s paranoia which could only exacerbate with age and also his Machiavellian logic which could only tell him that the greater Soviet Union would inevitably face hostility from the US. During 1945 Stalin tried his best to expand further the Soviet influence before the West developed any kind of comprehensive strategy against his policies. In August 1946 Moscow demanded a naval base in the Straits from Turkey but drew back as soon as it was clear that Ankara would not be abandoned by Washington and London. In a due manner Stalin withdrew his troops from Iran (which was jointly occupied with Great Britain during WW2). As long as the US enjoyed the nuclear monopoly Stalin remained cautious – he made demands but recoiled as soon as he realized that the US did not like his demands and was ready to withstand them. 
But the Soviet troops remained in Eastern Europe and Moscow had to continue bringing the occupied countries under Moscow’s auspices. In June 1947 The Kremlin rejected the aid under the Marshall Plan for itself and for the Eat European states fearing that the American aide would make the communist states dependant on the West. In October 1947 Cominform was created which actually replaced Comintern (dissolved in 1943). The Soviets had extended their influence over about a half of the Continent. Japan and Germany were dismembered and weakened hardly able to endanger Moscow. Logically, when in mid 1948 American and British occupation zones in Germany were merged (and later it merged with the French zone) Stalin reacted angrily and eventually imposed a blockade against West Berlin. This decision can be criticized quite legitimately. But once again we must not forget that Stalin’s mind was losing sharpness with age. He decided to rely on sheer force not realizing that this action would badly damage the image of the Soviet Union. Stalin’s bad temper accounts for other failures of the Soviet foreign policy in that period – such as rift with Tito, the Yugoslavian leader. 
By that time the events in China evolved dramatically as Chang’s troops were being routed by the communists. Stalin had lots of reasons not to like Chang but Mao, some kind of a bigger version of Tito, was much more dangerous. The best option was to preserve status quo in some kind of a form – keep Chang in power and at the same time keep Mao too in order to make Chang more cooperative. This goal was almost achieved in January 1949 when the Soviet embassy in Nanking and the kuomintang leadership drafted an agreement which was to keep China neutral in case of international conflicts in the future and also obliged Nanking to neutralize the American influence in the country. In return Moscow would reconcile kuomintang with Mao. The reconciliation could mean partition of China between Chang and Mao (as the communists already controlled big part of the country) thus keeping this huge country weak. However, the negotiations between Kuomintang and the Chinese communists were fruitless despite the fact that Stalin wanted the communist attack to be stopped. Mao, once again showing disobedience, continued to fight and Chang was expelled from the Chinese mainland. Roshchin, the Soviet Ambassador in China, was the only foreign diplomat who remained with Chang until the very end. China turned into a communist state. Mao denounced the US and NATO and in December 1949 travelled to Moscow. Here he received rather cold reception from Stalin. It took a long time to start negotiations over the Sino-Soviet treaty (the main objective of the visit) and finally it was signed only on February 14, 1950. According to the treaty Mao recognized the independence of Outer Mongolia and to the establishment of joint Sino-Soviet stock companies for developing mineral resources in Sinkiang thus making this region (always within the sphere of Soviet interests) strongly dependant on Moscow. Shortly speaking, Stalin hardly made any concessions to his fellow communist chieftain. By that time the Cold War was going into its first phase with Germany divided (in October 1949 the German Democratic Republic was announced) and the world like Germany heading towards the bi-polar confrontation. 
The next year was marked by the Korean War. According to various sources Stalin was well-aware of the North Korean plans. Kim consulted Stalin and seemed to have received his blessing for attacking the South Korea which was logical. First, the Soviets already had acquired an atomic bomb; second, the Americans (namely, general MacArthur) defined the sphere of America’s defensive perimeter which did not include Korea; third, Washington acquiesced with the communist victory in China and they could acquiesce with it in Korea too. Stalin clearly hoped that the Northern Koreans would achieve a quick victory and the US would swallow it. During the war Stalin made one mistake – he kept his diplomats at the UN boycotting the Security Council meetings (protesting the fact that Chinese’s seat was occupied by Taiwan) which allowed the US to pass the resolution on assisting the South Korea against the aggression. It is hard to say whether the younger Stalin would be that careless. 
In 1951 Moscow boycotted the San Francisco conference that formally established peace between Japan and her former foes. As the Soviets were excluded from process of drafting the peace treaty text (it was drafted by the Americans after consulting their partners) Stalin had reasons to believe that the Soviet participation in the conference simply would legitimize and support the growing American influence over Japan. The communist China, main victim of the Japanese aggression, did not sign the San Francisco peace treaty (she was not invited to the conference like Taiwan – the other Chinese entity) either thus putting under certain question its validity. So Moscow could be somehow happy with the outcomes. 
Stalin’s last major foreign policy initiative was his famous peace note (March, 1952) that proposed the unification and neutralization of Germany. It was a typical Machiavellian project since even the united Germany hardly could challenge now the formidable Soviet Union as long as she (Germany) was on her own, abandoned by the American troops. What mattered for Stalin was to drive the US from Europe and first of all from the biggest European state. But the democracies already knew the Soviet Machiavelli too well and his proposal was rejected. In about a year Stalin was dead.
From the Illusion of Détente to the Illusion of the Soviet Supremacy
Clearly realizing that Stalin’s Machiavellian policies raised deep suspicions in democracies already in March 1953 (just in a few days after Stalin’s death) the new Soviet leaders (namely Prime Minister Malenkov) began to talk about their readiness to solve all issues through negotiations and to conduct more conciliatory foreign policy. The announcements were followed by concrete steps, such as establishing diplomatic relations with the pro-Western government of Greece, relinquishing the privileges acquired in China after WW2, returning the port of Porkkala to Finland, abandoning territorial claims on Turkey and repairing relations with Yugoslavia. Besides, already in July a peace treaty was signed in Korea. Malenkov admitted that the new foreign policy aimed to portray the Soviet Union as a peaceful country (it was Stalin to be blamed for the aggressive policies not the Soviet system) and thus make the West more cooperative. Germany remained the main target of the new policy and here the new leaders reiterated Stalin’s last initiative – neutralization and unification of Germany. This proposal raised debates and even controversies in the West (something Moscow, no doubt, wanted to happen) but the position of democracies remained unchanged. The Soviets still made their best with Germany. In April 1955 Khrushchev (who already emerged as a full-fledged leader of the post-Stalin Soviet Union) announced about withdrawing the Soviet occupation forces from Austria and relinquishing all rights in the country. In return Austria was to become a neutral state and, as the Soviets ostensibly hoped, would serve as a model for Germany. The Austrian project worked but the West remained adamant over Germany. By that time the Paris Protocol was signed (October 1954) that announced about bringing West Germany into NATO. Moscow still was not giving up hopes. When on May 5 1955 the West German parliament adopted the Paris Protocol (and thus agreed to integrate into NATO) the Soviets reacted by establishing the Warsaw Pact Organization (May 14) and renouncing the Anglo-Soviet treaty of 1942 as well as the similar treaty with France (signed in 1944). Khrushchev still relished hopes in the upcoming summit in Geneva (among the leaders of the Soviet Union, the US, Great Britain and France). He should have hoped the replacing the carrots (such as renouncing claims on Turkey) with sticks (such as Warsaw Pact) would make the West more cooperative. The Soviet initiatives over Germany were rejected (as well as the initiative to create European security system that eventually would exclude all alliances including NATO). Instead the Americans proposed to hold free elections in both Germanies and thus allow the people to make their choice. Understanding that the majority of East Germans would chose reunification-plus-NATO Khrushchev refused to accept such kind of perspective. 
Khrushchev still continued his conciliatory gestures. In February 1956 he announced the new Soviet foreign policy vision based on “peaceful coexistence.” According to it the struggle between communism and imperialism still continued but it did not imply necessarily a war. The struggle would inevitably end with the victory of communism but it could and should be achieved through peaceful competition. In April 1956 Cominform (another remnant of Stalin’s legacy) was dissolved. Later Khrushchev refrained from military intervention in Poland and found a compromise with Warsaw. However, in parallel with peaceful gestures (and thus trying to win liberal minds in the West) Khrushchev made his best to expand the Soviet influence. Back in September 1955 the Soviets began to sell arms (through Czechoslovakia) to Egypt’s nationalistic government under colonel Nasser. The latter much due to clumsy diplomacy of the American Foreign Secretary Dulles soon began to lean toward Moscow. As the tensions in Egypt grew into a war and into what has been called the Suez Crisis, the Soviets only had to watch and exploit the rifts in the Western bloc. The US sided with the Soviet Union in the UN against Great Britain and France who desperately tried to keep the Suez Canal – the last remnant of their imperial past. On November 5, as the crisis was near its end (the UN peacekeeping force was established and Paris and London pledged the withdrawal of their troops from Egypt) Moscow began to crush the uprising in Hungary. At the same time the Soviet government wrote to the leaders France, Great Britain, the US and Israel and demanded to stop aggression against Egypt. In the letter designated for London the Soviet Prime Minister even threatened to use nuclear weapons. Under these circumstances the West hardly was able to interfere in Hungarian affairs. Combined with the Suez crisis the Hungarian events no doubt increased further Khrushchev’s adventurism. 
The Soviets could consider themselves triumphant as they seemed to acquire a foothold in the Middle East. In October 1956 Moscow agreed with Tokyo to re-establish diplomatic relations and they declared the end of hostilities. The two states also agreed to continue negotiations for preparing a peace treaty and Moscow even promised to relinquish two of the Kurile Islands annexed after WW2. Not having joined the San Francisco peace treaty Moscow was trying to re-establish the relations with Japan on her terms now. It was clear that the Kurile Islands would not be receded for nothing and in return the Soviets would ask for leaning towards neutrality (cutting off military ties with Washington). 
The Soviet success stories did not end in 1956. In July 1957 (the 40th anniversary of the Bolshevik revolution) first intercontinental ballistic missile was tested which was followed in October by launching of Sputnik. Even untrustworthy Mao, who hardly concealed his anger by Khrushchev’s denunciation of Stalin, exclaimed now that “the East Wind was prevailing over the West Wind”
 and recognized the Soviet Union as a leader of the socialist camp. Now Moscow looked not only to gain edge in the arms race but also to have forged a bloc that dwarfed the potential of NATO. 

Khrushchev’s Gambles
Deeply alarmed by latter events the US decided to change the military balance in their favour by deploying nuclear weapons around the Soviet Union. In December 1957 it was decided that missiles were to appear on territories of number of NATO member states including Turkey and West Germany. It was a heavy blow for Moscow. The latter was not afraid of neutralized and unified Germany but West Germany with nuclear weapons was something different. The NATO decision of December 1957 had to be adopted by the West German parliament so the Soviets still had some time to fix the problem. In January 1958 Moscow announced about cutting the armed forces by 300 thousand. This step was designated to appeal to the German public opinion but it did not affect the Bundestag (in March 1958 it adopted the decision). Once again Khrushchev’s carrots did not work. In July the East Germany launched a new initiative (no doubt suggested by Moscow) on signing a peace treaty between the two Germanies based on turning both states into nuclear-free zones. 
The German question temporarily lost its momentum in August 1958 when the Chinese began to bomb the islands of Quemoy and Matsu controlled by Chang’s nationalistic government. Moscow was aware of the Chinese plans and even warned Peking that the Soviets would not go to war with the US over Taiwan. The US reacted immediately to the Chinese adventure by reinforcing their fleet in the region. The Soviets warned Washington that an attack on China would be regarded in Moscow as an attack on the Soviet Union. However the warnings were sent only when the crisis was over so that the Americans had reasons to believe that Moscow was not being serious about going to war for Peking. It was a first major blow to Sino-Soviet partnership. On October 1958 Mao rejected the Soviet proposal over building naval bases in China. 
Khrushchev ostensibly hoped that the reasonable Soviet behaviour during the Taiwanese crisis would breed some reciprocity from the US over the German question. But Washington remained adamant which made Moscow change the tactics. In November 1958 Khrushchev issued his infamous Berlin ultimatum. He gave Washington, London and Paris six months for solving the German problem. The solution that he offered once again implied the neutralization of West Germany and East Germany with imposing strict restrictions on their armed forces. However the Western allies did not panic and Khrushchev soon had to back down. During his visit to Washington (September 1959) he agreed with President Eisenhower to hold a four-power summit the next year that would discuss the German question. The two leaders also discussed nuclear test ban treaty and the Chinese question. Khrushchev, anxious to avoid new Taiwanese ordeals and asked his counterpart to become more tolerable towards Peking’s attempts to unify the country but Eisenhower supposedly did not heed to this appeal,
By that time the Sino-Soviet relations had deteriorated further. In January 1959 Khrushchev in his new attempt to extort some kind of a compromise over nuclear missiles in West Germany proposed a nuclear-free zone in the Far East and the whole Pacific Ocean. It was not just a possible trade-off. The initiative also allowed Moscow to revoke the 1957 nuclear agreement with Peking. The last two years were more than enough to acknowledge that the nuclear China with her adventurous leader would be no less threat to the Soviet security than the US. In September 1959 after returning from Washington Khrushchev visited Mao and tried to persuade him to join nuclear test ban treaty (which was practically agreed with Washington and London) but the Chinese leader was not going to join any treaties drafted without his participation. In July 1960 having lost patience with Mao Khrushchev recalled Soviet military and economic advisors working in China and ordered them to bring with them the blueprints for ingoing projects. 

In 1960 the Soviet diplomacy suffered another setback. In January Tokyo renewed the security treaty with the US thus undermining Moscow’s hopes about ousting the American troops from the Eastern flank. The Soviets immediately let Tokyo know that the question of returning the Kurile Islands would not be discussed anymore. The discussions at four-power meeting in Paris (May, 1960) did not take place either. The Soviet delegation walked out of the meeting after the Americans refused to apologize over the spy plane incident (the American U2 shot down over the Soviet territory). For Khrushchev, who made his best to portray the Soviet Union as powerful as the US, prestige meant a lot (it is known that he was overwhelmed with pride and joy when invited to Washington because the Americans had “to recognize” the Soviet Union
) and so he was not going swallow such things. Besides, Eisenhower was already finishing his second term and in a few months Khrushchev would be dealing with another President. 
The Soviet leader met him (Kennedy) in Vienna on July 3 1961. Khrushchev believing he could frighten his younger counterpart threatened over Berlin but Kennedy did not back down. The American President tried to raise the Chinese question too but Khrushchev did not keep up. It is difficult to judge the Soviet leader in this issue. He was already worrying about Peking’s growing ambitions and needed a support for balancing the unpredictable China. Two years ago when he tried to negotiate with Eisenhower over China the situation was different. The Sino-Soviet relations were not that deteriorated and Khrushchev could hope that he could act as a mediator between Washington and Peking thus reaffirming Moscow’s key position. Despite the fact that Eisenhower evaded the Chinese question Khrushchev still tried to talk to Mao over the nuclear test ban treaty but he failed. In 1961 there was no question of being a mediator between Washington and Peking (it did not work even two years earlier) – the Soviets only could side with the US against China. So did ideological constraints prevail over balance-of-power calculations? It did to a certain extent. But we should remember that Khrushchev was bullying the young American President and so he wanted to make the impression that the Sino-Soviet bloc was solid and Moscow was stronger than she looked. Years later he would seriously consider bombing China’s nuclear installations but in Vienna he was not ready to side with the US against the fellow communist regime. In July 1961 Khrushchev was still haunted by the American threat rather than the Chinese one. About a year before KGB submitted to him a report according to which Pentagon was seriously considering a nuclear strike on the Soviet Union. This report was to play an important role in the further development of Soviet-American relations. It definitely contributed to Khrushchev’s decision on assisting Cuba which eventually resulted in the missile crisis. Khrushchev was well aware that despite his boastings about the Soviet nuclear capabilities it was the US that had an edge. So once again he had to bully Kennedy to hide his weaknesses, ignore the Chinese question and press on Berlin. The German question was more important for him. However once again his blackmails did not work and soon the Berlin wall was mounted.
As we already mentioned Khrushchev’s fear about the American nuclear supremacy played a great role in the Cuban missile crisis.
 By deploying nuclear weapons in Cuba the Soviet leader was attempting to eliminate the existing missile gap. Having been targeted from Cuba the US was as vulnerable as the Soviet Union (that was targeted from Turkey). Apart from that Khrushchev was trying to solve several other problems by his Cuban gamble – to make up for his failure with China and, much more important, to protect Cuba from the US and to guarantee the Soviet protectorate over Island. Khrushchev feared that Castro could lean toward China and so Cuba would become a new Albania (the latter after playing with China finally denounced her alliance with Moscow in May 1961). This fear exacerbated when in March 1962 Castro ousted Anibal Escalante, an influential pro-Soviet politician. Apart from being one of the staunchest supporters of Moscow Escalante was at odds with Che Guevara who was strongly influenced by Mao’s concepts and advocated violence for achieving revolutionary goals. Khrushchev had reasons to suspect that Che’s revolutionary propaganda in the Western hemisphere could produce another ordeal like the Taiwanese one or at least give the US a legitimate pretext for invading Cuba (after the failure of the Bay of Pigs operation (January, 1961) the US seriously considered a new attempt for regime change in Cuba). The Soviet nuclear missiles could at least protect Cuba from new American sponsored invasion and thus keep the Soviet bridgehead in the backyard of the US. 
We do not need to go into the details of the Cuban missile crisis after analyzing Khrushchev’s motives for his infamous decision. Actually the gamble paid off: the US eventually promised not to invade Cuba and to remove their missiles from Turkey. 
No doubt the missile crisis made Khrushchev much more careful. In August 1963 Moscow together with Washington and London signed the nuclear test ban treaty. Peking did not join the treaty. In October 1954 Khrushchev was deposed from the office and his intentions to bomb the Chinese nuclear installations never were realized. On the very next day after Khrushchev’s removal the Chinese tested their fists nuclear bomb (an interesting coincidence). By that time the Chinese had already clashed with India over border issues (1962) and did not get any support from Moscow which no doubt made them even more resentful about the Soviets. In May 1963 Peking published a list of territories lost to Russia thus putting under question the existing border between the two states.
From Détente to the End of the Cold War

The first test of the new Soviet leadership was Viet Nam. From early 1965 Moscow began to support the local communists. The support implied fighting not only against the American but also Chinese influence. Peking also assisted Hanoi and even declared that attack on Democratic Republic of Viet Nam would be regarded as an attack on China. The Soviets never made such declarations. Instead they cooperated with Washington over various issues such as security in Europe and arms control. Moscow also masterfully handled another conflict in Asia – the Indian-Pakistani one (August, 1965). Despite the fact that Moscow had established very close ties with India (the deterioration of the relations with Peking raised the interest in cooperation with New Delhi), Pakistan never was ignored. The latter was to be kept from forging some kind of alliance with Peking (which would make China stronger) as well as from becoming Washington’s ally. Peking accused the Soviets of supporting the Indians but that did not keep the Pakistani from accepting Moscow’s mediation (Pakistan had reasons to be unhappy with Washington since the latter stopped providing arms for Islamabad since the outbreak of the war). In January 1966 Tashkent hosted the Indian-Pakistani peace talks under mediation of Kosygin, the new Soviet Prime Minister, a principal architect of the new Soviet foreign policy and arguably the brightest official. The hostilities were ended and the status quo was restored. It was one of the major successes of the Soviet diplomacy since the Suez Crisis. The Tashkent meeting not only made Moscow a peacemaker and an indispensable stakeholder of the region but it also drew Islamabad closer to the Soviet Union.

Second success was achieved thanks to De Gaulle who in February, 1966 withdrew from NATO and in June paid a visit to Moscow. There were not a few disagreements that persisted between the two states – the Soviets wanted Paris to recognise East Germany and De Gaulle wanted the Kremlin give Eastern Europe some independence. Neither of these intentions were fulfilled but still the joint Franco-Soviet declaration was signed which outlined the common elements of their visions for the development of international politics. It was the first major diplomatic breakthrough since the beginning of the Cold War. The unity of the Western camp was somehow breached and now Moscow had to take advantage of it. Emboldened by the success Moscow undertook a new initiative. In July 1966 the Warsaw Pact Organization called for recognizing the existing borders in Europe and for keeping West Germany out from nuclear club. NATO countries did not react immediately to the declaration but it was becoming clear for them the German question had to be decided somehow.

In parallel the US was to be balanced and competed in the regions were the Cold War boundaries were not drawn. The Middle East was one of these regions. Moscow kept close ties with Egypt and managed to lure Syria too. The Soviet support for the Arabian states (against Israel) became most evident during the Six Day War (June, 1967) when Moscow announced that she would come to Syria’s aid in case Israel stormed Damascus. However realizing that the Arab-Israeli war could have very dangerous consequences Moscow kept in touch with Washington during the crisis and made the Americans know the Soviets would not interfere if the Israeli would show restraint. Later that month Kosygin visited the US and talked to President Johnson about the Non-proliferation Treaty and arms control. At the same time Kosygin was given the letter addressed for the leadership of Viet Nam’s communists. Moscow was becoming a mediator between Washington and Hanoi. The mediation did not result in any outcomes but of course it was Washington that had to worry about the continuation of the war in the first place. In July 1968 the Non-proliferation Treaty was signed by the Soviet Union, the US and Great Britain and soon it was joined by West Germany and Japan. It seemed like the Soviet diplomacy triumphed. The things were spoiled only by the punitive campaign in Czechoslovakia (August, 1968) which seriously damaged the Soviet image in the liberal West. But at the same time Moscow made it cleat that she would protect her spheres of interest by force if necessary. 
By that time the relations with Peking deteriorated further and in March 1969 severe clashes took place along the Sino-Soviet border. In June, during the international meeting of communist and workers’ parties the Soviets made an attempt to isolate China diplomatically. Brezhnev proposed the establishment of a collective security system for Asia based on recognition of existing borders, non-use of force in international disputes, non-interference and economic cooperation. But the proposal was rejected. Actually the project was not only about isolating China. The Soviets felt strong enough to propose such grand schemes since they believed that they would dominate a security system of this kind. Earlier, in March 1969 Moscow proposed a Europe-wide on security and cooperation. Soon a venue for such conference was agreed – Helsinki. In December the NATO member states agreed to the idea of conference on condition of involving the US and Canada. Anxious to secure the existing borders in Europe (this task was gaining more momentum as borders in Asia remained under question) and definitely hoping that the conference could somehow undermine NATO Moscow agreed. 
In August 1969 Moscow began to consider possible attack on China’s nuclear facilities. The Soviet diplomats carefully asked their American counterparts about the US reaction on the Soviet attack but Washington made her best to keep the Kremlin from such action. The American foreign policy, orchestrated by no one else but Henry Kissinger, could not allow the Soviets overrun the state which could balance the Soviet Union in Eurasia. Having realized that Moscow made a conciliatory gesture; in October Kosygin on his way back from Viet Nam
 stopped in Peking, talked to his Chinese colleague Chou En-lai and agreed the talks on border issues. 
Despite failures in Asia Moscow’s European policy could be considered successful. Under leadership of Willy Brandt Germany not only joined the non-proliferation treaty but also recognized the Eastern borders of Germany. According to the treaty of Moscow (August 12, 1970) the Soviet Union and Germany agreed to preserve status quo in Europe. Later Bonn recognized also borders of Poland. The Berlin question was also solved on September 3, 1971 and on December 1972 an agreement was signed between Bonn and Berlin. Finally (December, 1973) West Germany recognized her borders with Czechoslovakia. The threat of the nuclear Germany had disappeared altogether. Moscow could triumph. At the same time the Soviets did not let their rapprochement with Bonn disturb relations with Paris. In October 1970 a consultation protocol was signed between the Soviet Union and France. Similar agreements were signed later with Canada, Italy, Great Britain and Denmark. The policy of détente was officially backed by the Communist Party of the Soviet Union during its meeting in March 1971. 
Moscow was winning diplomatic games in Europe but in Asia it was more difficult. In November 1971 a new war broke out between India and Pakistan and this time the Soviets had to make a choice – they backed India. Hardly Moscow had any other option because this time the US backed Pakistan. India finally won the war and so it could be considered another success for Moscow which strongly backed New Delhi in the UN Security Council, provided arms for her and even sent submarines to the Bengali Bay (where the American warships were sent before). 
However, Moscow hardly could do anything with the Sino-American rapprochement which was gaining momentum under Nixon/Kissinger duo. The Soviets were to negotiate with Washington. It was not only in accordance with the policy of détente but it also was the only way to avoid isolation within the Moscow-Peking-Washington triangle. Following the Soviet-American negotiations of 1971-73 various treaties were signed including SALT-1 (Strategic Arms Limitation Treaty). The Cold War adversaries also agreed to continue negotiations on further reduction of strategic weapons. Moscow and Washington stayed in a close contact during crisis situations, such as the Yom Kippur War (October, 1973). Before the beginning of the hostilities Brezhnev tried to keep the Syrians from engaging into the adventure but he did not succeed. During the conflict Kosygin invited Kissinger for drafting a cease-fire agreement and Brezhnev even proposed a joint Soviet-America intervention but Kissinger ignored the initiative. The Soviet-American cooperation suffered the only blow due to the Jackson-Vanik amendment only (December, 1974) which of course was no Moscow’s fault.

On the whole the 70-ies could be considered a very successful period for the Soviet Union. Moscow began to gain a foothold in Africa as several states like Ethiopia, Angola and Somali fell into the Soviet sphere of influence. Enjoying oil windfall (which followed the OPEC embargo) Moscow could afford additional burden to her budget (since the African states were to be sustained) but in a long run it was to have very negative consequences for the development of the Soviet economy.  
On July 30 and August 1, 1975 the Helsinki Final Act was signed which guaranteed the status quo in Europe and somehow legitimizing the post WW2 gains of Moscow. The Soviets looked to have achieved a major victory. However they underestimated another provision of the Act which obliged the participating states to observe certain designated human rights. The Soviet leaders were proponents of Realpolitik and they attached much bigger importance to diplomacy and arms than to soft power. 
The successes of 70-ies made Moscow made self-confidence. The European status quo looked to be guaranteed now. Besides, the Soviets enjoyed spheres of influence in Africa and Asia (first of all in the form of Viet Nam which was getting increasingly strong and spread her influence over Cambodia and Laos). Under these circumstances the Soviets launched ambitious navy programs and even succeeded in gaining bases outside the Straits on the Red Sea coasts thus endangering the American positions in the Middle East. This was the period when Gorshkov’s concepts enjoyed support in the Kremlin and the Soviet Union was close to becoming another sea power. However the navy programs not only alienated the US but also significantly increased already swollen burden on the economy. From 1976 the Soviets began to deploy medium range missiles in the European parts of the country thus alienating Western Europe too. Moscow viewed the deployment as step for balancing the American nuclear potential based in Europe in the form of bombers and submarines but it did not add any comfort to the West. In December, 1979 NATO decided to deploy American nuclear missiles in Western Europe.
Moscow had to make choice among her new “friends” time after time. In 1977 a war broke out between Ethiopia and Somali. The Soviets eventually decided to back the former. This decision was made not only because Ethiopia had succeeded much more in “socialistic reforms” but also because she enjoyed stronger positions and influence in Africa. Besides, it was Somali that opened hostilities. Due to the decision Moscow lost the Berbera naval base in Somali but at the same time gained a new base in Ethiopia. The war was won by Ethiopia and so it could considered another success for Moscow. However the Soviets began to lose Egypt (which, under the leadership of Sadat was lured by prospects of American aid) and in September, 1978 under the American guidance Israel and Egypt signed a peace treaty in Camp Davids. After the Sino-American rapprochement this was another serious failure for the Soviet diplomacy in 70-ies. 
Actually the Soviets always realized the importance of Peking and tried their best to improve the relations with the fellow communist state. As soon as Mao died (September 9, 1976) Moscow stopped criticising China. In 1978 members of the Presidium of the Supreme Council of the Soviet Union addressed the Chinese counterparts and proposed to normalize the bilateral relations. But everything was spoilt by the Soviet invasion into Afghanistan. 
We hardly need to go in details of the reasons of the invasion. The decision was made when Brezhnev was already too sick and the country was in fact run by the troika of Andropov-Gromyko-Ustinov. It has hardly to do anything with out topic of research. Historians have agreed that Moscow was afraid of fundamental Islamism which could spill over from Afghanistan to the Central Asia. Besides, the Soviets had invested too much in Afghanistan and were not going to squander their gains in the county just because President Amin could not handle the domestic situation; he pushed the socialist reforms too vigorously thus making the Muslim population extremely unhappy. The Soviet intelligence warned the Kremlin about the possible American invasion into Afghanistan too…
  But of course the war turned out to be a mistake. It not only deteriorated the Soviet relations with the West (the US withdrew from still unratified SALT-2) and damaged the Soviet reputation but also hugely contributed to further exhaustion of the Soviet economy. 
In 1981 Moscow managed to handle peacefully the political crisis on Poland. In November, 1982 Brezhnev died. His successor, Andropov, a representative of old apparatchiks, seriously feared the attack from the US. He tried to reverse the process of decline in the country but at the same time he had to preserve the strategic balance which required more military spending (given the deployment of the US nuclear missiles in West Europe and Reagan’s Strategic Defence Initiative). In late 1983 Moscow withdrew from START (Strategic Arms Reduction Treaty) talks and started the deployment of tactical nuclear missiles in East Germany and Czechoslovakia. Anropov, 
Andropov died on February 9, 1984. His successor Chernenko was too old and too sick to make any impact. The way was to be paved for a new Soviet leader which turned out to be Gorbachov. The latter realized much better than most of the Soviet officials that the country was facing the most severe challenge since maybe WW2. The Afghan adventure had killed détente. The Soviet economy was badly dependant on oil and lagged behind in terms of hi-tech. The fall of oil prices combined with increased military spending put the economy on the verge of collapse. In order to reduce the military spending and get access to the Western technologies Gorbachov needed a new détente. In October, 1985 during his visit in Paris he announced the initiative of the Common European Home (referring to De Gaulle’s motto on Europe “from the Atlantics to Urals”). This speech can be considered a beginning of a new era of relations between the Soviet Union and the West which ended with the collapse of the former. From here up to 1991 the Cold War with the remnants of balance of power games began to finish. Gorbachov clearly did not want to see his country disintegrated and he made his best to reanimate the Soviet system but he did not succeed. Partly it was his personal fault, partly it was a personal accomplishment of Reagan but that hardly matters for out study. From late 1985 the Soviet Union hardly played any more games (or she could not play anymore), Gorbachov tried to win hearts in the West to save his country, so he was cooperative as much as possible and agreed to the most of the demands and conditions on behalf of Washington. He succeeded in winning hearts but did not succeed in saving the country. We hardly have anything to analyze in the Soviet foreign policy under Gorbachov. All of the balance of power games were overridden by a single task – save the country through a new détente. Gorbachov managed not only to restore détente but also to restore good relations with China too. But id did not matter anymore. On December 25, 1991 the Soviet Union was finished. 
CONCLUSIONS

The Russian foreign policy was not seriously affected by ideologies under tsardom. We have some controversies under the reign of Nicholas I. These are the suppression of Hungarian revolution and the Crimean war. But the first case can be explained by the fear of disturbance inside Russia herself. As for the Crimean war, it hardly had to do nothing with ideological constraints. It took place because of miscalculations on behalf of Nicholas once again reminding us of the immense role of individuals in Russian policy making process.
The Bulgarian case (discussed above in a separate chapter) tells us a lot about the Russian foreign policy. Despite Panslav sentiments Saint Petersburg was eager to punish the nation which showed some disobedience. The Russians even backed Turkey against Bulgaria and hardly restrained themselves from invasion. If they did not, then they would get involved into a conflict once again to protect their interests and spheres of influence, not for any ideological reasons (and actually contrary to ideological sentiments). So under tsardom Russian foreign policy was based on balance of power calculations. If Russia got in trouble it was because of her expansionist designs.
As for Russia under the Soviet rule, her foreign policy was definitely influenced by communism from the beginning (the case with Kemal, war with Poland) but in a few years Moscow’s foreign policy got devoid of any sentiments and she began to pursue traditional strategy aimed at expansion. Communism served mainly as a tool for this strategy and it was not an end itself. The Nazi-Soviet pact had to bring home to the world that the Soviet foreign policy was based on pure Realpolitik. Moscow made her best to keep China disunited. When this task was failed the Russians made their best to keep Peking from acquiring nuclear weapons.
The cases of bandwagoning with land powers against maritime ones were not observed. If the Russians had any feeling of enmity with the Great Britain or with the US, it can be explained very simply: Great Britain as another expansionist nation checked Russia’s ambitions during the 19th century and the US beat Moscow in the Cold War. Despite the enmity the Russians cooperated with the British against “land-oriented” Germany and with the US against communist China. 
So out first half of hypothesis is supported. The second half can be considered supported only with serious reservations –Russian foreign policy was influenced by ideologies under the communist rule but only for a very brief period and the influence only distorted calculations. That means that the Russian foreign policy (for the period of our study) practically has not been influenced by ideologies and was based on balance of power calculations. 
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